## Public Hearing

	Page 1
1	CRC Meeting
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	Moderated by Dr. Hazel Dukes
7	Monday, July 8, 2024
8	5:02 p.m.
9	
10	
11	Schomburg Center for Research in Black Culture
12	515 Malcolm X Boulevard
13	New York, NY 10037
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	Reported by: Thea Popko
20	JOB NO.: 6762744
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	

	Page 2
1	APPEARANCES
2	List of Attendees:
3	Greg Baggett, Public Participant
4	Kyle Bragg, Commissioner
5	Gale Brewer, Public Participant
6	Chinnor Campbell, Public Participant
7	Cordell Cleare, Senator, Presenter
8	Rev. Herbert Daughtry, Commissioner
9	Ruben Diaz, Commissioner
10	Inez Dickens, Assemblywoman, Presenter
11	John Dillard, Public Participant
12	Amaury Dujardin, Policy Manager, Citizens Union,
13	Presenter
14	Dolina Duzant, Public Participant (by videoconference)
15	Adrienne Felton, Community Affairs at NYC Public
16	Advocate, Presenter
17	Marilyn Galfin, Public Participant
18	Michael Garner, Chief Business Diversity Officer,
19	Presenter
20	Marie Gentine, Public Participant
21	Miles Grant, Public Participant
22	Lorraine Grillo, Commissioner
23	Sylvia Hunter, Public Participant
24	Christopher Lion Johnson, Public Participant
25	(by videoconference)

Page 3 1 APPEARANCES (Cont'd) 2 List of Attendees (Cont'd): 3 Garry Johnson, Chair of the New York State NAACP Economic Development, Presenter 4 5 Ibrahim Xavier Johnson, Public Participant Edward Kiernan, General Counsel 6 7 Andria Lamberton, Public Participant 8 (by videoconference) 9 Christopher Lynch, Commissioner 10 Alpheaus Marcus, Public Participant Stephanie McGraw, Commissioner 11 12 Mr. Miles, Public Participant (by videoconference) 13 Keaton Morris, on Behalf of MWBE, Presenter 14 June Moses, Public Participant 15 Ken Ngai, Commissioner (by videoconference) 16 Jimmy Pan, New York City Racial Justice Commission, 17 Presenter 18 Everett Perry, Public Participant 19 Andrew Rein, Citizens Budget Commission, Presenter 20 Adam Roberts, Public Participant 21 Max Rose, Commissioner 22 Kai Rosenthal, Public Participant 23 Jackie Rowe-Adams, Commissioner 24 Kaya Royal, Public Participant 25 Diane Savino, Executive Director

## Public Hearing

	Page 4
1	APPEARANCES (Cont'd)
2	List of Attendees (Cont'd):
3	Bishop Gerald Seabrooks, Commissioner
4	Carlo Scissura, Chair (by videoconference)
5	Michael Sisitzky, Public Participant
6	Rabbi Sean Stanwicz, Commissioner
7	Susan, Public Participant (by videoconference)
8	Julius Tajiddin, Public Participant
9	Marlene Taylor, Public Participant
10	Marsha Taylor, Public Participant
11	Pauline Toole, Commissioner, Department of Records and
12	Information Services, Presenter
13	Gladys Williams, Public Participant
14	(by videoconference)
15	Jordan J.G. Wright, Assemblyman Elect, Presenter
16	Keith L.T. Wright, Former Assemblymember, Presenter
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	

## Public Hearing

								Page 5	5
1	C	co	N	т Е	N	T	s		
2								PA	.GE
3	Cordell Cleare							1	5
4	Inez Dickens							2	6
5	Jordan J.G. Wright							3	5
6	Michael Garner							3	8
7	Pauline Toole							4	4
8	Andrew Rein							5	1
9	Amaury Dujardin							6	2
10	Keith L.T. Wright							7	1
11	Garry Johnson							7	9
12	Keaton Morris							8	5
13	Jimmy Pan							8	8
14	Adrienne Felton							9	7
15									
16									
17									
18									
19									
20									
21									
22									
23									
24									
25									

	Page 6
1	PROCEEDINGS
2	VICE CHAIRMAN DUKES: public hearing
3	of the New York City Charter Revision Commission. I'm
4	Hazel Dukes, vice chair of the Commission. I will be
5	serving as your chair tonight. Our chair is
6	joining us tonight by a new Mr. Chairman. Forgive me.
7	I would like you recognize the
8	Commissioners in attendance today. Kyle Bragg;
9	Rev. Herbie Daughtry, and he's probably on his way;
10	the one and only, the former president of the Boogie
11	Down Bronx, Ruben Diaz; Lorraine Grillo, one of our
12	true public servants in the City of New York;
13	Christopher Lynch; Max Rose; Jackie Rowe-Adams,
14	Ms. Harlem herself; Stephanie McGraw, who's on her
15	way; Bishop Gerald Seabrooks; and Rabbi Sean Stanwicz.
16	They are on their way, and we will have a quorum in a
17	few seconds.
18	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We do.
19	VICE CHAIRMAN DUKES: We have a quorum
20	now.
21	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We do.
22	VICE CHAIR DUKES: I would like I
23	would like each Commissioner present and on Zoom to
24	briefly introduce yourself.
25	I'll start over with you, Lorraine.

	Page 7
1	MS. GRILLO: Sure my name is
2	Lorraine Grillo. I've been in public service for the
3	last 40 years. It's certainly an honor to be part of
4	this Commission and to hear from all of New Yorkers.
5	We've been, as we've said, to eight different hearings
6	so far. We have more to come. And we have heard some
7	really great suggestions, so I'm looking forward to
8	this evening.
9	MR. DIAZ: Good evening, everyone. I'm
10	Ruben Diaz, Jr. I'm the former Bronx Borough
11	president. Greetings from the Boogie Down Bronx.
12	It's good to be here in Harlem world.
13	Thank you, Chairman Mdm. Chairman,
14	Mama Dukes, for chairing this session here. To those
15	who are present and those who are listening via social
16	media or virtually, this is one of many different
17	hearings that we've had, and I appreciate the fact
18	that we've done them in the a.m., and now we're doing
19	them in the p.m. in every single borough so that
20	everyone can have their opportunity to advise us as to
21	what is it that we should take on in terms of
22	amendment in the City Charter you all.
23	VICE CHAIR DUKES: And you didn't tell
24	the real deal, that this is your second time taking on

this nonpaid task.

## Public Hearing

	Page 8
1	Jackie.
2	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: Good evening, Harlem.
3	MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Good evening.
4	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: Oh, I didn't hear you.
5	MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Good evening.
6	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: Okay. That's how
7	Harlem rocks. Now we've done been to five boroughs.
8	Come on, Harlem. Good evening, Harlem.
9	MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Good evening,
10	Jackie.
11	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: So let me just say I
12	am very, very proud of all of you for taking the time
13	coming out, because you feel and you know it is very
14	important for everyone citywide, communitywide to know
15	what's going on in their community. And I just want
16	to thank Mayor Adams for making sure that he give our
17	citizens, our community, and each borough a chance to
18	hear what's going on in their community.
19	And this is so important, these
20	hearings. We want you to continue to spread the word
21	that they are taking place, because that's the only
22	way we're going to get something done, by raising our
23	voices and letting our voices be heard.
24	So once again, I'm glad to be a part of
25	the Commission, and I thank my colleagues, my other

	Page 9
1	Commissioners for us just coming out and spending time
2	to hear what you have to say. And I'm very proud of
3	our chair, our chairperson tonight, Ms. Hazel Dukes.
4	Thank you.
5	MR. LYNCH: Good evening. Good
6	evening, Harlem. My name is Christopher Lynch. I'm
7	from the borough of Brooklyn, so I'm very happy,
8	super-excited to be here in Harlem to hear what the
9	Harlem residents have to say.
10	As we said, we've been throughout the
11	five boroughs, and we've heard a lot, learned a lot,
12	and we're super-excited to hear what Harlem has to
13	offer this evening.
14	MR. BRAGG: Good evening, all. I'm
15	Kyle Bragg, born in Brooklyn, raised in Queens, and
16	adopted by the Village of Harlem. It is an honor to
17	be here with the esteemed group of Commissioners to do
18	the work of New Yorkers by hearing from all the New
19	Yorkers around the five boroughs about what is
20	important to them and their communities.
21	The City Charter is our Constitution
22	and our bylaws, and we needed we're giving the
23	opportunity for New Yorkers to say, well, how does

Yorkers? And this is the opportunity for New Yorkers

this -- how does this Charter work for all New

24

	Page 10
1	to express themselves and give their thoughts and
2	opinions about the revisions that need to be made to
3	make sure that the Charter works for all of New
4	Yorkers in every borough. Thank you.
5	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Kyle, for the people
6	who have taken time to come out on this very
7	beautiful, hot day, I would like for them to know the
8	kind of service that you've given, not only as
9	president of 32BJ that protects our homes and our
10	apartments, but I would like for them to know that
11	this is your second or third time serving.
12	MR. BRAGG: Second time, 2018.
13	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Second time. And
14	when we tell you we've been to all five boroughs twice
15	already, we read every night 3 and 10 and 11 pages of
16	work that we have to do. So let's hear it for Kyle
17	Bragg.
18	MR. BRAGG: Oh, wow.
19	VICE CHAIR DUKES: And Ruben Diaz, you
20	have given your time to the City in many ways.
21	MR. ROSE: Hey, everybody. I'm
22	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Mr. Max Rose from
23	Staten Island.
24	MR. ROSE: I'm Max Rose. I'm a former
25	member of Congress from Staten Island. It's wonderful

	Page 11
1	to see you all. I look forward to learning from each
2	and every one of you. Thank you for being here.
3	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Stephanie's in the
4	house.
5	MS. MCGRAW: Yes, I am. Hi, good
6	evening, everyone. I am so honored to be in the
7	Village, my Village of Harlem, you know. And with all
8	of the amazing you know, Harlem has just got and
9	I'm excited to be here, and I'm honored. I'd like to
10	thank Mayor Eric Adams for creating this amazing
11	Commission.
12	But I'm also here because we want to
13	hear from you. You are the people, you are the City,
14	you are the community. And we can't have any changes
15	without hearing from your voices. So we want to be
16	here to be the voice of the voiceless and to be able
17	to make change that affects everyone as a whole for
18	the betterment for this amazing, beautiful city.
19	Thank you.
20	VICE CHAIR DUKES: I understand that we
21	have our chairman on now and another member. Who's
22	the second person?
23	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Ken.
24	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Ken is on.
25	Will you guys introduce yourself to our

	Page 12
1	members to our communities.
2	We can't hear you.
3	CHAIRMAN SCISSURA: for a couple of
4	meetings police and all of you. Kyle we are
5	very excited about the past week and honestly about
6	what we are going to do in the short term with the
7	ballot for November, but hopefully also laying the
8	groundwork for future commissions to tackle many of
9	the complex issues that we've heard over the last
10	couple of months that we may not be able to get to
11	this year.
12	So thank you, our Chair Dukes for this
13	evening. Thank you to our executive director, our
L <b>4</b>	general counsel, and the entire team. And I will turn
15	the microphone back to Mdm. Chair.
16	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you,
17	Mr. Chairman.
18	Can't hear you, Ken.
19	MR. NGAI: I'm here. Can you hear me?
20	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Yes, now we can.
21	MR. NGAI: Well, good evening,
22	everyone. Good evening, Harlem. I'm honored to be
23	here today to actively listen to the testimony of each
24	of the speakers that have joined us on Zoom and also
25	in person. I'm eager to hear your concerns and issues

	Page 13
1	and welcome any questions or thoughts that you may
2	have.
3	Let's get this thing started. And
4	without further ado, let's get going. Thank you.
5	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. And I
6	didn't do credit to our chairman, who's away tonight,
7	but he has served twice. This will be his second time
8	serving on the Charter Revision. So you do have
9	people on this Charter Revision that has served our
10	City in so many different ways, and they care about
11	what you have to say tonight, and all the other
12	boroughs.
13	A quorum is present, and I make a
L <b>4</b>	motion to approve the minutes of the meetings of the
15	Charter Revision Commission held on June 13th in
16	Manhattan, June 17th in the Bronx, June 20th in
17	Brooklyn, June 24th in Staten Island, June 26th in
18	Queens, and June 27th in Brooklyn.
19	Do I have a second?
20	MR. BRAGG: Second.
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: All in favor?
22	MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Aye.
23	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Opposed?
24	Abstention? The minutes of our previous meetings have
25	heen approved

	Page 14
1	I would like to thank Joy Bivins,
2	Director of the Schomburg Center for Research in Black
3	Culture, for hosting us today.
4	We're here today to continue the
5	Charter Revision Commission citywide listening tour.
6	We have traveled to all five boroughs, most of them
7	multiple times so far, to hear suggestions from
8	members of the public and experts on how we, how we
9	can change our City Charter to improve the lives of
10	all New Yorkers.
11	Our Charter, which is like the
12	Constitution for the City, impacts our daily lives in
13	many ways, from public safety to sanitation and
14	everything in between. That is why it's so important
15	to hear from members of the public, elected officials,
16	and representatives of City agencies, as we consider
17	the recommendations to present to the voters at the
18	general election on November the 5th, 2024.
19	I encourage everyone here who has not
20	already done so to please look at the Commission
21	Preliminary Report that included a summary of what we
22	have heard over the last month, and staff
23	recommendations.
24	Not yet.
25	We look forward to hearing from

	Page 15
1	everyone here tonight, and we'll be considering new
2	suggestions until our final public hearing on July
3	22nd. Future hearing dates on our website,
4	www.nyc.gov/charter, and comments may be submitted in
5	writing to charterinfo@citycharter.nyc.gov between now
6	and 5 p.m. on July 12, 2024.
7	Who is our first presenter? Senator,
8	my senator, Cordell Cleare, the honorable senator of
9	this District that you're sitting in tonight, a woman
10	who not only as an elected official, but as a
11	community activist and a lover of Harlem. Our
12	senator.
13	MS. CLEARE: Thank you. Thank you. I
14	didn't expect to go first, but, you know, I'll go.
15	Thank you so much. Thank you,
16	everyone. Thank you, Commission, for bringing this
17	important event to our community. I'm going to try to
18	be as brief as I can.
19	I am State Senator Cordell Cleare, and
20	I'm blessed to represent the 30th District, the
21	communities of Harlem, East Harlem, what they're
22	calling West Harlem now, Morningside Heights, Hamilton
23	Heights, and the upper West Side.
24	One of the key things of the 2024
25	Charter Revision Commission is fiscal responsibility.

	Page 16
1	And in this regard, my number one priority that I hear
2	in my District and that of my constituents is to
3	provide truly and permanent affordable housing in our
4	District. Study after study has shown that the way we
5	build affordable housing is not only inefficient,
6	meaning it takes a long time and does not produce the
7	housing units to meet the actual need and demand, but
8	it is extraordinarily expensive and ultimately an
9	ineffective use of government resources, because the
10	crisis persists.
11	One of the greatest factors driving
12	increased housing costs in my District right now in
13	West Harlem, part of my District, is the acquisition
14	of land by a large private university. In a recent
15	report by the venerable Community Service Society
16	found that between 2010 and 2020, Community Board 9's
17	Black population declined by 14 percent.
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Speak up a
19	little sit closer
20	MS. CLEARE: Okay, okay, okay.
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Get your loud voice
22	on.
23	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yeah, yeah.
24	MS. CLEARE: Okay, okay.
25	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Your mad voice.

1	MS. CLEARE: So I don't
2	know where did I stop? Yeah, so one of the
3	greatest factors driving supports my District was
4	an acquisition of land by a large private university.
5	And a recent report by CSS found Community Service
6	Society that between 2010 and 2020 Community
7	Board 9's Black population declined by 14 percent, and
8	its Hispanic population by 10 percent.
9	In 2010 almost half of the household in
10	Board 9's household incomes were below \$50,000, and
11	only 8 percent had incomes above 200,000. By 2021 the
12	share of households of incomes below 50,000 has
13	declined by 10 percent, and the share of households at
14	the top with incomes above \$200,000 has more than
15	doubled to 19 percent.
16	Between 2010 I'm sorry. The share
17	of Board 9's private rental housing stock that is very
18	regulated slipped from approximately 65 percent in
19	2008, which is 22,500 units, to approximately
20	48 percent in 2022 down to 16,700 units, a loss of
21	nearly 6,000 rent-regulated units.
22	The reason I'm going through all of

that is because, in this case, while I have Senate
Bill 90288, on the state level that says to stop these
kinds of expansions, to stop what is going on in West

23

24

Harlem, but I'm urging the Charter Revision Commission
to adopt policies that restrict the open-ended
acquisition of land by private universities, which has
an direct nexus to increased rents, blackout
migration, and decreased levels of affordable housing.

I ask this body to take all necessary actions to stop the extreme rent increases and preserver our land for affordable housing development.

Yes, and particularly land marking and other tools that we should be using to preserve the affordable housing that we have. One of the things that we're doing as we struggle to create new ways to get affordability, we're also not looking at ways to preserve the affordable housing that we already have. So it doesn't make sense for us to create a thousand new units and lose 500 new units. So that is what I'm asking for.

And I did have one other comment I
wanted to make. The other issue that comes to me a
lot is that of Black-owned and Black- and Brown-owned
businesses in our community. And there is a
recommendation that I strongly support. It's
recommendation 1, and it would provide for
investigating measures to improve services provided to
and promote the utilization of MWBEs, including

	Page 19
1	studying the creation of a new agency dedicated to
2	this purpose. I believe that a new agency with
3	expanded powers is more than called for at this stage.
4	One of the ways to increase ability,
5	especially in the Black community, is to make sure
6	that we are able to open businesses in our community.
7	And I'm urging the City to create this, to promote it,
8	especially in my District, in Harlem, where we're not
9	doing we're doing poorly in terms of Black
10	ownership and even Black contracts getting awarded to
11	Blacks in this District, and that shouldn't be the
12	case.
13	So I thank you for listening to me. Do
14	you need anything else from me?
15	MR. DIAZ: Mme. Chair, I have a
16	question
17	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Yeah, any
18	questions
19	MR. DIAZ: Good evening, State Senator.
20	MS. CLEARE: Hi.
21	MR. DIAZ: Good to see you. Is there a
22	specific part of the Charter that you think that we
23	should be looking at to address this?
24	MS. CLEARE: I think when we deal with
25	upzoning and when we are giving privileges when it

	Page 20
1	comes to development that we have to exchange with
2	deep, deep and plenty affordability. I don't think
3	that these can be given out freely anymore, because we
4	are in a housing crisis at this point. And I think
5	that that's the part that needs to be changed.
6	MR. DIAZ: I'm looking forward to
7	examining your testimony, because you threw out a lot
8	of numbers there
9	MS. CLEARE: Yes
10	MR. DIAZ: and I really want to
11	digest them.
12	Do you have numbers as to so if this
13	University expanded, correct, and that means that
14	they're looking to expand on the student body. Do you
15	have any number as to whether or not the student body
16	that expanded, you know, what the numbers of Black and
17	Brown students were in that expansion?
18	MS. CLEARE: There is general well,
19	more well, Black and Brown expansion, but also
20	Black and Brown expansion from this community; right?
21	Because this is the impacted community; right? So we
22	can get Black and Brown numbers. But, no, I
23	don't they have not provided that in a way that it
24	can be verified. I get ZIP Codes.
25	MR. DIAZ: Okay. To the extent their

	Page 21
1	faculty, the staff, the support, do you know if there
2	was an expansion in that expansion how many were
3	Black and Brown or from the community?
4	MS. CLEARE: I do not know that number.
5	MR. DIAZ: Do you know in terms of all
6	the procurement that was due to that expansion, you
7	know, how much of it was MWBE from the local
8	community, Black and Brown in particular?
9	MS. CLEARE: So that's a part of the
10	problem, too, the reporting on that. Okay? We need
11	that reporting to come to our community, and I'm
12	asking for that as well.
13	MR. DIAZ: Thank you, Senator.
14	MS. CLEARE: Thank you.
15	MR. BRAGG: You made a point on
16	affordable housing, a point on affordable housing, and
17	I was wondering how what you're thinking is as to
18	how the calculus of AMIs play in that role,
19	particularly as income levels are shifting in this
20	community. You know, how do we deal with the AMIs to
21	make sure that affordable housing that is built is
22	affordable
23	MS. CLEARE: Right, so no, thank you
24	for that question.
25	Number one, of course we have to

address the federal AMI, but we also have to create neighbor AMIs. Okay? AMIs that are relative to the neighborhoods that we're building in.

Across the state, the average income for Blacks across the state is \$53,000 a year. In the five boroughs it's even less than that, somewhere around \$45,000 a year. If we have rents that are costing people \$3,000 month -- what is that, \$36,000 a year -- we're not even in the running.

We're not even -- and, you know, the "New York Times" reported the outmigration of Blacks from New York State, not just New York City, 200,000 Blacks left, and that number has increased since that report was originally made. This is something that we have to look at. We have to build housing for workforce and for people that live in New York City and in these neighborhoods. Otherwise we, are building our own displacement.

MR. BRAGG: Thank you, Senator.

MR. DIAZ: Mme. Chairman, sorry. Just for purposes -- and forgive me -- you want to educate -- you said you want to -- you know, and I'm not taking any positions here, even though I have my own personal opinion and position. But for those that are listening, AMI is the area median income.

1	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you.
2	MR. DIAZ: And when the Senator sees
3	about addressing this at the federal level, those that
4	are listening or those who are reading the minutes
5	later on on this hearing should understand that the
6	federal dictates what that means. And for purposes of
7	New York City, the area that they take into
8	consideration with all of the incomes are like White
9	Plains; like Westchester, New York; and Long Island.
10	And so that's how they take into consideration what
11	the area median income is.
12	And so we don't you know, many
13	people will take umbrage or question as to whether or
14	not somebody's income should be taken into the same
15	consideration from the Bronx or from Harlem as someone
16	from Scarborough.
17	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: It should be
18	MR. DIAZ: Yes, but, well, that's a
19	whole debate. I just want to educate whoever's
20	listening.
21	MS. CLEARE: Right. Thank you for
22	raising that, exactly it. It is the area median
23	income. It's a false and skewed one, and it's one
24	that should be fixed on federal level, and I want
25	everybody to please encourage our federal officials to

help do that. And I believe that Congresswoman Clark has a bill, and we've got to support that. And, you know, elections are coming up. Let's make sure we're doing that, too.

But, you know, we as New York City and as a state, we need to look at neighborhood median income, because those numbers that I talked about earlier, they're even lower in certain communities when you talk about the Black community in Harlem, what the median income is. And we do have to look at the racial impact of much of what is going on in our communities.

MS. MCGRAW: Thank you. I have a question. Thank you, Sen. Cordell.

MS. CLEARE: Thank you.

MS. MCGRAW: Yes. You mentioned about having this community supported on seeing more minorities owning their businesses; right? I live here in Harlem, so I can say that I don't see a lot of minorities. So as Commissioners, how can we support this effort to get more minority-owned businesses here, or what kind of training program, or what kind of -- what do they need to get themselves prepared? Do they need to learn how to access getting loans or what? Because it's concerning.

	Page 25
1	MS. CLEARE: Thank you. Thank you for
2	that question, Stephanie.
3	I saw in the recommendation in the
4	recommendations that were made that there should be a
5	study to create a new agency, and I fully support
6	that. Let's study why this stubborn problem of Blacks
7	not being able to own businesses, why does it persist,
8	and especially in a community like Harlem? So, you
9	know, I totally support that.
10	And also we have to promote this. We
11	have to make it that people want to come and do
12	business in Black communities with Black contractors
13	and others in our community. And that's something
14	that's been a really stubborn problem, so I totally
15	support and can't wait and hope that the Charter
16	Commission makes that recommendation, and I'd like to
17	see the Mayor including that.
18	MS. MCGRAW: Thank you, Senator.
19	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you so much,
20	Senator.
21	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: Thank you. Thank you.
22	VICE CHAIR DUKES: And as a former
23	member of Community Board 10, thank you, Borough
24	President, for bringing that and educating our
25	community, because many times we've had to fight our

	Page 26
1	congressman. Former Congressman Rangel, he would be
2	inundated with people, "Why can't we do it?" And he
3	had to explain, you know, about it. So thank you so
4	much for that.
5	Any more from our okay. Next we
6	will have Michael Garner.
7	MR. GARNER: I'm going to differ to my
8	assembly lady first.
9	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Well, she was next.
10	Well, we will have her now. The Queen of Harlem who
11	has served this community with such great distinction,
12	is retiring but bringing a wealth of information and
13	knowledge over the years where she's served in the
14	City Council as deputy speaker of our City Council,
15	and then in the assembly.
16	Welcome, Assemblywoman
17	MS. DICKENS: Thank you so much
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Inez Dickens.
19	Assemblywoman in our District.
20	MS. DICKENS: I want to thank first the
21	community. I wish this room was filled with the
22	voters and the residents of this community, because
23	this is a very important amendment that is being
24	considered.
25	I want to thank the panels that are

here.	I want to thank Community Board 10 and of
course	Mme. Dr. Hazel Dukes for hosting this, and of
course	Schomburg Research Center for agreeing to allow
us the	use of this space.

I want to recognize my colleague in Albany, Sen. Cordell Cleare, and any other electeds that I have omitted. Please forgive me, but know I recognize you.

Good afternoon, and thank you very much for having me to participate in this uniquely important discussion on how the City can best formulate compacts with its residents to keep New York the center of the world.

With that being said, I would like to thank the mayor, Eric Adams, for committing so much of himself to the betterment of this City under the most excruciating of circumstances. Not a single one of anyone in prior administrations has faced such extreme challenges while facing obstruction so vast. With so many burdens being placed upon his shoulders when he took the oath of office, his tasks were made more weightier with the arrival of more than 2,000 migrants, asylum-seekers, and virtually no aid from the federal government.

To find anyone as capable of stretching

out any measure of success, it would be difficult to find. The Mayor understands that if the City is to rebound from such difficulties, we need our businesses to grow, particularly our MWBEs.

In the case, if many of you have not heard, I am an MWBE and an elected that is representing the Village of Harlem. What I feel is fortunately in my favor as an MWBE and a public servant is that I understand the difference between the political rhetoric and an actual record of accomplishments. I can tell who is spinning a web of bamboozlement and who is constructing a format to benefit people for the future.

I recognize the falsehoods -- those partial information being regurgitated in a report about the lackluster performance of MWBEs contracting with the City of New York. New York City's Comptroller's report is only 30 percent of New York City contracts, the 30 percent that generates the least amount of revenue to the City of New York. Hence, this report covers the least amount of contracts that could actually be generated to MWBEs and others.

Let me explain for a moment. The City has what is known as mayoral agencies which the Mayor

oversees, and non-mayoral agencies which the
controller oversees. In order for this report to be
written, it is only inclusive of those agencies in
which the controller's office oversees, and that is a
mere 30 percent of City operations. The Mayor
controls 70 percent. This means that the office of
the controller can only report on 30 percent of New
York City's total contracts.

The mayoral agencies include the School Construction Authority, New York City Housing Authority, Department of Education, Health and Hospital Corporation, and the Economic Development Corp. These are the five largest agencies and economic drivers in the City of New York.

So let me tell you what Mayor Adams has done to increase MWBEs and MBEs, and there is a difference. The Mayor is pushing for a Charter revision that would create an agency entirely dedicated to MWBEs and MBEs. Its duties would be all-encompassing of the what is his administration has already overtaken -- undertaken and tried to administer.

His administration proposed five bills to the New York State Legislature to help advance the abilities of state agency to contract with MWBEs and

MBEs and help the Mayor enforce those goals. All five of these bills have been passed by the Assembly and the Senate. Four have been signed by the governor, and the fifth bill is on the desk of the governor awaiting her signature.

These bills are as follows: New York
City's centralized mentoring programs for MWBEs and
MBEs, which was passed into law. This would be
targeted towards Black and Hispanic contractors so
that they will be up to date on what is allowed, what
is not allowed, and what they can do, and will enable
them to actually put in for contracts.

Bill 2 raises the discretionary threshold for MWBEs to \$1.5 million. That was passed into law.

The third bill that makes an e-bidding process for MWBEs and MBEs more robust and helps provide information on the City's procurement performance, and which was also passed into law.

The fourth one is community workforce hiring bill, where large companies have to hire, must hire by law 30 percent of their workforce from the community in which they are building. This bill also includes an enforcement mechanism, because we know that if the bill doesn't have teeth, it may not work.

But this mechanism for tracking the procurement
performance of the prime contractor with MWBEs ensures
that they meet the City's goals, and that was passed
into law.

The fifth one, MWBE's reciprocity bill. If you are a certified MWBE by the City and the State -- that's what it's going to be -- you would also be certified by the State and vice versa. That's very important, because oftentimes our MWBEs may be registered with the City of New York and not the State, and when they go for a State contract, they don't qualify. This is absolutely necessary. But that's the bill that awaits the governor's signature.

As successful as the MWBE programs have been for communities outside of those like mine, the Mayor has sought to encompass all communities by seeking first those who have lagged in their responses, that includes Black and Hispanics, to become more active participants in the procurement process. A policy of the like has never, ever been accomplished by any other administration. This policy is to be directed first and foremost to Black and Hispanic registered MWBEs. After this has been exhausted, then and only then will the process be opened up to other MWBEs.

The responsibility of this goal will fall on the individual agencies who have a listing of registered MWBEs first to contact. And we know that oftentimes that has failed. But in order to ensure that the City agencies comply with this policy to increase Black and Hispanic contracts, Michael Garner has been mandating weekly MWBE contract meetings to oversee agency's performance. Agencies are tasked on their ability to conduct outreach, who they've contacted, what was the result of those contacts.

These meetings are conducted by the Mayor's chief business diversity officer, Michael Garner, who has built an illustrious career in promoting MWBE procurement across several City and State agencies. True experience, successful experience, true negotiating skills, all of which mandates a successful policy change, which will definitively increase Black and Hispanic contractual participation.

These are facts that you will rarely hear from anyone, whether we are talking about the media competition or distracted conversation. Because just like Donald Trump, oftentimes there is an underlying reason to keep the voter ignorant. There are no ignorant voters in Harlem. We will not be

bamboozled. We will not be fragile. We will not be
fooled. We will not be conned. We are educated
voters. In a city as massive as New York City is with
an old infrastructure for transportation, with a city
that was hit with COVID, shutting down our businesses
and schools for nearly two years, with an influx of sc
many of our asylum-seekers with little federal help,
relying mostly on City government, it is extremely
difficult to match the City of New York. This is the
third year of the Mayor's first term, and I believe
that he is accomplishing much of what he committed to
doing.

We need this Charter amended. I'm asking for the Community Board 10 and my voters in my District to please read and understand the meaning and the significance of changing this amendment, putting this into the Charter, and what it will mean in the Black and Hispanic communities. And you will vote in our interest. Thank you and God bless.

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions from our Commissioners?

MS. DICKENS: I have no questions, except that I ask you to keep your minds open, be truthful to yourselves, understand that in a City as great as New York, Black and Hispanic businesses has

	Page 34
1	been shortchanged in their ability to have contracts
2	with the City and, in fact, the federal government as
3	well. This is a step in the right direction, to
4	change that policy, to see to it that it is an
5	inclusive city and we claim it to be. Thank you.
6	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any from our Zoom
7	members? Any questions?
8	MS. DICKENS: Any questions from anyone
9	for me? I'm happy to answer anyone's questions.
10	Thank you so much, and may you have a
11	wonderful blessed summer, and God bless this country
12	as we vote in November.
13	VICE CHAIR DUKES: As our former
14	borough president said, this meeting is about to
15	educate our communities. I know that you didn't know
16	many of the things that were said today, and as you
17	come and complain to your elected officials that
18	you're not getting contracts, you don't know what to
19	do, this was a lesson of education. Thank you,
20	Assemblywoman Inez Dickens. Thank you, our State
21	Senator Cordell Cleare. Thank both of you.
22	Do we have any is Al Tell [ph] in
23	the house?
24	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No.
25	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We have Jordan

Page 35 1 Wright. 2 VICE CHAIR DUKES: We have Jordan 3 Wright here. 4 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Assemblyman 5 elect. VICE CHAIR DUKES: Jordan Wright, the 6 7 assemblyman elect. Yes. 8 MR. J. WRIGHT: Thank you so much. 9 Thank you so much for the Commission. Thank you. 10 Thank you, members of the Commission, for the 11 invitation, for doing this here in the Village of 12 It's really important. It's really key. And 13 I think that the City is in great hands, you know, 14 with the people here today, so thank you once again. 15 My name is Jordan J.G. Wright, and I 16 recently won the Democratic Primary to represent the 17 Assembly District here in Harlem. As the Democratic nominee, I look forward to fighting for my community's 18 19 vote in November, but that's not why we're here 20 today. 21 And that's it for my community. 22 firm of the belief that we need to support our local 23 businesses, for this community in particular. We need stronger protection for MWBEs and affirmative action 24 25 programs, which are under attack at the federal level.

In fact, federal courts have been very unfriendly to women- and minority-owned business programs, and we need to keep a close watch on the presidential race, because the outcome could make that situation even worse.

Locally, there's plenty you can still do. If we're to include the City Charter -- if we are to include in the City Charter an agency responsible for the safety, protection, and growth of MWBEs, it would keep the program vibrant and help it to run. By consolidating this power in the Charter, it will enable the City to award contracts in a more inclusive manner that includes ensuring that more jobs are created in communities of color.

In addition, awarding more contracts to Black and Hispanic businesses is key to the prosperity for this City we call home. And by focusing on traditionally underserved minority communities, we can help lift people out of poverty and build positive economic output where it's most needed in villages like this, in Harlem.

It may be cliche, but a rising tide really does lift all boats, and it would behoove us as a city to beginning the process with economically challenged communities that can really use the City's

support.

Finally, it is important that our elected and soon-to-be-elected officials move forward with minority- and women-owned businesses at the top of our minds.

Thank you, and I'm happy to entertain any questions, and I think we need to continue to have a Harlem that is for the many and not just for the few and a city that's for the many and not just for the few. Thank you so much.

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Any questions from our Commissioners? Those of you on Zoom? No? Thank you so much, Assemblyman Elect.

MS. ROWE-ADAMS: I don't have any questions. I just have a comment. I just want to say as one in Commission and everything that's happened here in our communities and our City, I just want to thank you for being here along with so many others. And when we talk about -- and I'm going to get it right, Hazel -- when we talk about MWBEs, I am so glad you're right on. And as the assemblyman elect, I'm sure you're going to be working very closely with Michael Garner. So I just want to thank you and say congratulations to you again.

MR. J. WRIGHT: Thank you so much,

Page 38 1 Thank you to the whole Commission. 2 here -- with you all right in front, so thank you so 3 much. Keep on doing the good work. 4 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you. 5 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Michael Garner, do you want to take your stand now? 6 7 MR. GARNER: Yes, good evening. you was trying to do me a favor by allowing me to 8 9 speak first. Well, it's going to be a hard charge 10 going after Assemblyman Inez Dickens and Jordan Wright 11 and Assemblywoman Cleare. 12 I'm here, and I'm happy -- this is my 13 third testimony. We went all around the City a couple 14 of weeks ago. We were in Brooklyn last week, and now we're -- in Harlem. 15 16 And let me just say that the important 17 topic of creating MWBEs is long overdue. There's been a lot of mayors that have talked about MWBE, but very 18 19 few, if any, have put their muscle and their resources 20 behind doing New York. And as our previous --21 everything that candidate Eric Adams has said that he 22 was going to do with regards to MWBE he has done, and 23 even more. 24 I would say that Inez -- Assemblywoman 25 Dickens indicated that the Mayor was successful in

going to Albany and getting all of his MWBE bills passed during one session. And now those bills are being transformed into New York State laws and MWBE programs.

And we know that access to contracting equals job creation in communities of color who have historically been shut out. It equals homeownership opportunity for those prospective business owners, and better educational opportunities and healthier options for their respective families.

And it's a win-win. When you take taxpayer-driven contracts and create wealth and drive equity in those communities of color, it's a win-win for everyone.

And so in moving forward, we want to make sure that we are holding the agencies accountable. As the State Assemblyperson Inez Dickens indicated that there are mayoral agencies who represent 30 percent spending and non-mayoral agencies that represent 70 percent of spending. However, the Mayor has the ability to appoint in leadership and board members of these non-mayoral agencies. And for the first time, the Mayor is holding them accountable for their MWBE reporting in alignment with his vision of complying with his 30 percent MWBE goals.

And so his mandate is simple. By the year 2026, awarding not less than \$25 billion to New York City-certified MWBE firms. And by the year 2030, that number increased to 60 billion. And if last year was any indication of the success that Mayor Adams has had, we awarded \$6.3 billion to minority- and womenowned firms last year, 6.3 billion. There is no other government entity in this nation or private sector corporation or company that has awarded 6.3 billion.

Are we satisfied? No, we're not, because we need to do a more effective and better job of eradicating what we call the disparity within the disparity. Why is it that we have a difficult time in awarding contracts to Black-owned and Hispanic-owned businesses? We're changing that. Our numbers -- I'm looking at numbers every week, and contract awards to Black- and Hispanic-owned businesses are trending upward.

And let me say that the Mayor often says that he wants the City of New York to use information technology in order to drive operating efficiencies. And so the Mayor has taken \$5.8 million and invested it into a new information technology platform called B2G, which allows the City of New York from a centralized perspective now of not only

monitoring how each agency is doing with regard to awarding contracts to MWBE firms, but also looking at the payments.

It is one thing to track awards, but it's a different thing to track payments. And the state employed this technology five years ago under former Gov. Andrew Cuomo, and it has worked successfully. And now Mayor Adams has invested once again \$5.8 million investment in this technology. And now we're going to have the ability to monitor contracts, to ensure that our third-party contractors and consultants are complying with their 30 percent goals. And so the Mayor once again has done everything that he said he was going to do with regard to the MWBE program.

The centralized New York City agency only focuses on MWBE is going to get us to be more cost-effective, more transparency, accountability from the City of New York, from City Hall in ensuring that government contracts, taxpayer-driven contracts are not only awarded in a cost-effective manner because their taxpayer money is being spent, but in an inclusive manner of making sure that we are awarding our contracts in a more inclusive manner, including increasing contract awards to Black- and Hispanic-

owned	bus	sine	288	es.
0111100	~~.			$\sim$

And if there are any barriers to entry for us to do that, then we will come up with changing state laws, creating programming, and to make sure that we are awarding contracts in a more inclusive manner.

And so we need your support in the creation of a New York City agency with a mission of focusing on awarding contracts in a more cost-effective but more inclusive manner, holding agencies accountable for achieving or exceeding Mayor Adams' 30 percent MWBE goals. And, finally -- and we need to make sure that the City of New York is awarding their contracts in a more inclusive manner within the Black and Hispanic business communities. Thank you.

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions from our Commissioners?

MR. LYNCH: I have a question in regards to one of our presenters before had mentioned about e-bid. So with this information technology project bringing on board, will that help to boost up e-bid for contracts, or was that in the plans, to include that?

MR. GARNER: It's just aligned with the Mayor's, once again, use of information technology in

Page 43 1 driving operating efficiencies. 2 We're one of the last entities in this 3 region that did not have the ability to award contracts via information technology. Everything was 4 5 being done manually, and that's not the way that the City of New York should be awarding their contracts. 6 7 This new bill and new law which will allow all City agencies now to award their contracts 8 9 via information technology platform. 10 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any other questions? MS. MCGRAW: Yes, thank you so much. 11 12 I've heard your testimony by the City, and thank you 13 for being the voice and bringing this very important 14 issue to the table. I, myself, have some experience 15 with bills, major late delays, so I'm just so happy to 16 hear that the Mayor really understands how critical 17 that is, especially when you have people that are doing work to better this City and to keep this City 18 19 safe. 20 So this system will be put in place to 21 monitor, to track, and there'll be a system in place, 22 and not something manually. 23 MR. GARNER: Absolutely. The Mayor has

the uncanny ability to engage in conversation, listen,

and then implement. And so what he has heard on the

24

	Page 44
1	campaign trail he has transformed and implemented
2	solutions to problems. In this administration, the
3	get stuff done administration, which is exceptional,
4	because we're not blinded by problems. We focus on
5	solutions.
6	MS. MCGRAW: That's great. Thank you
7	so much.
8	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any other questions?
9	From our Commissioners on Zoom? Thank you very much.
10	Thank you
11	MR. GARNER: Thank you.
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Mr. Garner, for
13	your work.
14	We will now hear from Pauline Toole,
15	Commissioner, Department of Records and Information
16	Services.
17	Welcome.
18	MS. TOOLE: Thank you.
19	Good afternoon, Commissioners. Thank
20	you for the opportunity to testify today in this
21	public hearing on possible amendments to the New York
22	City Charter. I've submitted written testimony, but
23	in the interest of time, I'm going to summarize our
24	views on the proposal to combine two advisory boards
25	that was included in the preliminary staff report to

the Commission, and want to provide just a little bit of background.

So this is going to seem somewhat obscure compared to the hefty issues you've just been hearing about, affordable housing and MWBE program -- opportunity. But for us in the little tiny City agency, this is going to make a big difference.

The Department of Records and
Information Services known as DORIS, is responsible
for three key governmental functions: establishing
and enforcing record practices and policies, providing
access to New York City Government information, and
preserving the historical records of City government.
We do this through our three divisions: the municipal
library, municipal archives, and municipal records
management, with the central support from information
technology, external affairs, and administration
units.

The agency's mission is to foster civic life by preserving and providing access to the historical and contemporary records of City government, to ensure the City records are properly maintained following a professional archive -- record management practices, and to make our materials available to the -- communities. In fact, we had a

conference here on a 1936 report on conditions in Harlem a couple of years ago that was really quite wonderful and pointed us to some good directions.

In the modernization section of the preliminary report, Charter Commission staff included the proposal made by DORIS to combine our two existing advisory boards into a smaller board that would handle the existing duties. One advisory board, the Archival Records and Research Advisory Board, was established in 1977 when the agency was created. At that time the Board played an active role in shaping the new agency and met almost monthly.

Now 47 years later, the Board largely serves as a sounding board around the agency's -- initiatives.

The second board, the Archival Review Board, was established in 2003, after former Mayor Rudy Giuliani removed the mayoral records from the City's control to have them processed by outside consultants. That same local law that established the Board also created procedures that must be followed if an outside entity is contracted to process historical City records. The outsourcing can only occur if the Commissioner certifies its necessity under extraordinary circumstances.

	rage 47
1	The members of both Boards have
2	volunteered their time to suggest improvements, review
3	the agency's collection processing plans, and report
4	activities to the municipal archives and our external
5	affairs divisions. They are creative, thoughtful
6	people, and we very much appreciate their insight.
7	After reviewing existing Charter
8	mandates, the members of both Boards have recommended
9	consolidation. The joint proposal is appended to my
10	written testimony. Creating the combined nine-person
11	board with the mandate to advise the Commissioner and
12	evaluate the management of both archival and library
13	collections will improve efficiency for the agency.
14	If you have any questions, I would be
15	happy to answer them.
16	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any question from
17	the Commissioners?
18	MR. LYNCH: Hi, good evening.
19	MS. TOOLE: Hi.
20	MR. LYNCH: Can you just clarify about
21	the process of outsourcing the documents or
22	outsourcing the archive of the documents?
23	MS. TOOLE: So in 2001 when Mayor
24	Giuliani's terms ended, he decided that it would be a
25	good idea to take all of the City's historical records

and have them processed by a private entity that would be responsive to people he appointed.

This created a bit of an uproar, as you could imagine, and there were restrictions placed on that work so that it ended up being conducted by an outside entity but under the direction of the Department with a lot of oversight.

And then the Archival Review Board, which is made up of four people and the Commissioner, so five people, has the authority to review any outside processing of collections, if that were to happen again. If it were to happen again, I would imagine it would be because the collection is vast. It might be in a medium that we don't have the ability to handle, like floppy disks, for example. don't have the computers with the capacity to read them, we might hire someone who did, but we would do it under the procedures that are within the Charter that set up a schedule, deliverables. Not everything would be sent to the entity at one time, so that there are real checks and balances in place in the Charter, irrespective of the Board. And the Board would still have the -- the smaller Board would still have the ability to do oversight if that outsourcing happened.

So at the present time,

MR. LYNCH:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

	Page 49
1	it's not being outsourced anymore?
2	MS. TOOLE: No. The only collection
3	that's ever been processed that way is Giuliani
4	collection. Everything else is being processed
5	inside, including the David Dinkins collection, which
6	we are now processing and digitizing the photos from
7	that administration, which will be online soon.
8	MR. LYNCH: All right. Thank you.
9	MS. MCGRAW: Thank you
10	MS. TOOLE: Okay.
11	MS. MCGRAW: Thank you so much for
12	educating me in this matter.
13	So I just want to be clear. So where
14	are the original records? Do they still exist, or
15	they have been destroyed? Because that would be very
16	helpful.
17	And if they were, how do we somehow
18	kind of retrieve information and records that may be
19	very vital to the City at some point?
20	MS. TOOLE: Thank you for asking that
21	question.
22	They're not destroyed. We have
23	original documents dating to the Colonial Period, so
24	1636, I think, is our earliest document, and they go
25	through the prior administration.

	Page 50
1	And periodically take in certain kinds
2	of records from the current administration, but most
3	aren't transferred until the end of the
4	administration.
5	And if you're referring specifically to
6	the Giuliani records, they all were returned to the
7	agency, and we have those.
8	MS. MCGRAW: Thank you.
9	MR. DIAZ: Has this been addressed
10	legislatively? If not can and has it been
11	addressed legislatively?
12	MS. TOOLE: Yes
13	MR. DIAZ: Is this your last you
14	know, have you exhausted all your you know, all
15	your options?
16	MS. TOOLE: You know, this is part of
17	the Charter, and it would be a modernization for us,
18	certainly an efficiency move for us. We do have a
19	draft local law that hasn't been introduced. That
20	could happen. But we think this gives us the
21	opportunity to get it done when you work when you
22	advance your proposals to modernize City government.
23	MR. DIAZ: Fair enough. Thank you.
24	MS. TOOLE: Thank you.
25	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you.

	Page 51
1	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions from
2	our Commissioners on Zoom? Thank you so much.
3	MS. TOOLE: Thank you.
4	VICE CHAIR DUKES: We will now hear
5	from Mr. Andrew Rein, Citizens Budget Commission.
6	MR. REIN: Good evening, Dr. Dukes.
7	VICE CHAIR DUKES: I think we saw you
8	before, didn't we?
9	MR. REIN: I know. I thought it was
10	important to come in person again
11	VICE CHAIR DUKES: we want you to
12	MR. REIN: because we refined our
13	VICE CHAIR DUKES: And thank you for
14	being here.
15	MR. REIN: we've refined our
16	proposals, and we wanted to, since it's so important,
17	come in person. Besides, I got to see all the
18	Commissioners and thank you for your service and be at
19	the Schomburg Center, so it's an honor and a privilege
20	and a pleasure.
21	Good evening, I'm Andrew Rein,
22	president of the Citizens Budget Commission, and I'm
23	here to give you the refinement of five of our seven
24	initial recommendations. We submitted testimony that
25	has all the Charter language that is hopefully helpful

for you as you draft up your proposals for the ball	for	you	as	you	draft	up	your	proposals	for	the	ballo
---	-----	-----	----	-----	-------	----	------	-----------	-----	-----	-------

We strongly feel that your Commission
should consider our first two proposals as a package
to improve the City's fiscal stability and integrity.
This year's budget debate has highlighted how critical
it is that the City's budget and policy decisions
consider and ultimately are based on accurate budget
estimates, whether they be revenues or spending for
current programs or expanding programs. We and others
have taken issue with the budget estimates, both from
the Mayor's side, but also how the Council in effect
budgeted by legislation when it passed the massive
housing voucher expansion that could annually cost
more than many City agencies, whether it be the health
department, ACS, fire, sanitation, DED. So improving
both the legislative fiscal impact statements and the
executive's financial plan estimates will enhance the
integrity, legitimacy, and outcomes of budget making
and help importantly, and help to ensure that the
public appropriately views this Charter Revision
Commission's work through the lens of substance and
not through politics.

So first, for legislative fiscal impact statements, we recommend that the Council produce them earlier so everyone can see them, that the independent

budget office produce an independent fiscal impact
statement or validate the Councils for programs that
will cost more than \$100 million in any given year,
that the fiscal impact statements disclose whether the
cost of these programs can actually be accommodated
within the budget of financial plan, and finally, that
high cost local laws take effect only once the funds
are modified into the budget or negotiated in budget
adoption. Doing this will align lawmaking as well as
the budgeting process and not have them at odds with
each other.

Second, a crucial companion to this is to increase the accuracy and transparency of the executive's financial plan with greater sunshine.

We're just asking for information here, so we can all understand. Specifically, we're proposing that the Charter require detailed explanation when -- of the causes when tax revenues or spending program estimates grow or fall by more than 10 percent in a given year. What's really going on?

We also want the explanations when the executive estimates vary more than 20 percent of the estimates of either the state controller or the City controller. That way all the people have the information of what's really going on with the budget

and the programs.

So third, we are very pleased that the preliminary report of your Commission included the proposal for a City resident survey. Our draft Charter language requires that the survey be done every five years and that it be importantly statistically significant at the neighborhood, race ethnicity, and income base level.

Listen, in the Charter it should tell the government they have to listen to its people. The people of the Village of Harlem should know that they're going to be listened to, and that's about the statistical significance of doing the survey every five years.

Our fourth proposal continues to recommend that the Charter require a local law that ensures the City's rainy day fund is both grown and used for its intended purposes, to protect New Yorkers from dramatic cuts during a recession or short-term emergency. You know, we really want to commend the Adams Administration, which, despite the calls to use the rainy day fund for services to migrants, they appropriately protected the fund, because they realized this was an ongoing expense, not a rainy day expense.

So we cannot always guarantee that
every administration will show such prudence. So our
proposed Charter change requiring the local law to
test mandatory deposits and appropriate withdrawal
rules will help ensure wise rainy day fund
stewardship, not only now but into the future.

Respectfully, I submit that more study is not needed, since we and others have extensively analyzed how best to structure a rainy day fund, because -- so the time to start protecting New Yorkers is now, not after the next crisis.

And our final proposal, more study also is not required to ensure the City's long-term debt doesn't start to crowd out other budget priorities by limiting debt service to 15 percent of City tax revenue. This change simply puts in the Charter what has been in practice for decades and guarantees a -- budget.

So thank you once again for the opportunity to see you. Thank you -- good to see you, Lorraine -- to see you all again, for the opportunity to provide input into your important work. We are at your service as you choose and then draft your final recommendations. Thank you.

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you so much.

	Page 56
1	Any questions from our Commissioners?
2	MS. GRILLO: I'd just like to comment
3	just for a minute. Great to see you, Andrew. This is
4	a very thoughtful
5	MR. REIN: Thanks.
6	MS. GRILLO: memo, and we will look
7	at it very, very closely. And always good to see you.
8	MR. REIN: And thanks, and thanks for
9	everything you've done for the City for a few decades.
10	MS. GRILLO: Few decades. Thank you.
11	VICE CHAIR DUKES: I want to thank you
12	for coming to Harlem to Schomburg, as you said
13	MR. REIN: And the auditorium. I
14	know this. It was up there, so I was so glad I
15	just wanted to mention
16	VICE CHAIR DUKES: well, you just
17	kindly give this information. As Assemblywoman Inez
18	said, this dedication for you they don't get a
19	chance to hear this kind from people who are experts
20	that do this work, so thank you so much.
21	MR. REIN: We're at your service and
22	the service of all New Yorkers.
23	MR. ROSE: Do you mind if I just ask
24	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Yes. Mr. Rose.
25	MR. ROSE: I just have a little bit

more philosophical question for you, which is, if we adopt all of this, is it just going to become impossible to govern in this City, in the sense that, you know, it's just control after control after control. And eventually isn't that what elections are for; right? Like if we elect fiscally irresponsible people, don't then we kick them out of office?

Like --

MR. REIN: we will never be able to regulate -- and if you try to regulate good culture of government, you're going to fail, and people will try to get around it. So I think it's a very important point.

We've definitely focused in our recommendations of doing it kind of targeted and parsimoniously so that we can provide more information, get it earlier in people's hands, whether it be lawmakers or the public's hands, so they can use it without gumming up the works. So seeing the -- seeing the fiscal impact statements that will be done anyway come earlier is not gumming up. It's actually allowing it to be used.

And when we say that a new law can only be -- not only be implemented once it's budgeted and appropriated, we have \$100 million threshold. That's

	Page 58
1	very rarely hit. But if you're really you can't be
2	budgeting through legislation. So we really slice
3	that very targeted to make sure we're only doing the
4	biggest legislation.
5	I think frankly a resident survey every
6	five years would only help City government be more
7	responsive to its people, not gum up the works. So we
8	really tried to have that kind of look into making
9	sure that every requirement is targeted to have a
10	benefit and be as less as least intrusive as
11	possible.
12	MR. DIAZ: I wish I could hang out with
13	you, you know, because and I'm sure that we can
14	have offline conversation. Thank you for this.
15	MR. REIN: Do I get to come up to the
16	Bronx?
17	MR. DIAZ: If you want to.
18	MR. REIN: I'm there.
19	MR. DIAZ: You're always welcome to.
20	Come to the Boogie Down Bronx.
21	So what I'm trying to if you have
22	these surveys every five years, and you figure after
23	something was voted on and adopted and implemented is
24	over \$100 million to, you know, the taxpayer, the City
25	of New York, say the survey in the fifth year shows

	Page 59
1	that it's just ineffective. Who's the arbiter of
2	that, and what happens then?
3	MR. REIN: so what the survey
4	does so the City did a survey in 2008. CBC did one
5	in 2017, and we just did one in 2023, and I'll send
6	you a link to it. What the survey does is allow
7	government to be responsive and to really when you
8	do it right find out what people are thinking in
9	different parts of the City about different services
10	they're having.
11	MR. DIAZ: People tell us people
12	tell us all the time
13	MR. REIN: Then, of course, the
14	government's job is to be responsive. What?
15	MR. DIAZ: People tell us all the
16	time the government all the time where they think
17	government is spending too much money; right?
18	MR. REIN: Well, guess what? Only
19	10 percent of New Yorkers think government is spending
20	the money wisely. It used to be 20 percent, which
21	wasn't very high, but it went in half. Here's the
22	challenge, which is listen. New Yorkers will
23	always tell you how they feel. You can stop on any
24	street corner. You could turn to the person next to
25	you in a restaurant, whatever it is, on the subway or

whatever. New Yorkers are always willing to talk.
But you don't necessarily get a representative sample
so you can hear from everyone. And you don't
necessarily know how different groups in different
parts of the City with different income levels know,
are feeling about a service, education, public safety.

You know, people's impression of public safety, satisfaction in their neighborhood went from 50 percent down to, I think it was safety in the neighborhood was 37 percent. It was no more than 20 percent almost any part of the southern and central Bronx. You need that information, and you need to see how it is relative. That's why doing the survey with the statistical methods can give you the most accurate information, because the City needs to respond not just to anecdotes but the best information possible.

MR. DIAZ: Thank you.

MR. REIN: Thank you.

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions from the Commissioners on Zoom? Oh, I'm sorry.

MR. LYNCH: I just want to just add to what we're saying -- just -- about the survey.

Conduct the survey, who's going to be responsible to collect that information? The outcomes that you got from those surveys, who's going to be responsible to

## Public Hearing

	Page 61
1	affect whatever the changes or outcomes that come out
2	of the surveys?
3	MR. REIN: So the idea it is the
4	government
5	MR. LYNCH: And cost
6	MR. REIN: it is the Mayor's
7	office
8	MR. LYNCH: and cost to do it.
9	MR. REIN: and the it is the
10	Mayor's office and the Council to respond, because
11	that's what their job is, you know, and public
12	servants. This just gives them a tool.
13	Like, you know the Mayor's report
14	comes out twice a year, and so it measures how service
15	is done. We have some ideas on how to improve that,
16	but we're not getting the customers to tell us what's
17	going on. So if you combine that information, you
18	think certain things are going, but then you
19	also you think something is going well, but if
20	people are telling you it's not going well, you can
21	think about it.
22	That's why it provides just another
23	data source for the City leadership to be responsive
24	to, and maybe target services. Oh, that neighborhood
25	is doing worse than I thought it was. Oh, those

	Page 62
1	people like what we're doing here. That's good. It's
2	a piece of information that the City does not
3	regularly have right now, which is valid feedback from
4	New Yorkers.
5	MR. LYNCH: So that information will be
6	disseminated to whichever agency
7	MR. REIN: Yes, yes. No, no. It
8	MR. LYNCH: And they'll be
9	MR. REIN: And, frankly, when we did it
10	in 2017, and we have now shared the 2023 data with the
11	City, the Mayor's Office of Operations are only being
12	looked at it and then told it, shared it with
13	agencies, who all has access, public, but shared the
14	deeper information with the agencies so they could be
15	more responsive.
16	MR. LYNCH: Got you. Thank you for
17	coming out again. I appreciate it.
18	MR. REIN: Thank you very much for your
19	time and your service.
20	MR. LYNCH: You're welcome.
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Amaury, and excuse
22	me for the pronouncing of your name. Are you here?
23	You're with the Citizens Union? I think we met you
24	before?
25	MR. DUJARDIN: Yes

## Public Hearing

	Page 63
1	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you for coming
2	to Harlem.
3	MR. DUJARDIN: Thank you for having me.
4	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Yes.
5	MR. DUJARDIN: We're excited to be
6	here.
7	Members of the 2024 Charter Revision
8	Commission. My name is Amaury Dujardin, and I'm the
9	policy manager at Citizens Union. Thank you for
10	providing us with the opportunity to testify today.
11	We appreciated your preliminary report and took some
12	time to study your suggestions.
13	Citizens Union opposes the proposal to
L <b>4</b>	add new requirements for public input and the New York
15	City Council before approval of any bill related to
16	public safety, including more time and at least one
17	extra public hearing.
18	First, we do not believe the proposal
19	is necessary. Citizens Union conducted an analysis of
20	all of the laws passed by the City Council in the last
21	decade to assess whether there is any difference
22	between the timelines of hearings and legislative
23	processes for bills passing for public safety-related
24	Council committees and other things, which could
25	justify creating separate rules for that subject

1 matter.

Our analysis of over 1,700 local laws reveals that public safety legislation received similar public input opportunities than other laws on other issues. No major differences were found in the time it takes for public safety bill to receive a public hearing, the time it takes to be approved by a committee, or the overall time it takes from introduction to Council approval.

Public safety bills are passed under the same timeframes as other bills. In fact, public safety bills often receive more time for public input. On average, public safety bills took 292 days from introduction to Council overrule, compared to 280 days for other bills.

63 percent of local laws passed by the Committee on public safety waited more than three months between public hearings and approval, compared to only 52 percent of local laws passed in other committees.

Put simply, public safety legislation is not at a disadvantage compared with other issues when it comes to the time given for public input. Second, public safety is difficult to define, and any Charter requirement that applies to legislation

pertaining	to	publ:	ic sa	fety (	coul	Ld	spur	ongoing	
litigation	on	what	qual	ifies	as	pu	blic	safety,	further
complicatin	ng t	the le	egisla	ative	act	Ξ.			

Third, lawmaking and all policy matters of citywide importance requires working with City agencies, experts, labor unions, and impacted communities, so any improvements in public input opportunities should apply to all legislative matters. Public safety should not be singled out of other citywide policy matters such as education, transportation, or the environment.

Citizens Union has been a strong advocate for greater public input and transparency in the legislative process and recommended reforms to the City Council rules to advance those goals before every new term. For example, we have urged the Council to extend public notice of community meetings to at least seven days before the meeting date instead of the current 72 hours, making bill aging transparent and revamping the e-mail notification systems.

To the extent that such general improvements are needed, they should be made by changing the rules of the City Council, which allows more flexibility rather than in trying -- constitution.

1	In regards to amending the Charter
2	requirements on physical impact assessments, Citizens
3	Union does not support the proposal to amend the City
4	Charter to require fiscal impact assessments to be
5	produced earlier in the legislative process and
6	involve additional agencies. We acknowledge that
7	there are problems with the way fiscal impact
8	assessments are produced. However, we believe
9	improvements to fiscal impact assessments should not
10	be made through the City Charter. Hereto, we
11	recommend that improvement to the process be made
12	through the rules of the Council which govern the
13	inner workings of the Council.
14	In addition, we are concerned about
15	involving outside agencies in an element of the
16	legislative task, because it could give veto power
17	over the process to executive agencies and lead to
18	more delays in lawmaking.
19	We take no position on the other
20	proposals in the Commission's preliminary report, and
21	we thank you all for the time today.
22	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions from
23	our Commissioners?
24	MR. BRAGG: Yeah thank you for your
25	testimony. I am looking through your written

	Page 67
1	testimony here, and it states that there was maybe
2	I'm qualifying this wrong ample public interest for
3	some of the legislation that the Council had put
4	forth. Is that accurate?
5	MR. DUJARDIN: Yes, that's kind of
6	accurate.
7	MR. BRAGG: So my question is, how much
8	of the input came from those people responsible to
9	implement these laws, like correction officers, people
10	who are actually on the ground, in the field doing the
11	work? Have you heard from those professionals about
12	how that impacts their work and their lives, and
13	actually particularly with those people that are
14	responsive to the task?
15	MR. DUJARDIN: Sure, absolutely. So
16	our comment on the process of the Charter so far, this
17	Charter Revision Commission process, has been that it
18	is being a little bit too rushed to fully examine the
19	Charter, and we, therefore, didn't have the time to
20	look into that.
21	We, for example or not for
22	example just as a reminder, looked at over 1,700
23	bills that were enacted over a ten-year period. So if
24	we were given more time to really, really, really dive
25	in, in which case I imagine that would be a very

lengthy process -- that would take years to figure out how many people testified at those hearings -- we could maybe look into that. But we don't have that timeframe right now.

MR. BRAGG: Okay. The reason I ask is because I believe it was Staten -- or Brooklyn when we had heard testimony from some of the unions who said they were not included in some of those hearings, and their voices were not heard.

And so I'm asking you if there was any effort to include them in these hearings as you were -- as they've been ready to produce this new legislation that's already out and passed, by the way, by the Council.

MR. DUJARDIN: Of course. Again, we would be really interested in that information as well, but we don't have the time to dive into it. And we are assuredly open to other people diving into that type of research as well.

MR. BRAGG: Okay. Thank you. Again, my only concern is that the general public might not have the same both experience or knowledge about, you know, the impact as these professionals, and I think their voices might -- and so I would just say that we cannot skip, you know, that process.

	Page 69
1	MR. DUJARDIN: We're surely advocating
2	not to skip those voices.
3	MR. BRAGG: Thank you.
4	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Commissioner Adams.
5	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: Yes. Thank you for
6	coming. It's so important that we have these
7	hearings. But just for information, you know, myself
8	and my colleague, I think Stephanie, we went down to
9	public to testify at one of the public hearings
10	that the City Council had that we wanted to
11	testify. We heard that it was an open hearing, that
12	we could come in with the public. And we were told we
13	were not allowed to testify. So public was not
14	allowed.
15	And what is so important is we need all
16	our voices heard. And so I'm glad to see that you're
17	here to hear that you did not we should've been
18	able to testify. So I just want that for the record,
19	that you should know it was not open to the public.
20	So that's a very important thing to know.
21	So moving forward, hopefully the public
22	will be able to go downtown to these Council hearings,
23	to any hearings and be able to testify.
24	MR. DUJARDIN: Thank you for that
25	information. Regardless of what takes place during a

	Page 70
1	public hearing, the public can reach out, and they
2	have ample time to do so. The data shows that the
3	bills that were quoted as the reason behind the
4	proposal to add more public input to the public safety
5	bills, particularly the How Many Stops Act and the ban
6	on solitary confinement
7	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Excuse me. I don't
8	want a debate. I asked the Commissioners to respond.
9	Commissioner Adams did respond on what was taking
10	place. And, again, I say I appreciate you taking the
11	time to come to Harlem to educate us today.
12	Any more questions from any
13	Commissioners? Any of the Commissioners on Zoom?
14	Thank you so much.
15	We have someone on Zoom?
16	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No.
17	VICE CHAIR DUKES: No. Okay. Thank
18	you so much.
19	MR. DUJARDIN: And apologies. I did
20	not mean to questions
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you for
22	submitting this to us, because we as I said, I've
23	read your first one, and thank you so much.
24	MR. DUJARDIN: Thank you.
25	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay. It is

## Public Hearing

	Page 71
1	Harlem's own former assemblymember, Keith T.L. Wright.
2	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: L.T.
3	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Hallelujah. Would
4	you come forth, Mr. Wright?
5	MR. K. WRIGHT: Coming, coming,
6	coming.
7	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Take your time.
8	VICE CHAIR DUKES: No, don't take his
9	time.
10	MR. K. WRIGHT: Good evening, everyone.
11	MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Good evening.
12	MR. K. WRIGHT: I would venture to say
13	I know that the assemblyperson elect testified
14	earlier, so this might be the only father and son
15	tandem to testify before the esteemed Charter Revision
16	Commission, ever.
17	So of course I know most of you due to
18	my work, my over 40 years of work in government and
19	politics. It's a pleasure to come before you to share
20	my thoughts on a proposal for nonpartisan elections
21	here in New York City.
22	I speak to you today in my capacity as
23	County leader of the Democratic Party in Manhattan, a
24	position I have held since 2009. I participated in
25	multiple elections over the years as a candidate and

as an administrator here in the City. As someone who understands the process well, I would argue that the current system should remain intact. While imperfections certainly exist, there is room for improvement, it is my firm belief that nonpartisan elections are not the answer.

Political parties help organize the electorate around a shared set of values. Individuals trust the party they identify with to produce candidates that will protect their interests once in office.

Many ordinary New Yorkers don't follow politics with the same fervor as those of us on the inside. They look to their party leadership to help them make informed choices. That gives voters who may be reluctant to participate in an upcoming election due to unfamiliarity a North Star when it comes to cast their ballot. Voters trust the party they identify with to vet candidates on their behalf.

In addition, nonpartisan elections raise concerns about an overcrowded field, drowning out the voices of the most qualified candidates to serve. For example, it is my strong belief that nonpartisan elections would increase the viability of candidates with wealth and fame, and that may not be

the interest of the voter.

And while low voter turnout has been a consistent problem here in the City, I do not believe nonpartisan elections will improve participation. If anything, it will encourage voters -- it will encourage candidates to run, which will result in discouraging voters who feel overwhelmed with trying to differentiate what the different candidates stand for.

In short, political parties make
sense -- in short, political parties help voters make
sense of the laws and policies people live by. They
trust the party, that the party they vote for will
choose candidates who set the right tone for them.
Without political parties, we risk having too many
individuals running for office with too many competing
agendas. That would end up discouraging voter
participation rather than enhancing it.

Finally, only recently adopted ranked choice voting for local elections here in New York City, which was approved by the voters in a particularly low turnout election in 2019. While reformers applaud the new system as a huge step forward, it is my contention that we should have a few more citywide elections under this new system in order

	Page 74
1	to determine whether it is the best methodology for
2	choosing our leadership.
3	Before we adopt yet another major
4	change on how to how elections are fought and won,
5	we should study more closely how ranked choice voting
6	did or did not further empower voters. Reform,
7	particularly of the progressive variety, should always
8	be entertained and considered, but we must also
9	evaluate the results to determine its level of success
10	before adopting additional reforms that have not yet
11	been tested in this City.
12	Thank you very much.
13	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you very much.
14	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you.
15	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Kyle?
16	MR. BRAGG: I just wanted to make
17	sure but I just wanted to get your opinion again.
18	It's been testified before this Commission that
19	nonpartisan voting would increase voting turnout, and
20	you just testified that you don't assign to that
21	theory; is that accurate?
22	MR. K. WRIGHT: I do not. Yes, I want
23	to be perfectly clear. I do not think that
24	nonpartisan elections would enhance voter turnout.
25	MR. BRAGG: Thank you. And I also

	Page 75
1	heard you say that it would be good to understand the
2	impact of ranked choice voting
3	MR. K. WRIGHT: Yeah.
4	MR. BRAGG: before we move on to
5	another change in the voting system.
6	MR. K. WRIGHT: Absolutely. I mean we
7	still the jury is still out on what ranked choice
8	votings are. Listen, right here in Harlem, we had an
9	election of a City Council person which, quite
10	frankly, was an accident. It was an accident. All
11	right? The incumbent ran and won on the first ballot.
12	But then with the ranked choice voting, we had I
13	think the person that was number three came in, and
14	that person won. And, quite frankly, it didn't seem
15	like it was the will of the people, but it was adhered
16	to.
17	MR. BRAGG: And I recall that I'm
18	sorry. Just real quick.
19	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Oh, I'm sorry.
20	MR. BRAGG: I recall also that it was
21	the same theory that ranked choice voting would
22	increase voter turnout, and I don't see that as
23	MR. K. WRIGHT: I don't see it, either.
24	I don't see it, either. I don't see it, either.
25	MR. BRAGG: Okay. I just wanted to get

	Page 76
1	your opinion
2	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Commissioner Rose?
3	MR. K. WRIGHT: No, no, that is my
4	opinion.
5	MR. ROSE: It's nice to see you, sir.
6	I'm a big fan. I guess I want to put you slightly on
7	the hot seat here.
8	MR. K. WRIGHT: I thought I was sitting
9	on it already.
10	MR. ROSE: You know, I think many of us
11	share your feeling about nonpartisan elections. But
12	the notion of first-past-the-post elections has become
13	a bit of a bad cause.
L <b>4</b>	MR. K. WRIGHT: First pass the what?
15	MR. ROSE: First-past-the-post
16	MR. K. WRIGHT: I don't know what that
17	is.
18	MR. ROSE: the notion of elections
19	where the top two winners in the primary, irrespective
20	of their party affiliation, would face off in the
21	general election. That's what's it currently
22	happens in California; i.e., let's make general
23	elections actually of significance in New York City.
24	And I wanted to gauge your thoughts on
25	that. Parties would still be of significance, but the

	Page 77
1	general electorate would actually become much more
2	significant in New York City.
3	MR. K. WRIGHT: And, Congressman, this
4	is the first I'm hearing about first-past-the-post.
5	And you said it's being done in California? It can
6	stay in California.
7	I do believe I do believe that they
8	do actually have they actually have nonpartisan
9	elections in San Francisco. It ain't working out
10	there, either, from what I've heard. So keep it in
11	California.
12	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Keep everything
13	in California.
14	MR. K. WRIGHT: Keep it all in
15	California.
16	MR. ROSE: It's always fun to see up
17	close the accounts of a politician. That was a great
18	line. Thank you. Thank you, sir. It's wonderful to
19	see you.
20	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any other comments?
21	What about the Commissioners on Zoom?
22	MS. MCGRAW: Yeah, yes
23	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you,
24	Mr. Wright.
25	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Wait, wait.

	Page 78
1	We've got one more.
2	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Oh, I'm sorry.
3	MS. MCGRAW: Yes. Hello, Mdm. Chair.
4	Thank you so much. It's just an honor
5	to hear your testimony. And I think, you know, it's
6	very important for our people to come out, because
7	that ranked choice voting was put in front of one of
8	these Charters, and it got on the ballot. And it got
9	on the ballot because we were not coming out and
10	getting information and turning over the ballot to
11	vote on what we thought was best.
12	So it is important that we come out and
13	get educated to get this information about this ranked
14	choice voting and some of the other things that was
15	brought up in your testimony. So thank you very much.
16	MR. K. WRIGHT: Thank you. I'm glad
17	you're having this at the Schomburg. I was told that
18	if I didn't make it out to Staten Island, I would miss
19	my opportunity.
20	VICE CHAIR DUKES: I wonder who told
21	you that?
22	MR. K. WRIGHT: Thank you very much.
23	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you,
24	County Chair.
25	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Our next presenter

	Page 79
1	will be Garry Johnson, Chair of the New York State
2	NAACP Economic Development.
3	Mr. Johnson.
4	MR. G. JOHNSON: Good evening, Vice
5	Chair Dr. Dukes, Commissioners. It's always difficult
6	coming after the esteemed former Assemblyman Keith
7	L.T. Wright.
8	My name is Garry Johnson. I am
9	testifying today as the New York State Chair for
10	Economic Development in reference to the proposal to
11	have an MWBE agency.
12	The NAACP has 15 branches in the
13	metropolitan region, and we represent thousands of
14	members of all ethnicities, while specifically
15	focusing on the rights and opportunities of people of
16	color.
17	It's been over ten years since the
18	enactment of local law 1, which established the
19	Minority- and Women-Owned Business Enterprise Program
20	in New York City. According to the City's own data,
21	in 2023 the City awarded \$1.42 billion worth of MWBE
22	contracts, which represents 27.9 percent of contract
23	values subject to the local law.
24	However, in the same fiscal year, the
25	City procured over \$41.1 billion of goods and

services, which means the amount spent on	MWBEs
compared to the total spend was less than	3.5 percent.
And note that the 1.42 billion is divided	among women-
owned firms as well as Black, Latino, and	Asian firms.

Looked at another way, \$39.7 billion out of 41.1 billion was spent, according to the latest census data, on our diversity, which is 31 percent white, 29 percent Latino, 23 percent African-American, and about 14 percent Asian. In simplest terms, 96.5 percent of contract awards went to group -- went to a group that represents 31 percent of the City's demographics.

While the Adams Administration has taken tremendous steps to bring more equity and opportunities for Black and Brown people then arguably any previous administration, the City's onerous and slow procurement process still creates considerable delays that hinder the ability of its vendors and specifically MWBEs to get paid on time.

Many of us here have heard repeated stories of vendors who often wait months, six months, a year or even more to get paid for services they have provided on behalf of the City. While that has been improving as of late, it still causes a tremendous strain on many of these organizations, as they are

forced to borrow to cover cash flow or triage their own expenses, and makes it extremely difficult to pay, sustain, and grow their businesses.

The current mayoral and control administrations created a capital reform task force in 2022 to develop critical reforms needed to address components of capital contracting systems. Many recommendations remain, including improving the project pipeline, streamlining approvals, progressive design build, and in terms of MWBE participation, growing the number of New Yorkers who can participate.

That last point, growing the number of New Yorkers who can participate, is, in my opinion, a key feature that requires increased access to information. Most New Yorkers do not know that the City budget is \$112 billion. Never mind that 41 billion in contracts was spent last year. And I think it would be -- I think most would be appalled to know that only 3.5 percent in total went to minority-and women-owned firms.

An MWBE agency may be a good idea, but I believe the following elements are key to the success of such an agency: awareness, information, opportunity, payment reform, and accountability/enforcement.

A public awareness campaign on
television and social media so that the general public
can know what we budget, what we spend, and how those
contracts have been historically distributed would be
important. If the public saw a pie chart of MWBE
contracts versus total contracting spend, I believe
they would be shocked and demand changes to the
system.

Awareness would lead to greater access to information. As recommended by other task forces, agencies need to do a better job of sharing information regarding upcoming contract opportunities. And I know there have been efforts made and are in process to do so.

But next comes opportunity. We must unshackle minority-owned firms and give them the opportunities to obtain more contracts, demonstrating their capabilities and thereby expanding their capacities.

The payment reform is mandatory. It is one thing to award a contract, but payments must be made in a timely manner. Otherwise, it negatively affects both the ability of the award need to perform as well as their willingness to perform and participate in the future.

Accountability and enforcement is the final but arguably most important feature. Agencies and agency staff must be held accountable for not achieving their goals and not increasing opportunities for MWBE firms.

In summation, I believe that while an MWBE agency may have value, the ability to track contract awards already exist through various systems. An MWBE agency, should it be created, must be provisioned with all the tools needed for measurable success. It must be able to implement public awareness, information, access to opportunity campaigns, and implement payment reform, and be empowered to demand real accountability and enforcement for agencies that do not meet their targets.

New York City's diverse population deserves equity and government contracting, and its public demands that. Thank you for this time.

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Any questions from our Commissioners?

MR. BRAGG: Thank you. In our hearing that we conducted in lower Manhattan at the firehouse, we didn't even hear tonight Mr. Garner, but he did make note that payment reform, expediting payment was

part of the mission of -- part of the mission of the agency that would be created, which is extremely important, as you had articulated, and all the reasons why. And then agency oversight. He did testify to that, and that being another very important factor as to why an agency is -- an actual MWBE agency is necessary. Because they sit in their silos, and there's no oversight and no one that monitors how these MWBE contracts are distributed.

And so I just wanted to make that statement to you, because we did hear testimony from that from Mr. Garner downtown.

MR. G. JOHNSON: Yeah, I thank you for that. I am aware of that. The points I'm trying to make are rather simple. We have some great folks in government who are doing some really good things. That having been said, this is 2024. We've been having this conversation year over year over decade over decade. And to look at a total spend as it is as per the City's data, it is in my opinion and the opinion of the folks that we represent that the City must do more.

I think the City is committed to doing more, but I think there has to be the public awareness of what the levels are, because I do not think that

	rage 65
1	the public knows. Because frankly, if the public
2	knew, I don't think they would stand for it. And I
3	think that would give the impetus to our government
4	officials who are trying to do the right thing to give
5	them the accountability and enforcement provisions
6	they need to allow these agencies to be a little bit
7	more accepting, modify their procurement practices,
8	get the right people in there, whatever the case may
9	be. But it has to be a whole of government approach,
10	but the community has to be involved as well.
11	MR. BRAGG: Thank you.
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any other questions?
13	From Commissioners on Zoom?
14	Thank you very much, Mr. Johnson, for
15	coming to Harlem and enlightening us on what it is by
16	giving statistic information. Thank you so much.
17	MR. G. JOHNSON: Thank you.
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: We will now hear
19	from Mr. Keaton Morris.
20	MR. MORRIS: Good evening, Commission.
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Good evening.
22	MR. MORRIS: I just want to first say
23	thank you for the opportunity to come and testify.
24	I'm going to just speak very briefly. I'm not going to
25	be long. Just try to keep myself on track by just

writing these down.

So I'm testifying on behalf of the MWBE agency. I want to first off by saying that the initiative to centralize MWBE contracting opportunities is a long time coming. As the product of an MWBE firm started by my father in 1994, it's encouraging to hear this proposed Commission change to incorporate a centralized MWBE platform. I believe this platform will give many MWBE firms the ability to obtain government contracts and inevitably develop their communities in the process.

While I'm running the firm that my father started in 1994, I was able to start a mentor-intern program to facilitate juniors and seniors in high school who are interested in pursuing a career in architecture, engineering, and construction engineering.

I believe it's critical that the centralized program be approved, because it allows for so many opportunities for MWBE firms, their families, and their communities to become financially stabilized, thus resulting in positive impacts in their community's development and infrastructure. I believe a centralized program would create a more stable, accountable agency that would make the process

	Page 8/
1	of procurement transparent and efficient. The system
2	will force accountability and promote the growth of
3	more prosperous minority communities in the process.
4	This will also eliminate the underutilization of MWBE
5	firms.
6	Although we have made significant
7	strides over the last 20 years, we have only scratched
8	the surface. A new dedicated agency will help to
9	eliminate disparities between MWBE and non-MWBE
10	entities performing City contracts. And based on what
11	Mr. Johnson previously said, there is a huge
12	disparity, as you know it is, facts. And creating
13	this centralized agency will definitely allow for
14	better growth and prosperity of minority communities
15	and community as a whole.
16	Any questions?
17	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No. Thank you.
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Mr. Morris, you
19	didn't tell us your company. You said you and your
20	dad
21	MR. MORRIS: Oh, I'm sorry. Sorry. My
22	company is KW Tech Corp. It was started in 1994 by my
23	father Samuel Watts, and that's a whole story in and
24	of itself. But we've been around for 30 years. We
25	work primarily with the New York City School

	Page 88
1	Construction Authority. Michael Garner was pretty
2	much the mastermind of the MWBE program there, and
3	we've taken, you know, a lot of things from that
4	program, and we were able to implement a lot of things
5	that we can help in, even in the communities that we
6	have our office in.
7	And, you know, just being able to
8	impact younger people, minorities, just wanting to do
9	the work in the contractor world, so thank you.
10	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you and
11	congratulations, yes, for staying the course and did
12	not let your dad's legacy die.
13	We will now hear from Mr. Jimmy Pan. I
14	hope I pronounced your name correctly. Thank you.
15	MR. PAN: Good evening,
16	Commissioners
17	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Good evening.
18	MR. PAN: and all members of the
19	public. I'm Jimmy Pan I had the pleasure of
20	serving on the staff of the most recent Charter
21	Revision Commission, the 2021 New York City Racial
22	Justice Commission. I served as policy director and
23	special counsel. I played a leading role in the
24	research and design of three ballot measures that
25	embedded justice and equity in the central structure

of City government, synthesizing thousands of ideas that I've heard from the public, much like we are all doing now.

Voters overwhelmingly approve these measures, and I returned to the Mayor's office for a year to stand up these amendments. And before that I served in City Hall for many years in a legal capacity.

I'm here independently. I'm not speaking on behalf of any affiliated body. And I'm honored to share my experience in Charter change and City governance with you all tonight. I have two brief suggestions and two significant warnings.

My first suggestion: Honor the preamble of the Charter. You all should read closely the preamble of the New York City Charter. And then as you contemplate what proposed amendments to put before voters, you should measure those proposed amendments against the values of the City preamble. It's the very first page of the New York City Constitution. It provides broad and visionary guidance to City government so that it can truly serve the interest of New Yorkers, especially those communities that have been historically marginalized and oppressed.

The City's Preamble represents three foundational values, and all government policies and programs should be designed to advance one of those foundational values, at least. First, justly value all talents and contributions. Second, ensure the conditions are thriving for every person in New York City. Thirdly, embrace vigilance, remedy, and reconstruction.

Soon you all will need to discern which potential amendments are worthy of the time and study of New York City voters, and you should use this preamble and these values as a rubric. Voters have already stated that they want their government to uphold these values by voting overwhelmingly for this preamble, so please let it serve as your guide.

Second suggestion is bolster accountability bodies in the Charter. You all should amend the City Charter to strengthen the many independent accountability bodies. New Yorkers voted these bodies into law to provide oversight on their behalf. Mayor Eric Adams recently said as part of a separate fight with City Council that people should know who they blame. And it's these oversight agencies that actually allow New Yorkers to know who to blame for what.

This present Commission has declared an
overarching goal of transparency. But the most
important source of transparency in our Charter is
these oversight agencies, including the IBO,
Independent Budget Office; the Equal Employment
Practices Commission, EEPC; the City Commission on
Human Rights, CCHR; and the newly voted in Commission
on Racial Equity, CORE.

I reviewed the interim report and suggest that the Commission should do much more to take seriously its mission of transparency. During the 2021 Charter Revision Commission, I spoke with every oversight body in the City, and they all had the same structural issues. Their funding is unstable and insufficient. Their staffing is not guaranteed. And they need to fight for the very data from those same agencies they're supposed to oversee. If we believe in genuine structural transparency, we need to solve these problems in the City Charter.

In our final report, we made several recommendations. Given this Commission's stated commitment to transparency, I strongly recommend you all and your very able staff review those recommendations.

So I hope these two suggestions are

helpful, and I hope my next two warnings are taken seriously. I do believe this Commission is in danger of potentially repeating detrimental legal and structural history.

So my first warning, do not shackle government. The interim report contemplates requiring completion of financial and economic impact analysis before the Council can pass major legislation. And I would say this is an old idea that is on the wrong side of democratic governance. It is a subtle danger.

In the 1970s and '80s, Presidents Nixon and Reagan championed legislative financial analysis as a checkpoint on policymaking. They knew the practice looked like common sense but that they could nevertheless use it to halt government. As you all know, government was beginning to protect Americans from pollution, environmental hazards, industrial accidents, corporate excess, and other dangers. And these presidents need to gut government's ability to regulate without the public fully seeing how.

Decades later we are finally getting a fuller picture of how they neutered government. The Supreme Court of the United States has been working steadily in recent years to decimate government's ability to protect us. The Roberts Court has tried to

hide its handiwork, but the public will come to understand that the Court's work, such as demolishing the Chevron doctrine and the creation of the so-called Major Questions Doctrine, these are going to jeopardize the futures of communities and families.

These far right judges have used the New York Constitutional Law to finish the work of the Nixon and Reagan administrations. They are shackling the ability of government, and we will feel those effects for generations.

all to not even tiptoe on that side of history. See with clear eyes the tides of concerted effort moving to enfeeble government. We need government to get more things done than ever before. There's no reason this Commission and these esteemed Commissioners should want their legacy to be part of an antiregulatory history.

The modern day thinking is that government should instead be measuring how its policies and its spending impact the people. Are these services distributed fairly? How do their budgets help close the long-standing gaps that were created by centuries of unjust policy? These are really the prime questions of today and the questions

that	we	tried	to	resolve	at	the	Racial	Justice
Comm	issi	ion.						

New Yorkers do want transparency into how their government is helping or harming communities. Most New Yorkers are living day-to-day in the failure of government to create the conditions of true economic stability and dignity. What we do not need is an additional layer of bureaucracy, especially not one that mainly hinders government from responding quickly.

Financial analysis does not make decisions more fair or just. It does not answer the question of how we empower disempowered communities. And most of the time, it does not even stop decisionmakers from eventually advancing whichever policies it is they want to advance. Its primary function in the course of American history has been to create a bottleneck, and it would be even worse of an imposture of prior agreement from the Mayor, the Council, and the Independent Budget Office, three bodies with divergent priorities.

In governing, we should not frontload too many requirements and barriers. We can and should study policies after the fact to determine which ones are unjust in practice or financially unsound in

	Page 95
1	reality. But in 2021, I and the Commission did not
2	hear New Yorkers asking us to encumber government, nor
3	do I hear calls for that now.
4	My second warning, and I'll be
5	quick I implore you all not to disturb the balance
6	of powers in City government. As Mayor Adams has
7	recognized, we already have a strong mayor system in
8	New York City. I believe this Commission should not
9	propose changes that hamper the power of counsel in
10	its fundamental lawmaking duties, whether in public
11	safety or to any other area.
12	On June 4th, Deputy Mayor Torres-
13	Springer stated, "There's a careful balance
14	constructed between the powers of the legislative and
15	executive branch. The reason is that we need to
16	ensure the delivery of services for New Yorkers, that
17	there's clarity, that there's accountability, and that
18	there's smooth functioning of government. Because
19	fundamentally, that is what this is about."
20	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Mr. Pan, we are over
21	your time. And can you wrap up now?
22	MR. PAN: I'll wrap up quickly.
23	Because her visions are a tremendous
24	and sacred opportunity for New Yorkers, I do not think
25	this Commission should so easily drag New Yorkers into

	Page 96						
1	the balance of powers disputes. New Yorkers want to						
2	see big changes to the trajectory of our lives, and we						
3	want to know that government is securing the future						
4	for our children and for our grandchildren. And if we						
5	say that inner branch circles are the most vital issue						
6	before voters, we're eroding their trust in the weight						
7	of Charter Revision Commissions and eroding their						
8	trust in the seriousness of government.						
9	We already see many power grabs						
10	happening at the national level, and they shock the						
11	conscience.						
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Mr. Pan						
13	MR. PAN: You should review						
14	VICE CHAIR DUKES: do you have a						
15	written statement?						
16	MR. PAN: I'll be glad to send it to						
17	you all.						
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Will you give it to						
19	our staff, please						
20	MR. PAN: Absolutely.						
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: so we can						
22	thoroughly read it? But your time is up.						
23	MR. PAN: Absolutely. Okay.						
24	MR. DIAZ: I have a question.						
25	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay.						

	Page 97
1	MR. DIAZ: You say for us you want
2	for us to be sure that we don't upset the balance of
3	power.
4	MR. PAN: Yes.
5	MR. DIAZ: Do you believe that if the
6	City Council is one's consent
7	MR. PAN: Yes.
8	MR. DIAZ: does that disturb the
9	balance of power?
10	MR. PAN: Yes. And in the 2019
11	Commission that was created by the City Council, that
12	Commissions sought to do that. I disagreed with them.
13	I helped push back the ultimately they drew it
14	back, which I think was a great decision. But, yes, I
15	would oppose it on this side or that side.
16	MR. DIAZ: Thank you.
17	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any other questions?
18	Commissioners on Zoom? Very interesting. Would you
19	please give staff your written statement so we can all
20	get it?
21	MR. PAN: Absolutely. Thank you all
22	for your time.
23	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you.
24	Ms. Adrienne Felton.
25	MS. FELTON: Mme. Chair and fellow

Commissioners, good evening	. I want to thank you all
for being here, and thank yo	ou for allowing me to
speak.	

I join the voices of those who have beseeched you to support the creation of an MWBE agency in New York City. The reasons have been well-stated by Assemblymember and Commission Garner.

I would ask that there is a push, you know, not just for the new contracts but the current contracts with this new system to be audited thoroughly and reviewed to ensure that they are true MWBEs and not in the name of the wives or someone else who may be running it.

I'm sure you guys followed that.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We got you.

MS. FELTON: Okay. And that the services are truly being provided. Although previous administrations have the support of MWBEs, the small contractors have been lost out, and the larger contractors usually take over. And a good example of that would be in childcare. You will have what we call "the big boys" who will get all the contract for the children, and the small person, like maybe those persons who are running houses of worship and have childcare within their facilities, their contracts

were not renewed under the previous administration.
And I don't know what, if anything, could happen, but
I really would like for that somehow to be a part of
this agency to vet those situations, to make sure that
the little guy has a space and a place, and not just
these larger, larger contractors taking over the hubs.
And most of them are not even people who look like us,
you know, caring for our children.

Lastly, I wanted to support what

Senator Cleare was saying about affordable housing.

Here's my whole stack of -- we have a functioning

lottery system. I don't know whatever you guys could
do about that. But the current lottery system is

laughable.

And I know that the AMI situation is a federal one, but, you know, we have poverty pockets here, especially in communities like ours where you'll have a larger amount of people making this money, but those poverty pockets, they are not being recognized when these balance of what's affordable is at play. So if there could be some type of exegesis in terms of what is really being made in those areas, so when the affordable housing is being built, it's reflective of those persons who are here.

Quite frankly, I think that this was

	Page 100
1	arbitrary, because you guys know this. All these
2	storage facilities came out in our neighborhoods, them
3	knowing that you're going to get kicked out, and
4	you're going to need some place to put your stuff. So
5	this was not from my vantage point anything that
6	happened by chance.
7	Thank you.
8	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Do we
9	have a written do you have a written report for us?
10	MS. FELTON: I'll e-mail it. I'll
11	e-mail it to you.
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: E-mail it to us.
13	Let me say in the interest of time, my
14	time, I will get you a little sign over here that it's
15	going over. But I must adhere to it now, because we
16	want to hear from everyone and just taking the time to
17	come out. So we ask you to adhere to three minutes.
18	And if you do not have your report
19	tonight that you gave it to Sam, please, because all
20	of you are raising very, very important issues before
21	us. And we have much more work to do.
22	We will be back in other boroughs,
23	Staten Island tomorrow. And we have a lot of reading
24	to do.
25	MR. DIAZ: And the Bronx

Page 101 1 VICE CHAIR DUKES: And the Bronx. 2 We'll get down to the Bronx -- I think I've been to 3 boogie down three times already. Had to fight to get 4 here. 5 But those of you who are going to testify, will you give us your written report, because 6 we've got to stick to the three minutes now. Thank 7 8 you so much. Ms. Marily Galfin. I hope I said your 9 10 name correctly. 11 MS. GALFIN: Yes, that's right. That's 12 correct. 13 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. 14 MS. GALFIN: Thank you. 15 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Have you been with 16 us before? 17 MS. GALFIN: No, my first time. I'm a 18 newbie. 19 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay. Wonderful. 20 Thank you. 21 MS. GALFIN: Good to see you all. 22 Thank you. Good evening, Commission. My name is 23 Marilyn Galfin, founder of Voices for Shelter Animals. 24 I am advocating for the creation of a Department of 25 Animal Welfare to replace the Department of Health

from overseeing the New York City Animal Care Centers. The DOH is not concerned with the welfare of shelter animals. They're only concerned with people's health and only intervene if an animal is a threat to them. The division overseeing the ACC is the Bureau of Veterinary and Pest Control Services, whose name reflects their view on animals.

In 2013 then-controller Scott Stringer and the legislative court said, "The root of the problem is structural. ACC is overseen by the Department of Mental Health and Hygiene, an agency whose mission and expertise has not sufficiently focused on animal welfare."

Right now there's an unprecedented homeless animal crisis. The DOH and the City are not handling it as such. This is a state of emergency. Shelters are over capacity. These animals need overflow space and money and humane care.

Rescues, advocates, shelters workers are overwhelmed and burned out. There are pop-up crates in the hallways. Dogs sit in cages all day and hardly get walked. If they get kennel stress and start to injure themselves, they're put on the at-risk list, which is basically a kill list. This is not fair or just. Animals come into the shelters healthy

and are getting deathly ill. Then the burden is put on the rescue partners to save them.

Rescues cannot afford to keep paying high vet costs for the animals that the shelter got sick in the first place. The Manhattan shelter is not fit to house animals humanely. There's still no state-of-the-art shelters in all five boroughs under the DOH control.

ACC still uses behavior assistance proven by experts in veterinary behavior are ineffective, making animals appear as dangerous or not adoptable, simply because the animals are traumatized and not adapting to their horrific environment. It's not the animals' fault or problem. It's the shelter. And animals shouldn't pay with their lives, including 12-month-old adoptable puppies being killed.

Some animals are getting what is believed to be too high doses of stress-reducing drugs. The DOH is not concerned. Under DOH oversight there's no transparency or accountability of the ACC. They continue to shortchange shelter, and the ACC over the years has had orders citing inhumane care and received -- report with similar deficiencies in the last two controller reports.

In 2019 the DOH gave ACC an

unprecedented 34 -- \$1.4 billion contract for the Queens shelter, limiting public input and no chance for open bidding.

The DOH is not effective in their enforcement of dog licensing mandates, costing millions of dollars of potential revenue that could subsidize spaying, neutering, and other lifesaving services.

The people and the animals of the City need and deserve a Department of Animal Welfare whose only focus is on animal issues; an entity with enforcement powers, experience in animal welfare, and vested interest in ensuring humane care and a progressive vision to do away with the accepted status quo of killing for population control, but instead adhere to no kill policies.

Companion animals provide unconditional love and are vital to many people's lives. This department could focus on solutions to help people keep their pets out of the kill shelters by funding more pet food pantries, affordable space --

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Ms. Galfin -- your time is done.

MS. GALFIN: Yeah. okay. The department could combat backyard breeding, address

Page 104

	Page 105
1	animal abandonment, and has spiraled out of control
2	with people leaving helpless animals to fend for
3	themselves, and address community cat crises, cruel
4	carriage laws industry, wet markets, dogfighting,
5	humane
6	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Can you give us this
7	now in
8	MS. GALFIN: Yeah, and this is the last
9	sentence. Killing adoptable animals is a social
10	justice issue. It's time the City protects the
11	shelter animals.
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Thank
13	you. You must wrap it up and give it to the staff in
14	writing.
15	MS. GALFIN: Yes. And I have
16	supporting testimonies. It is time that the City
17	looks at animals as the sentient beings they are. And
18	they're probably the only person that's going to be
19	speaking up for this, but this is critical, as animals
20	play an important role of many New Yorkers who are
21	being senselessly killed don't have to be killed
22	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you so much.
23	MS. GALFIN: Thank you so much for
24	giving me the opportunity. I appreciate it. Thank
25	you.

	Page 106
1	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Is there anyone
2	else?
3	MS. BREWER: Yes, and going to
4	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. The
5	woman that I have the privilege to serve under, the
6	former borough president of Manhattan, City
7	councilmember Gayle Brewer. All the time in
8	Manhattan
9	MS. BREWER: Thank you very much,
10	Mme. Community Board Member and many other things. I
11	know that you nobody else is Hazel Dukes.
12	So I'm Gale Brewer, representing the
13	Upper West side, parts of Clinton, and all of Central
14	Park in the Council. I want to start by saying that I
15	have some experience with Charter Commissions with
16	Letitia James when she was and I was the borough
17	president. In 2018 and 2019 we put together what I
18	would say is a more diverse, because it was
19	representative of the people who were president,
20	mayor, council, controller, public advocate. And that
21	was the Commission that came out with, you'll think
22	ironically, that the advice and consent for the
23	corporation counsel, and it had both consensus from
24	Staten Island representative and the borough president
25	of Brooklyn Frig Adams. Ho was represented by Sal

A	1	b	а	n	e	s	e	

So there is a better system for doing, in my opinion, than two months to make these really important decisions, which is what Mayor Adams is doing today. But I will say Mayor de Blasio did the same thing. Right after we came up with this -- and I will send this to you; it's a much longer version -- Commission, Mayor Adams came up with his own Commission. Same idea -- I mean Mayor de Blasio. And all that came out of that was the Civic Engagement Commission. I know it exists. I know there are people who work there. But I must admit, I think it's a waste of money. So do other people. I tried to keep it off the ballot, but I lost. So these Commissions need to have more diversity, in my opinion.

I do think it's bit of a power grab, taking -- trying to take from the City Council this Commission and what it's doing. There is a lot of -- there are a lot of issues. One of them is public safety. And I know that the Mayor doesn't like the intro local law 43, which talks about reporting on common and low level accounting. But I went out with the police, and the biggest issue was the amount of paperwork they have to fill out, not that they have to

fill it out. So public safety is important, but I do think that it should not be discussed in this type of a forum.

As the Mayor has said, the public is not safe if they don't perceive themselves to be safe. And TCRB, that came out of a 1989 -- excellent suggestion from the 1989 Commission. But their recommendations are being ignored by the police commissioner more now than in the past. That is a breach that undermines public safety as well as faith in government. So that's a bigger issue, I think, than what you're discussing today.

Second, you talk about fiscal impact statements. Again, in my opinion, trying to take information from the City Council and make it something that's not just the purview of the City Council. But guess what? There's something called unit of appropriation. That's basically what is in the budget program. And what you need to do is to have very big breakdowns. They don't always exist.

The corporation counsel has only two.

One is PS, which is basically staff, and the other is

OTPS. That's it. Those are the only two. You have

no idea the programs. And the same thing with

Landmarks Preservation Commission.

And police has the same thing. They have one for operations. It's called appropriations 001 operation. It's millions of dollars with no breakdown. That's what we should be focused on, in my opinion.

I want to talk about some things quickly that I'd like to see dealt with: implementation of local laws, revenue estimates, funding formulas for oversight agencies, transparency at health and hospitals because now they're dealing with migrants. The stretching of landmark buildings should go back to the City Council, not -- they were landmark with the Council. They should go back to that area.

Mayoral appointments and boards and panels, I think should be more representative of other individuals in government. Law department representation and settlements, review the unit of appropriations structure, which I just discussed, make the land use process more representative of community perspectives. Those are some of the issues, as well as the ones that you sort of do in you cleanup. I see Diane Savino all over those good ideas at the end.

But you've got to think in two months you shouldn't, in my opinion, sort of throw the baby

Page 110 1 out with the bathwater and talk about things that 2 could be inconsistent with good government. 3 very much. 4 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions? Any 5 questions from the Commissioners? MR. BRAGG: Thank you --6 7 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you, councilwoman/former borough president of Manhattan. 8 9 Do you have a written report for us? 10 MS. BREWER: I'm going to send it to 11 you. 12 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. 13 Next we have Mr. Adam Roberts. 14 MR. ROBERTS: Thank you, Commissioners, 15 for holding this hearing today, and to the Mayor for 16 convening this Commission. I'm Adam Roberts, policy 17 director for the Community Hazard Improvement Program, also known as CHIP. We represent New York's housing 18 19 providers, including apartment building owners and 20 management. 21 We're here to recommend Charter 22 revisions that would benefit the one million units of 23 rent-stabilized housing in New York City, which makes 24 up 40 percent of rental housing, and the vast majority 25 of affordable housing.

First, we support the proposed changes to the fiscal impact statements. Furthermore, the scope of the fiscal impact statement should be expanded. Currently a fiscal impact statement only evaluates the impasse of legislation on the revenues and expenditures of the City, to quote the Charter. Rather, a fiscal impact statement should also be required to set the financial impasse outside of government.

This is critical as City laws are responsible for the enormous cost for rent-stabilized housing, which cannot legally be recouped, such as local law 11, local law 97, local law 1, and others.

Another important Charter revision would be the creation of Diversion program for New York City Housing Board. For years there's been a massive backlog in Housing Board that has not abated. This forces tenants to spend at least a year in Housing Board, all while accruing increasingly sizable arrears. These arrears are usually paid for by the City through one-shot deals. Unfortunately, there are no options to access these emergency rental arrears grants without having gone through the Housing Board process and being on the verge of eviction.

Spurred by the Biden Administration,

many cities and states have adopted Housing Board diversion programs, which attempt to intervene the landlord-tenant relationship before the court process starts. By providing resources upfront such as prescreening parental assistance, case analysis, mediation specialty, financial counseling, and other benefits, cases can be resolved without draining the court's resources.

These programs are succeeding throughout the country. Nearly every major city has a diversion program except for New York City. From Philadelphia to Chicago, these programs have dramatically improved the experience for tenants and owners who are dealing with rent arrears.

Furthermore, these programs reduce the significant staffing and financial burdens placed on the courts and local governments to deal with rent arrears.

Lastly, while the City is in the early stages of re-examining its Facade Inspection Program, we recommend that the Commission spur this process along faster. Local law 11 is overly burdensome and unpopular with the public. The Commission should examine leaks to the Facade Inspection Program, in particular, the period between inspections of buildings with facade being safe should be greater

	Page 113
1	than five years, and drones should be allowed to
2	evaluate facade conditions between mandated
3	inspections.
4	These changes would save New Yorkers
5	countless dollars while making the City far more
6	attractive and friendly to pedestrians. It would also
7	reduce a significant burden on the Department of
8	Building staff so that they could focus enforcement on
9	buildings with unsafe facades.
10	We hope you strongly consider these
11	revisions. Again, thank you for holding this hearing
12	today.
13	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Any
14	questions? Do we have any questions on Zoom? Any
15	Commissioners on Zoom have any questions? Hearing
16	none.
17	Everett Perry.
18	MR. PERRY: Hi, everybody. Hi. How
19	are you? I'm going to be so fast right now. You guys
20	are going to love me.
21	Okay. So I'm here to advocate for the
22	MWBE agency. I am a I'm the president of a Black-
23	owned company called Urban Ecospaces. We're a Black-
24	owned business. We are bonded by contractor, and we

are the result of the SCA mentor program that is -- as

well as the MTA mentor program that Michael Garner ran.

My wife and I own this business, and we starting in 2016. We started with four of us, and we have been as many as 130 employees between here and Puerto Rico. We started with \$50,000 in gross revenue, and within three years we were doing eight to nine million dollars. This is, again, as a direct result of these MWBE programs and the School Construction Authority and MTA.

Currently, we are developing an affordable housing project in Staten Island, one of the only, and you might think the only program, the only affordable housing program in Staten Island in the last 20 years. We're developing one- and two-family affordable homes for as low as \$300,000 in 2024. So this is going to break records.

Most of the contractors will be from Staten Island, and we're going to hire locally, and the MWBE participation is going to be as high as 90 percent. So the point of all this is that these programs work. Some people tell you they don't, but they absolutely do.

One of the things that some of the people brought up that's really important is the

	Page 115											
1	payments. So, for example, when we were in Puerto											
2	Rico, the company we were working for said, "Well,											
3	what can you do?"											
4	And we said, "If it pays weekly, we can											
5	do whatever you need." And we did over 600 homes in											
6	nine months in Puerto Rico. And we were working											
7	between I was flying back and forth.											
8	So if you all were to vote on this or											
9	if you were to you know, I say that I'm a product.											
10	This program absolutely works. And if you continue											
11	with putting this together, all the City agencies											
12	under one program, I think it's going to be massively											
13	successful. So I'd encourage everyone to support the											
14	program. Thank you very much.											
15	Any questions?											
16	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you.											
17	MR. PERRY: Thank you.											
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions from											
19	the Commissioners?											
20	Do you have a written statement? If											
21	not, just											
22	MR. PERRY: I don't. I don't.											
23	have a written statement.											
24	VICE CHAIR DUKES: You could submit											
25	it											

# Public Hearing

	Page 116
1	MR. PERRY: But I could submit
2	something, yes.
3	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay.
4	MR. PERRY: Okay. Thank you.
5	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you.
6	Any questions from our Commissioners on
7	Zoom? Hearing none.
8	Our next speaker is Michael Sisitzky.
9	MR. SISITZKY: Close.
10	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Was I close?
11	MR. SISITZKY: You were close, yeah.
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Oh, okay.
13	MR. SISITZKY: Thank you, and good
L <b>4</b>	evening. My name is Michael Sisitzky, Assistant
15	Policy Director for the New York Civil Liberties
16	Union.
17	The NYCLU is deeply concerned with the
18	rushed nature of this Commission, among the shortest
19	in the City's history. The Charter is the City's
20	constitution. It provides the framework for local
21	government, establishes their system of checks and
22	balances. It's the basis for how democracy operates
23	at the local level, and it should be treated with
24	care.
25	I want to respond to suggestions in the

preliminary report that there is somehow not enough process when the City Council enacts laws on public safety. I've been involved in legislative advocacy for the Council for a decade, and let me tell you, it moves slowly.

Take the How Many Stops Act, said the new report, as one of the majors that supposedly moved too fast without sufficient input. That bill was first introduced in December 2021. It was reintroduced in July 2022 and had a nearly five-hour hearing in March 2023, in which the NYPD testified at length, along with members of the public. And it was only voted on in December 2023 after months of negotiations between the Council and the NYPD, who, contrary to assertions that public safety agencies aren't consulted, have a lot of say in how that bill turned out.

They still disagreed with the final bill, but this was the bill that went through a full two years from its first introduction to passage, and whose genesis was actually in community feedback in the years-long joint remedial process that arose in the 2013 stop-and-frisk ruling. To pretend that it was somehow rushed and lacking in input is not accurate.

Today, stop-and-frisk is at its highest reported level since 2015, with racial disparities as bad as they've ever been, and with an unacceptably high number of unconstitutional stops from the NYPD's revived anti-crime movements.

Complaints of police misconduct into the CCRB are at their highest level since 2012. This is not the time to be weakening the already-too-weak mechanisms for police oversight and accountability. And there's no justification for getting special treatment in public safety legislation separate and apart from all the other issues that Council addresses, unless the only purpose is to further insulate agencies like the NYPD from basic transparency and oversight.

But those changes are on the table because the Mayor had a policy agreement with the Council, and because the Council exercised its power as the coequal branch of government to override vetoes.

What kind of message does that send to New Yorkers when administration doesn't get its way through the normal democratic process, simply rewrite the rulebook to change the rules in your favor. That is a dangerous precedent to set.

	Page 119										
1	We're talking about fundamental changes										
2	to the way that the legislative process works in New										
3	York City, and we're talking about those changes on a										
4	much more compressed timeline than pretty much any										
5	public safety bill that has moved through counsel.										
6	There's no good reason to be entertaining proposals										
7	that fundamentally alters our system of checks and										
8	balances and that weaken the legislature's ability to										
9	hold City agencies accountable.										
10	We urge the Commission to not advance										
11	any measures that would do so on this fall's ballot.										
12	Thank you.										
13	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Any										
14	questions from the Commissioners? Any questions from										
15	any Commissioners on Zoom? Hearing none										
16	MR. SISITZKY: And I'll be sending in										
17	written comments as well. Thank you.										
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Excuse me?										
19	MR. SISITZKY: I'll be sending in										
20	written testimony as well.										
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay, please. Thank										
22	you.										
23	Our next speaker is Kai Rosenthal.										

MS. ROSENTHAL: Good evening.

I am Kai Rosenthal, copresident of the League of

you.

24

25

Thank

Women Voters of New York City, and I'd like to reinforce the staff report's recommendation not to alter ranked choice voting.

As a nonpartisan organization of over a hundred years, the League of Women Voters of New York City encourages informed and active citizen participation in government, and influences public policy through advocacy and education. On behalf of the League, I appreciate the opportunity to testify tonight.

implementation of ranked choice voting in New York
City elections, I encourage the Commission not to
bring any new adjustment to our electoral system to
the ballot this fall. Since 2021 RCV has largely
succeeded in achieving the benefits proposed by our
past testimony before the 2019 Charter Revision
Commission. At the time we argued that RCV would
allow voters to more fully express their preferences
on the ballot, prevent expensive low turnout primary
runoff elections, and increase confidence in the
electoral system.

Over the past two local election cycles, we have seen promising evidence in each of these areas. First, voters have embraced the

opportunity to have more choices, which resulted in higher participation. In 2021 mayoral primary race reached a turnout of 26.5 percent, representing a recent high for local IGR elections. In this election, 89.3 percent of Democrats and 56.6 percent of Republicans ranked more than one choice for at least one office, indicating a widespread understanding of the system.

Second, New York City taxpayers have already benefited from avoiding the need for extensive citywide runoff elections. In 2021 no candidate reached a 40 percent benchmark during the first round of the Democratic Mayoral Primary, so we were able to use RCV's instant runoff system to determine a winner.

By contrast, the 2013 Public Advocate

Primary Runoff Election cost the City \$13 million.

Third, the change in winners as a result of RCV are favorable to increasing voter confidence in our electoral system. Studies cited CUNY Center for Urban Research indicated the candidates understood that RCV required them to talk to more voters in case they could become a voter's second or third choice in a crowded field.

As a matter of good governance, we strongly oppose reversing reforms to our electoral

Page 122 1 system after only a few years. Thank you for giving 2 me the opportunity to testify and for your leadership 3 for New York City. 4 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any comments, 5 questions? Zoom members? Thank you very much. 6 7 We will now have Mr. Xavier Johnson. MR. X. JOHNSON: Thank you. Yes, my 8 9 name is Ibrahim Xavier Johnson. I live here in 10 Harlem. 11 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We can't hear 12 you. 13 MR. X. JOHNSON: My name's Ibrahim 14 Xavier Johnson. I live here in Harlem. And the 15 politicians you heard reflect my wishes. And I heard 16 a lot of testimony here today, but I want to say 17 specifically to this Commission that what you're doing having this public hearing, allowing us to speak, is 18 19 very important. So any revision or any change that 20 you make that would increase public input, I'm all for 21 that. 22 I just want to say one more thing about 23 written testimony. You receive written testimony from 24 our elected official, especially our state senator. 25 She pretty much reflect my wishes, and that is how it

	Page 123											
1	works here for me. So if a politician doesn't do what											
2	I want, I vote them out. So everybody you see that's											
3	testified, they do what I want them to do. And											
4	they're in touch with the people, they listen to the											
5	people, and that's what makes this community work.											
6	And I encourage you to keep doing what you're doing,											
7	and I want to say thank you.											
8	And, by the way, Mr. Diaz, we took a											
9	class together at Lehman College back in the day,											
10	political science, yeah, in the Bronx.											
11	So we have good people. You guys are											
12	good people.											
13	I know your father as well, Mr. Diaz,											
14	Sr.											
15	MR. DIAZ: You told him somebody											
16	tell him I'm on a hearing committee.											
17	MR. X. JOHNSON: Yeah. So keep doing											
18	what you're doing. After a lot of no, no, no, don't											
19	do that, keep doing what you're doing. That's all											
20	I've got to say.											
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you.											
22	MS. MCGRAW: I have a question.											
23	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Question?											
24	MS. MCGRAW: Yes. Hi, how are you											
25	doing?											

	Page 124											
1	MR. X. JOHNSON: Question. Absolutely.											
2	MS. MCGRAW: Thank you so much											
3	MR. X. JOHNSON: Yes.											
4	MS. MCGRAW: for coming and											
5	testifying. Can you just be a little clearer on what											
6	your wishes are?											
7	MR. X. JOHNSON: My wishes are for you											
8	to keep doing public hearings, and specifically if											
9	you're going to revise the Charter, increase the power											
10	of public hearing, increase the power of the public,											
11	however you choose to do that. So my wish is very											
12	broad. And I'd like to see more public hearings, more											
13	power to the Community Boards, things like that.											
14	There's already a section in the Charter called											
15	Community Board. I'd like to see more enforcement of											
16	that.											
17	MS. MCGRAW: Okay. Thank you.											
18	MR. X. JOHNSON: And it seems like											
19	you're doing that, so that's what I see.											
20	MS. MCGRAW: Thank you so much.											
21	MR. X. JOHNSON: Okay. Thank you.											
22	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Do you have a											
23	written report for us? You going to send it in?											
24	MR. X. JOHNSON: If the senator sent											
25	her report, that's my report, too.											

### Public Hearing

	Page 125												
1	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay. Thank you.												
2	We have Mr. Miles Grant. Graunt? Or												
3	is that Grant?												
4	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Grant.												
5	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Grant.												
6	MR. GRANT: Hi, everyone.												
7	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Hi.												
8	MR. GRANT: My name is Miles Grant.												
9	I'm actually from Queens, but I just came over the												
10	bridge. I'm here as an individual. I don't represent												
11	any group. But I think, if I heard, there are so few												
12	individuals here speaks to a lot of, you know, things												
13	that we've heard during the night of people not having												
14	a lot of faith in these sorts of these sorts of												
15	sessions and of our electoral system in general.												
16	Voter participation is down, trust in												
17	democracy is down, and I think there's a widespread												
18	sort of perception of corruption and backdoor deals												
19	and sort of government not working for them. And when												
20	I go to these sorts of events and I try to bring												
21	others with me, try to get them just be civically												
22	engaged, the response that I always get is, "Oh,												
23	everyone's just corrupt. There's nothing that the												
24	public can actually do."												
25	That is the perception, especially with												

### Public Hearing

	Page 126
1	young people. And that's not good. But luckily there
2	is a solution, and that is sortition. Can I get a
3	show of hands on how many of you have heard this
4	phrase before or have any idea what it is?
5	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: What is it? Say
6	that again?
7	MR. GRANT: Sortition.
8	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: in regards to
9	what?
10	MR. GRANT: So okay. Zero people.
11	MR. DIAZ: You asked for a show of
12	hands to what?
13	MR. GRANT: Sortition as an alternative
14	to sort of decision making. And I think when you're
15	modifying the Charter, this is an excellent
16	opportunity to bring this sort of system in.
17	So as a brief sort of description of
18	what it is, it is essentially a jury, a random
19	selection of citizens for decision making; in this
20	case, you know, demographically balanced. In my
21	dreams obviously, our entire control system is
22	replaced by this, but I'm not delusional. There are
23	many opportunities that you can do in the process of
24	Charter reform to bring in more of this type of random
25	citizen participation and citizen decision making.

There are studies, there's research, and there's effective examples within New York City, specifically Asian Commission -- worked and has created a sortition counsel through the People's Money Program, and has effectively produced ideas and decision making using this method. I think realistically it is possible for you in this Commission to reform existing agency and Commissions to operate this way. But given the fact that you are intending on creating a new agency, this could be an excellent opportunity to bring in this type of decision making in a small-scale way. I'm not asking for everything overnight, but I am sort of asking for changes that can be made to make people my age, to make the next generation believe in civics again and believe in the power of public democracy as a concept, because right now that does not exist. Thank you. VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. MR. DIAZ: Now I've got a question. VICE CHAIR DUKES: Yes. MR. DIAZ: So who would create these committees, or what is it called again? I'm sorry. MR. GRANT: So the term is "sortition."

It's been around for thousands of years, as sort of an

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Page 128 1 alternative to either, you know, an agency or an 2 elected official placing candidates or members on a 3 panel or an agency. They are instead randomly selected from the citizens as --4 5 MR. DIAZ: By whom, though, sir? I mean by an independent 6 MR. GRANT: 7 board, by an independent body that's designed to do that, which the New York City Government already has 8 9 experience in doing. Again, the People's Money 10 Program has been proven effective for creating such a 11 body. 12 MR. DIAZ: Do you see that in Community 13 Boards? Do you see that already in -- encounters? Do 14 you see that already --15 MR. GRANT: Those are people who are 16 interested in joining this and are interested in 17 True sortition is randomly selected, like jury power. 18 duty. 19 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Could you spell 20 it? 21 Spell it like a spelling MR. GRANT: 22 bee? S-O-R-T-I-T-I-O-N. 23 Thank you. 24 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any more questions from Commissioners? Commissioners on Zoom? 25

# Public Hearing

	Page 129											
1	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: I do have a question.											
2	I have a question.											
3	MR. GRANT: Yeah.											
4	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: I heard you say											
5	something that someone was corrupt.											
6	MR. GRANT: A lot of people are											
7	corrupt. Again, it's about perception. I'm not											
8	saying anything. It's perception. It's perception,											
9	widespread perception.											
10	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: Okay. Thank you so											
11	much.											
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you,											
13	Mr. Grant.											
14	MR. GRANT: No one on Zoom? Oh,											
15	there's like seven hands up.											
16	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Greg Baggett.											
17	No, I'm calling our next one gentleman.											
18	He was from Queens. Am I right?											
19	MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Yes.											
20	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay.											
21	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Why are you											
22	looking at me?											
23	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Mr. Baggett.											
24	Mr. Baggett from Harlem.											
25	MR. BAGGETT: So good evening, and											

thank you very much, Commissioners, and special thanks to Dr. Dukes and to Commissioner Adams and Stephanie as well. Thank you very much.

So I wanted to speak on an issue that was in the last review about Community Boards. We had passed a provision, an amendment that allowed for the term limits to exist with Community Boards. And I think before this set of amendments are passed, the implementation of the term limits will happen. And I just wanted to say, I thought that the amendment was somewhat incomplete.

There was a lot of pros and cons. Some of the pros was that long-term experience on the Community Board benefited the Board with people who had sets of skills. And then people who were against it was concerned about issues of careerism.

And so I wanted to propose a compromise where board members convert to honorary members after a stated number of years, and the honorary membership confers the following rights: to serve on all committees of the Board with full membership rights, including to vote -- that is at the committee level -- and to attend board general meetings with the right to speak but not to vote in the general meeting voting items. And also to give those honorary members access

to other rights as board members may have, in terms of access to the minutes and other documents that come before the various board.

Let me just say that in many ways, this can be implemented at the level of the bylaws. But if it's actually in the Charter, then the borough president would have the enforcement power to actually make it happen at all boards and not happen at some boards. They have what's called public members or legacy members or advisory members, and then there are other boards that don't.

One other issue on the Community Board that don't really have a lot to say about it other than in terms of experience, I do think that there should be some amendment that calls for the diversification of boards to the extent that boards represent the people who actually live in communities.

Actually, our president actually had some really good examples. When you were in office there were boards in your District that had dwindling Euro-American representation, growing Latino representation, and a steady population of Black constituents. And you were actually able to create very equitable representation in those boards.

I think in terms of Manhattan holding

Page 132 1 Community Board 10 hostage to be the sole 2 representation of Black leadership within the District 3 of Manhattan is appalling. And I think when I'm asking for diversification, I'm not only asking for 4 5 diversification of Community Board 10, but all of the other boards in Manhattan and throughout the borough 6 7 as well. I won't say much about -- I had 8 9 something to say about public safety, but all I'll 10 simply say is that I think that this is a real 11 opportunity, and we have in office, in the executive 12 office a former police officer who was also committed to social activism --13 14 VICE CHAIR DUKES: You're over your two 15 minutes, Mr. Baggett. 16 MR. BAGGETT: Okay. I'm going to wrap 17 it up. Social activism around police. And so 18 19 it would be a good opportunity to try to engage at 20 that level. And --21 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Do you have a 22 written report for us? 23 I'm going to e-mail my MR. BAGGETT: 24 comments to you on the public safety stuff. 25 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Please do. Okay.

	Page 133												
1	MR. BAGGETT: So thank you very much.												
2	VICE CHAIR DUKES: You're over your two												
3	minutes, but any questions?												
4	MR. BRAGG: No. Thank you.												
5	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions? Any												
6	questions from the ones on Zoom?												
7	Thank you so much. Please submit that.												
8	It's important that we hear and consider.												
9	Marsha Taylor.												
10	MS. MARSHA TAYLOR: Good evening,												
11	esteemed counsel.												
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Good evening.												
13	MS. MARSHA TAYLOR: Thank you for												
14	allowing me a few minutes to speak. I came here at												
15	the behest and invitation of my beloved Ms. Jackie												
16	Rowe-Adams, and I thank you for inviting me here. I												
17	wasn't really sure what to expect, and I'm so glad												
18	that I'm here, because I've been educated. I've												
19	learned a lot, and I'm certainly going to leave here												
20	and going to do a lot more research on the Commission,												
21	on the Charter of New York City. And I think that you												
22	all have such a huge opportunity to make a difference												
23	in the City.												
24	From what I have been listening to and												
25	my concerns, I'm a lifelong, born and raised resident												

of Harlem. And the first thing that comes to mind, because I don't have any prepared remarks, this is from the heart, because I love my community. I was born in 1969 at St. Luke's Women's Hospital on Amsterdam Avenue. My grandparents were here. My parents were here. I've gone to school here. I'm raising my children here. I love Harlem.

And my biggest thing, the first thing, I would love to see a more robust grassroots effort so that people like myself and my neighbors will know more about this Commission and just how important it is. I would have loved to have seen this room filled with my neighbors and with people, younger people and young adults and businessowners and people who care about this community the same way that I do. But I didn't know about this until Jackie told me. And I will pass along the word, but it takes -- whether it's social media, whether it's marketing or campaigning, whatever it is to get into the communities, to get into the streets so that people will show up.

I will also say that I would love to see whatever you can do in terms of getting on that ballot more accountability, more transparency for the oversight agencies, whether it's for businesses, whether it is for politicians. Whatever it is within

your power to get on that ballot so that there is more accountability for people who are overseeing what happens in our community, I implore you to do that.

I would love to see programs that are created for -- I know people spoke about small businesses. It behooves me to see so many businesses in my neighborhood that are run by people who don't look like me. Some of them don't even speak English. I know that they didn't come here with an 800 credit score and a big bag of money. I'm wondering how they get the small storefronts. Point me to that program, because I'm lost when I'm looking to get into a business or a storefront.

So I'd like to know a little bit more about what programs and what opportunities. You know, we're speaking about, you know, minority women in business enterprise. I want to hear more about programs that are available for people in our community.

And, again, I'm not going to take up a lot of time. I'm just happy to be here. And, again, whatever you can do to get on that ballot the transparency, the accountability, higher qualified people, and whatever I can do to participate, count me in. Thank you.

	Page 136												
1	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. I will												
2	recommend to you - I just retired after 27 years on												
3	Community Board 10. I would recommend that's where												
4	you learn to start, with Community Board and with your												
5	school. If you have children in the school system, I												
6	don't know do you live in this area, which is												
7	District 5?												
8	MS. MARSHA TAYLOR: I do, in Esplanade												
9	Gardens.												
10	VICE CHAIR DUKES: We need parents'												
11	voices. But 10 takes care, sanitation, parks, all of												
12	that is discussed there. So if you can get your												
13	community to go to Community Board 10, and it's listed												
14	every day of every meeting.												
15	I worked seven days a week. And so if												
16	you want to do something, start there.												
17	MS. MARSHA TAYLOR: Thank you. I												
18	certainly will. Thank you.												
19	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Mr. Marcus? Is												
20	there Mr. Marcus? Mr. Marcus. Okay. He's here.												
21	MR. MARCUS: Good evening.												
22	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Good evening.												
23	MR. MARCUS: I'm here because it was												
24	brought to my attention in regards to												
25	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Could you speak												

2	1	i	+	+	۵ [	h	i	+	cl	$\overline{}$	99	r	
_	_	_	_	L			_	_		u	35	_	

MR. MARCUS: All right. It was brought to my attention about this here forum in regards to how public safety is addressed, especially within NYPD. I think that some of the issues that has been addressed, far as the new laws, because it doesn't really encompass accountability. And from speaking with City councilmembers, it was brought to my attention that the Charter -- I don't know how they figured that when they're lawmakers -- are the ones that put together proposals to be enforced so that our communities have more of -- how can I say it? -- more confidence in the way that our elected officials and the police department interacts with our communities.

I help a lot of families, high-profile cases where I help families who need justice from shootings as well as other certain crimes. But I get a lot of backlash when it comes down to supporting why communities need the police in their communities as well as why the police are not held accountable when they do something in regards -- for transgression purposes within our communities.

I would like to see some rules be put in place that holds accountability in regards to the matter of the disciplinary hearings when it comes down

to the NYPD. Because as it stands, and I cite this just from a case back in 2016 with Deborah Danner's, officer who violated the codes of professional conduct within NYPD and when they're dealing with EEP's. As you see it's continuously being done. And it just opens up the door for the wrong rhetoric; right?

You have those that champion social workers, not realizing that you have programs within NYPD where you have a division that specializes in dealing with EEPs that's not being effectuated; right? So what ends up taking place is we get the shooting; right? We get these people to champion us here. We get some of these misguided elected officials on board with this here, and it creates — it creates like chaos. And then there's no trust within the community that really needs the police to come into the community but are afraid to call.

So what's needed, I think, is the disciplinary hearings, because that How Many Stops Act, all it is is regurgitation of information that they already know. They're not building discipline the way they should be for violating the same rules. And that's what needs to be done in order for us to stop these misguided rules and misleading the people for votes.

Page 139 1 So I would like to know exactly how 2 does that go about in putting together a term 3 limitation on hearings, disciplinary proceedings, especially where it's been -- how can I say 4 5 it? -- adjournments for no good cause. So if I can help out with that there, 6 7 you know, I could present the information and the data and everything else that you may need. This way we 8 9 can, you know, expedite this and, you know, re-give it 10 confidence. 11 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Now, do you have a 12 written report for us, or will you give us one? 13 MR. MARCUS: I can give it to you. 14 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Because the points 15 that you're bringing up, we need to see them --16 MR. MARCUS: Oh, I can give it to you. 17 VICE CHAIR DUKES: -- digest them. Any other --18 19 MR. LYNCH: -- thoughts? I agree with 20 you. 21 I'll give it to you. MR. MARCUS: 22 Just --23 You make some great points, MR. LYNCH: 24 but it having it on paper, it'll help us more to 25 dissect it and --

# Public Hearing

	Page 140						
1	MR. MARCUS: Oh, I have it. I just						
2	need to know where to send it.						
3	MR. LYNCH: Okay.						
4	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay. Did your						
5	staff have it? Okay. Thank you.						
6	MS. SAVINO: Can you give him						
7	the can you give him the Charter info e-mail?						
8	MR. KIERNAN: E-mail is the charter						
9	info at						
10	MR. MARCUS: Charter info?						
11	MR. KIERNAN: at City Charter						
12	MR. MARCUS: Charter info at						
13	MR. KIERNAN: at City charter						
14	MR. MARCUS: at City charter						
15	MR. KIERNAN: dot NYC, dot gov.						
16	MR. TAJIDDIN: It's on a report, like						
17	your PDF.						
18	MR. MARCUS: Thank you. All right.						
19	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Get it into us as						
20	soon as possible.						
21	MR. MARCUS: Oh, I'll have it to you by						
22	Thursday.						
23	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Thank						
24	you so much, and thank you for coming.						
25	Julius my Harlem constant friend.						

### Public Hearing

	Page 141							
1	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Historian.							
2	VICE CHAIR DUKES: The historian of							
3	Harlem.							
4	MR. TAJIDDIN: Good evening,							
5	Commissioners, Mme. Vice Chair, and Mr. Chair. Thank							
6	you for this opportunity.							
7	I read the report that you've so far							
8	put out. And so my testimony is going to be regarding							
9	primarily addressing the fiscal responsibility and							
10	public safety. In particular, I raise an idea how the							
11	City can raise revenue. We can do more in the tax							
12	department such as sales tax and/or other tax. We can							
13	do something like the 16th amendment. In other words,							
14	it doesn't matter where the source of your income or							
15	how it's made, nor does it nor does it make what							
16	you're doing legal if it's not legal, nor change your							
17	immigration status. You're going to collect a City							
18	sales tax or pay a City tax for as long as you're							
19	making monkey money.							
20	Examples of such income, money from							
21	vendors. I'm putting together right now a solution to							
22	the vending problem, and that can come after this							
23	amendment.							
24	Now as I said, what you're doing may							
25	not be legal, and you may still be accountable for							

such conduct. But you're going to pay your taxes.

Example, Al Capone, 15 years, and by the way, you owe
us \$15 million in taxes.

Further, the City can also have in the Charter the allowance of citizens to come up with innovative ways to earn City money, but such income must entitle them to a fair commission.

Public Safety. Back in 2013 I drafted a community policing program that was renamed the NCL program. A lot of that draft is in the new Clergy Coalition Council initiative. However, I'm particularly at this moment suggesting that the role of the Community Boards be more strengthened.

Right now the Charter allows the Community Boards to appoint public members to their committees, but it's not mandated. However, it should be. CB-10 used to have public members, but because it wasn't mandated under the City Charter, politics got in the way.

Now, the Boards can decide how that's done, but having public members on committees can increase new ideas more quickly in areas that could enhance public safety and the public welfare. For example, protecting the public and maintaining public confidence in law enforcement. Law enforcement is not

just with NYPD. It's school safety officers, sanitation, ACS, probation officers, et cetera. And perhaps the City Charter can expand on the various City departments who have police powers and spell out their duties.

Also, Community Boards need to be informed on all intros and when such hearings are to take place. In return, Community Boards must post all such information on their websites.

Community Boards should also be notified of all pending construction jobs in their respective Districts, whether they are as a right or at the passage of -- due to unlawful construction constantly going on.

notified 30 days before a contract goes into effect of all arm's-length transactions pertaining to the transfer of real property when senior citizens are allegedly selling or transferring their real property to another party before such transactions can be legal. Too many of our seniors are having their property stolen from them, and that should be of concern to people talking about public safety and public welfare. In other words, the more eyes on something reinforces. You see something, you say

something	S	30	m	e.	tŀ	ηi	n	a	
-----------	---	----	---	----	----	----	---	---	--

Other areas of concern that was in the report, minority- and women-owned businesses. The definition for MWBE should spell out the people considered minority and should be separate from women. In other words, a white woman shouldn't qualify as a minority.

City Charter gives DSNY Commissioner
the power to adopt regulations controlling the use of
sidewalks and gutters by abutting owners and occupants
with respect to sweepings, garbage, refuse, or
rubbish, et cetera. So I support exploring updates to
chapter 31 of the Charter to clarify and expand DSNY
responsibilities to facilitate cleaner streets,
sidewalks, and City-owned property. I'll submit my
comments on that topic in writing.

And agency recommendations. Any suggestion that recommends removing a public hearing requirement for anything should not be entertained. The Mayor's Office of Contract Services recommended removing public hearings for contracts, and it seems that it pertained to procurement contracts. But it seems like it could go beyond the same. In any event, I don't support removing the public's voice on anything. If anything, it should be more expanded.

	Page 145
1	And I'm going to submit my opinion on consent on
2	Commissioners, the AMI, ranked choice voting, and I'll
3	put it all in writing for you anyway, but I will add
4	those other things.
5	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Because you're over
6	your time. You have your written reports? Because
7	you're over the time.
8	MR. TAJIDDIN: No, I'm going to submit
9	it by the e-mail.
10	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay.
11	MR. TAJIDDIN: All right.
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you.
13	MR. TAJIDDIN: Thank you.
14	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions from
15	our Commissioners?
16	MR. BRAGG: No. Thank you.
17	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you so much.
18	Did you submit it?
19	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: He's going to.
20	MR. TAJIDDIN: No, I'm going to.
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay. Thank you.
22	MR. TAJIDDIN: It'll be there before
23	the deadline.
24	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay.
25	Mr. Moses. I'm sorry. It is in June

Page 146 1 Moses? 2 Yeah, I'm a girl. MS. MOSES: Thank you. I've got 3 VICE CHAIR DUKES: 4 to stick to my three minutes. 5 MS. MOSES: I got it, 90 seconds. VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. 6 7 MS. MOSES: Thank you all so much, esteemed folks on this panel. My name is June like 8 9 the month, Moses like the Bible. I'm the Tenant 10 Association for those ten buildings right next door here between Lenox and Seven. And I only have two 11 12 requests. 13 First, while you're in these rooms and 14 you're putting together these things, please don't 15 forget those of us that are 40 percent below the AMI. 16 It seems as though everything that is being done is 17 being done around us, and nothing is being really truly done for us. When even the City of Yes starts 18 19 at 40 percent AMI, you're leaving out a thousand 20 people who live in those ten buildings right next 21 door. 22 So I just say, as you're moving forward 23 with these things, please consider those of us who 24 aren't in this room, because it's been discussed that 25 the information isn't trickling down to the people who

Page 147 1 really need to be here. This is their fight 2 information for a lot of people. 3 MS. ROWE-ADAMS: That's not true. 4 That's not true. 5 MS. MOSES: But there are a lot of people who they're not here. They're -- I don't know 6 7 how we get to them, but how do we get this to trickle down to those folks so we're not the ones who are put 8 I don't see how we do a one Harlem or we do 9 10 anything when most of those people who helped hold this place up through crack and through everything 11 12 else are visibly being pushed out because there is no consideration for us at all? 13 14 I just ask for the consideration, 15 because we're not being included in any thought 16 process. If you really break it down, we're not 17 The poor folks ain't there. And that's all I there. 18 have to say. Please consider us. Thank you. 19 MS. ROWE-ADAMS: I have a question. 20 Hi. 21 Hey. I love you, Jackie MS. MOSES: 22 Rowe-Adams. I love you --23 MS. ROWE-ADAMS: Good. Come right back 24 here. 25 MS. MOSES: Yes, ma'am.

MS. ROWE-ADAMS: So I just want to say, because, see, I know that you're active, you know.

But we the Commission did an outreach at the site for Harlem. And I'm glad you said that, because you have more work to do. You do a lot of work already, but you've got more to do. Because this room should have been packed.

We have witnesses. We put literature.

We call the world. We went to the churches. Well,

you see NAACP, you know all of them. The information

was out. You've got more work to do, girl. Don't let

them go. Tell them they should pack -- you know,

people complain, and I hear you. I'm glad you said

it.

MS. MOSES: Pardon me. That was not a complaint. It was an ask for a consideration. That was not a complaint. Thank you.

MS. ROWE-ADAMS: No, you're not complaining. You're saying what people need to hear, and this is why I'm glad that you came, because, you know, we're looking at that, and this is why we ask people to tell the next one, whether it's Harlem, all the boroughs. We went to all five boroughs twice, and we're going back. So if you know anyone in any of the -- for any people who can come from Harlem to

	Page 149
1	Brooklyn to Staten Island, because this is important.
2	So that
3	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: And Queens.
4	MS. ROWE-ADAMS: And Queens. And let
5	me and Bronx. And let me say this. I'm glad you
6	brought up on Zoom, because everybody needs to know
7	what's going on in their communities. What's going on
8	in this City? And this is the reason the Mayor put
9	this together, because we're all left out, not only
10	you. We're all left out, and enough is enough. And
11	you're going to help us put this all back together.
12	Because I know you're a great leader.
13	So I just wanted to say that. Thank
14	you.
15	MS. MOSES: Thank you very much. I
16	thought she was getting ready to come for my neck
17	there, so I didn't know which way we was going.
18	Thank you thank y'all so much for
19	your consideration. God bless you.
20	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any other comments?
21	We will have Mrs. Renee Regina Johnson, Ms. Regina
22	Johnson. Ms. Regina Johnson.
23	Mrs. Linda Adams McGlory?
24	Tinesha Grant?
25	Sylvia Hunter?

MS. HUNTER: Good evening, everyone.

Good evening, everyone.

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Good evening.

MS. HUNTER: I really just heard about this meeting yesterday through Jackie Rowe-Adams, and I told her I would be here today. I am an advocate for my seniors, and I'm a senior.

I don't think you're doing enough for the seniors. I guess in Harlem alone, do we have five or six seniors centers? Am I correct? I have seen no one come and talk about this hearing, at all. Because the seniors will come if you let us know. A lot of them, after lunch they go home. So if you could have somebody there, say one o'clock, and give out paperwork or whatever, the seniors will come out.

Number two, I don't see any representation out there for the young peoples. They need to be heard and seen also. I don't -- and I was disappointed when I walked in here to see how empty this place is. So I personally want to know, how was this hearing posted or put out to our community?

Another thing, when buildings are built or whatever, we're the last people born and raised in Harlem who heard about the lottery. I could actually have been involved in some of these lotteries. I'm

	Page 151
1	born and raised here. It seems like which people
2	of non-color that get into these big buildings. And I
3	would like y'all to address that also.
4	That's all I have to say. Thank you.
5	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you very much,
6	and I'm sorry that our duty was to hear from all
7	people, whether it was the seniors, youth, whatever.
8	It was all-inclusive. And it's been advertised. It's
9	on TV. It's everywhere. So thank you for taking your
10	time out to come.
11	MS. HUNTER: Thank you.
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: And I'm a senior, so
13	I am for seniors. Thank you.
14	Marie Gentine. Marie Gentine. Or
15	maybe it was oh, I'm sorry. Who was that?
16	MS. GENTINE: Hi. Good evening. My
17	name is Marie Gentine.
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Oh okay.
19	MS. GENTINE: Yes. I'm here just to
20	talk about the local law 18. This is the law that
21	people use to call and are calling Airbnb law. So I
22	just wanted to say that this local law 18 is impacting
23	very negatively the ecosystem of neighborhoods in
24	Manhattan and in other boroughs.
25	And I was wondering if someone at the

City would just listen to those homeowners, homeowner occupied, one- and two-family buildings, to explain that the loss of income for businesses that are living with income from tourism and as homeowners who really need those extra income to maintain the buildings we are living in to just afford living in Manhattan when you are family.

The fact that the City is overreaching what we can do with our home, knowing that those home that we have are not on the market, is really -- is very impacting negatively New York City.

So all the people that I used to host are now going to New Jersey. So New Jersey like made a jump of 80 percent for their booking for short-term rentals. And still those kind of rentals are very necessary for people who are coming for -- for instance, Harlem Hospital to be close to family members, because like someone is sick. They want to stay two, three weeks. We cannot host them.

And what I want to say is that guesthouse used to be there before hotel. You go to Greece. There is no hotel on some island. You just go to like someone's house because they're kind enough to host you. It's something that is very meaningful for us homeowners of only two or one and family house,

	Page 153
1	because we understand that this law is amazing and has
2	to be like big measure, needs to be like done.
3	But I think you should carve out the
4	very small guy who like are not big business, just
5	trying to make a living, and Harlem is the only
6	place that we can afford when you are family with
7	three children, because you have bigger spaces,
8	cheaper like rent
9	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you so much.
10	MS. GENTINE: and just something I
11	wanted to bring
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Do you have a
13	written report, or will you submit in writing
14	MS. GENTINE: I will put it through e-
15	mail.
16	VICE CHAIR DUKES: e-mail to the
17	staff.
18	MS. GENTINE: Thank you.
19	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you so much.
20	I'm not sure, but the last name is
21	Campbell. Do we have anyone by the name of Campbell
22	here?
23	MR. DIAZ: Mme. Chair, just for the
24	purposes of opening Airbnb
25	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Mr. John Dillard.

Mr. Campbell is here?

old.

MR. CAMPBELL: I'm right here.

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Sorry.

MR. CAMPBELL: Okay. Good afternoon, everyone. My name is Chinnor Campbell. I am a student at the University of Mount St. Vincent, and I'm also the younger brother of Ramarley Graham, who was killed in front of me and my grandmother in our home by the NYPD in 2012 when I was just six years

I'm here today because even though lots of people don't want to vote, next year is the election year for the mayor seat, and I want to bring that to light, because using the undemocratic Charter revision process to expand the NYPD's power instead of focusing on the protecting the people who are elected to represent -- using -- I'm sorry -- using a last-minute process as a way to silence the people and their voices, and my statement to everyone is if the person who is supposed to represent us is not doing that, then we need to vote to represent ourselves.

When my brother was murdered, stop-and-frisk was at an all-time high. Now under Mayor Adams stop-and-frisk is on the rise again, and it's the highest it's been in almost a decade.

These days I see more and more officers harassing people in the neighborhood. There are more cops in the subways, which is not making us feel safe. None of this really helps to increase safety for community members.

This is why I've joined 27 other family members of the New Yorkers killed by NYPD who endorse the How Many Stops Act. I'm also -- sorry. It's also why I'm urging Commission members not to use this process to be a part of the New Yorkers to pass -- it's already been -- to pass anything that touches on police transparency and accountability, because NYPD has already had too much power over the legislative process in -- affairs.

The How Many Stops Act went through a rigorous democratic process in which there was significant public input, and bills were even held up to spend time in negotiation with the communities. The Council and administration included NYPD. In contrast, this Charter revision process is rushed and politically motivated to block the Council's advice and consent law from -- this process for this Charter revision is being rushed into just seven weeks from when you held the first hearing until the Commission -- oh, sorry -- until when the Commission

Page 156 1 will vote on what will be on the November ballot. 2 We are scheduled to vote in two weeks, 3 but you still haven't shared the final language with 4 the public. There -- sorry. There is no need for 5 that kind of rush unless this is a biased or rigorous -- rigged process. In fact, I heard that at 6 7 a hearing last week when two other family members of New Yorkers who were killed by the NYPD got muted 8 9 because the -- revision team -- sorry -- got muted 10 before they could finish their sentences. 11 It seemed like this happened because 12 they were raising concerns when people were just -- embarrassed that NYPD -- all of this seems 13 14 that this process is about the Mayor trying to grab 15 even more power when it should be about -- New 16 Yorkers. 17 I'm encouraging the Commission to recognize this and not let any so-called public safety 18 19 measures or any other measures on the November 20 ballot -- thank you. 21 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. 22 questions? 23 MR. DIAZ: Mr. Campbell -- you bring 24 opinion -- positive society. I just want to say that

I appreciate you being here. My condolences.

Page 157 1 when so much is focused on -- focused on -- doing 2 things that we're not too proud of. The fact that you're here today and returning your community's 3 4 purpose, I appreciate you being here --5 MR. CAMPBELL: Thank you. MR. BRAGG: Thank you so much for 6 7 If you could submit that testimony to the appearing. Commission so that we can digest those points that you 8 9 made, because this is the purpose of this Commission, 10 too, is to hear from more citizens and take those 11 points back and see what we can do to put it back in 12 front of the citizens of New York. So thank you. 13 MR. CAMPBELL: Yeah, I'll e-mail it to 14 you. Thank you. 15 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay. Be sure that 16 we get it, please. 17 Mr. John Dillon -- Dillard? 18 MR. DILLARD: Dillard, D-I-L-L-A-R-D. 19 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Dillard. Okay. 20 MR. DILLARD: Good evening, 21 Mme. Chairman and all of the Commissioners of the City 22 before me. I'm very delighted to be here. I live in 23 Harlem. And I think that all of you are doing an 24 incredulous job. 25 Now, I would like to know, because I

Page 158 1 missed a point, the City has 112 billion budget? 2 MR. DIAZ: Billion dollars --MR. DILLARD: Billion dollars, 3 4 12 billion. The other thing is, I would like to get 5 in the NAACP. I'm openly saying this, if I could get in, Dr. Dukes. 6 7 The other thing is I would like to get involved in politics. I'm a confidential 8 9 investigator. I retired from the New York City 10 Department of Corrections 30 years. I'm giving you my 11 background. I graduated Bethune-Cookman University 12 down in Florida, Daytona. I have a degree in 13 sociology, and I also have a degree in paralegal 14 studies. I'm an ordained and licensed minister. 15 And so I have no -- I guess this is my 16 testimony. I want to get in politics, and I want to 17 be involved in the community to help people in That's basically what I want to do. And if 18 general. 19 there's anything that you could do by giving me 20 information whereby I could do that, it would greatly 21 be appreciated. 22 And God bless each and every one of you 23 as well as your families. 24 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Thank 25 you so much.

	Page 159
1	MR. DIAZ: Mr. Dillard.
2	MR. DILLARD: Yes, sir.
3	MR. DIAZ: our Community Board
4	MR. DILLARD: Yes, sir.
5	MR. DIAZ: if you want to get
6	involved in politics. Now, that's in governing laws
7	and but you can go to your local or some
8	campaign, some local campaign office and start getting
9	involved there. I'm sure that there are many
10	candidates that are running this year who can use your
11	support, who can use, you know, you as a volunteer.
12	But you can go to your local Community Board or the
13	Tenant Association or their council meeting and
14	start from there.
15	MR. DILLARD: Okay. Thank you very
16	much.
17	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any other comment?
18	Members on the Zoom? Hearing none.
19	I'm not sure who's giving me this
20	writing here, and I don't know who this so Mr. or
21	Ms. Kaya Royal. That's the last
22	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Kaya.
23	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Kaya Royal. Excuse
24	me if I mispronounced.
25	Oh, we have one of our young persons

Page 160 1 coming, too. Wonderful. 2 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I love it. 3 MR. ROYAL: Good evening. VICE CHAIR DUKES: Good evening. 4 5 MR. ROYAL: Good evening, Commissioner -- oh, hi, Ms. Jackie Rowe. I'm here. 6 7 I'll be quite succinct with my time. I am an MWBE I'm a father. I was motivated to become a 8 vendor. 9 vendor, thanks to my daughter that attends PS-175 10 right here in District 5. I am not a minority. I'm 11 not a person of color. I'm speaking as a Black man. 12 They're not synonymous with one another. 13 There has been many initiatives that 14 have been put forth to increase the revenue flow of 15 vendors, but it has not been enough. We have gotten 16 much obfuscating, no clear answers regarding the 17 procurement, the \$25,000 that is allowed per vendor per school. We were told that that amount was going 18 19 up to 50,000 for non-contracted vendors. It hasn't 20 happened yet. And I'm here to ask and request an 21 answer as to why it hasn't happened. I was told that 22 it was held up in the comptroller's office. I was 23 told that the legislation was passed in City Council. 24 But it has not gone through.

Raising that amount to \$50,000 for non-

	Page 161
1	contracted vendors would be a step in the right
2	direction as moving the needle to allow vendors to get
3	more capital and grow their business. Hopefully I can
4	send you in information. I can e-mail you afterwards
5	and just get a clear answer without obfuscating, is
6	the amount going to raise from 25,000 to 50,000 the
7	MWBE non-contracted vendors, or is it not going to
8	happen? That's all.
9	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Let me just say to
10	you, unfortunately before me, but we're not
11	Commissioned to do that. We were Commissioned to look
12	at the Charter as it is, and that was not included.
13	This is in the education department, DOE, the vendors?
14	MR. ROYAL: Well, yeah. I am a vendor.
15	I work primarily in the Department of Education. We
16	were told that that raising the procurement was
17	from the comptroller. And we never received a clear
18	answer as to whether or not whether or not the
19	amounts were going to go up.
20	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Well, we can't give

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Well, we can't give you a clear -- we can't give you an answer at all.

MR. ROYAL: Okay.

MR. BRAGG: But I think what we can do, though, is find the agency that you can speak with and get that answer. And so before you leave, we'll have

21

22

23

24

	Page 162
1	someone from the staff speak with you and point you in
2	the direction you need to get that answer, because
3	that is an important question. Although it's not in
4	our charge to deliver the answer, we can help you find
5	the answer. So we'll find someone here who'll help
6	you get to the right agency or the person or agency to
7	get an answer.
8	MR. ROYAL: Thank you. I appreciate
9	it. Thank you.
10	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you for
11	coming.
12	Ms. Denise Sergeant. Denise Sergeant.
13	Ms. Marlene Taylor. Marlene Taylor.
14	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Here she is.
15	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Oh, she is? Okay.
16	MS. MARLENE TAYLOR: Good evening,
17	everyone. Good evening, Commissioner.
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Good evening.
19	MS. MARLENE TAYLOR: My name is Marlene
20	Taylor. I have been practicing medicine in the Harlem
21	community for over two decades. Formally practiced at
22	North General Hospital before it closed. And I'm here
23	to make some suggestions around various areas in
24	healthcare. I'm not sure if there's a specific area
25	in the Charter that speaks to improving the quality

and health in the Harlem community.

I was raised in Harlem. As I mentioned I practiced at North General for over a decade. I'm currently practicing at the Harlem Ryan Clinics. There are two in Harlem, the Ryan Adair Clinic and the Harlem Frederick Douglass on 128th Street, right around the corner from Harlem Mothers S.A.V.E. Basically, I grew up in the -- ground houses.

The Ryan Clinics are a federally qualified health center. And in addition to addressing disparities, treating uncontrolled hypertension, diabetes, HIV, which I'm a specialist in, there's no surprise that mental illness has become at an all-time high. And my concerns around that impacting the community is why I'm here this evening.

Post-COVID -- even though we're approaching another -- well, hopefully not another epidemic -- but approaching this time where in addition to the social determinants of health like homelessness, poverty, food insecurity, mental illness is something that -- even walking from the clinic on 128th to 125th Street, I pass at least five to ten patients who are not only clearly acutely mentally ill, but just sitting there in various ways that it's clear that they need to be treated.

1	The way that we approached this
2	historically is at some point when it escalates,
3	someone will call 9-1-1, and then they'll be taken to
4	the closest E.R. But before that happens, who shows
5	up are police officers, fire department, or an EMS.
6	Sometimes they don't look they don't reflect the
7	community. And there's a circle that the patient
8	winds up back in the community.
9	What I'm advocating for is that with
10	the increase in clinics like Mount Sinai has a new
11	clinic on 124th Street with the increased
12	visibility of Columbia University, we have academic
13	agencies and institutions who are in our backyards;
14	however, those students don't always come back to the
15	community in a way that's really needed.
16	I was trained at Harlem Hospital,
17	again, back in the early eighties/late seventies. And
18	our goal for going into medicine had to do with giving
19	back to our community. Unfortunately, I sit here 40
20	years later and see similar disparities worsen, and to
21	see institutions like Columbia, Mount Sinai, which is
22	now, you know, Morningside
23	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Your time is up.
24	MS. MARLENE TAYLOR: I'm so sorry.
25	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Will you wrap it up?

	Page 165	
1	MS. MARLENE TAYLOR: So I want to	
2	advocate for	
3	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Do you have a	
4	written report for us?	
5	MS. MARLENE TAYLOR: Yes, I do.	
6	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you.	
7	MS. MARLENE TAYLOR: A collaboration	
8	with these institutions, and those students who are	
9	studying not only medicine but social work and	
10	psychiatry to improve the quality of life of these	
11	patients who are really impacting our everyday lives	
12	in Harlem	
13	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you so much.	
14	MS. MARLENE TAYLOR: Thank you.	
15	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Would you give us	
16	that written report? Thank you.	
17	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you,	
18	Marlene.	
19	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions from	
20	the any questions?	
21	Thank you. Thanks to those of you	
22	who've been on the Zoom awaiting to have your time.	
23	It is now your time.	
24	We will have, I think it's Adrian	
25	Iamborton Mrs Adrian Iamborton?	

	Page 166
1	MS. LAMBERTON: Andria Lamberton.
2	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Okay. Andria
3	Lamberton. Thank you for your patience.
4	MS. LAMBERTON: Thank you for hearing
5	my testimony. I appreciate it. Can you hear me okay?
6	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Yes.
7	MS. LAMBERTON: Good evening. I'm
8	Andria Lamberton, a resident of Manhattan and
9	professional sign language interpreter. I do not work
10	for an organization. I have spent my own time
11	researching and preparing testimony for you. After
12	waiting for three and half hours, I'm here to bring
13	your attention to a greatly overlook population, the
14	deaf community.
15	There are approximately 30,000 people
16	in New York City who are a linguistic minority, who
17	are not hearing-impaired but are deaf, whose primary
18	language is ASL. They require interpreting and
19	translating services in every facet of daily life.
20	New York City's 30,000-plus deaf
21	community needs greater access to ASL interpretation
22	and ASL translation. The community also needs a
23	Commission for the deaf to coordinate and enforce
24	citywide services. But none of these can happen

without recognizing the Americans With Disabilities

Act in the New York City Charter. It is widely known that the ADA is the law that provides for ASL interpretation and a reasonable accommodation, allowing access for people who are deaf, and that deafness is one of the federally recognized disabilities.

I have read through the chapters of the New York City Charter, and nowhere does it explicitly reference the ADA. Even though I see the words "disability" and "language access" trickled here and there, I know as a citizen of New York, I'd feel better if the law recognized me in every section that pertains to disability or to language translation.

I have also read the City Charter's preamble, and I testified that our deaf population are neglected on all points due to abandoned ASL interpretation and translation.

The deaf community is wide and varied, reflecting all races, religions, countries of origin, gender, and socioeconomic class. Naturally, there are a large percentage of deaf New Yorkers who are thriving, who are college educated, who are parents, professionals, and Broadway performers that require ASL interpreters in all facets of life simply because they cannot hear. But there is a large deaf

Page 168 1 population that also needs ASL translation. 2 According to the New York City Language 3 Access webpage, "interpretation" is the facilitation 4 of spoken communication between users of different 5 languages. "Translation" is the transferring of written information from one language to another. 6 Ιf 7 you look at any New York City website for any department or agency, you'll find no ASL translation 8 9 in the form of video clips. 10 American Sign Language has no written 11 form, and most people outside of our small community 12 do not know that ASL is not simply English in the air. 13 City government does not realize that many deaf, 14 especially due to high numbers of deaf immigrants in 15 New York City, are functionally illiterate in English 16 or in any written language. CDC local law 30 17 recognizes ten citywide languages that must be translated --18 19 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you so much. 20 Your time is up -- three minutes. 21 MS. LAMBERTON: -- deaf person for 22 ASL -- translation from English to ASL is completely 23 overlooked. I propose that ASL be added --24 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Can you submit 25 your --

## Public Hearing

	Page 169
1	MS. LAMBERTON: local law 30
2	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Hello?
3	MS. LAMBERTON: an
4	opportunity ma'am, I'll just be
5	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Hello, hello?
6	Ma'am, can you hear me? Your time is up.
7	MS. LAMBERTON: It is not up.
8	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Excuse me. Your
9	time is up. Three minutes for each of our persons
10	that are presenting. Thank you so much.
11	Any reports from the no. Thank you
12	so much.
13	Mr. Miles. I don't have a first name.
14	The last name I have here is Miles. Do we have
15	Mr. Miles on Zoom?
16	MR. MILES: Yes, I'm here. Can you
17	hear me?
18	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Yes. Three minutes,
19	please.
20	MR. MILES: Yes, ma'am. This won't
21	even take that long.
22	I'm in favor of repealing the Sanctuary
23	City status and in favor of the Charter revision. And
24	thank you for Councilwoman Paladino for telling us
25	about this. Otherwise, I would not have known.

Page 170 1 As a -- New Yorker, I make my 2 suggestion to the rest of the Commission on what 3 future meetings to go out on some of the media a little bit more. I only heard about it a few days 4 5 ago. But I'm in favor of repealing Sanctuary 6 7 City status. And, again, thank you all for your time. 8 Have a good night. 9 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you. 10 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Any 11 questions? 12 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: No. 13 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Move on. 14 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Mr. Williams? I 15 have -- Williams. Mr. Williams. Are you there? 16 You're muted. 17 MS. WILLIAMS: I'm sorry, hi. Could 18 you hear me? 19 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Yes. 20 MS. WILLIAMS: Hi, my name is Gladys 21 Williams, and my son Antonio Williams was killed by 22 NYPD and took out -- he was -- in the street in the 23 Bronx waiting for a cab when a plain-clothed officer 24 had jumped out of a vehicle, beat him, shot him, and 25 killed him, and also shot into the air where -- and

Page 171 1 also shooting one of their own. 2 I testified before the Charter 3 Commission not to place anything on the November 24, I was shocked to learn about the 4 2024, ballot. 5 Commission, their rushed timeline, and point that the How Many Stops Act -- this Commission was created. 6 7 I'm speaking as a mother and as one who fought for the How Many Stops Act before the NYPD 8 9 murdered my son Antonio. It was because they 10 illegally escalated what had just been a level I stop. I was trying to -- the How Many Stops Act and speak at 11 12 rallies to elected officials and the hearings, but 13 this was also a way to fight for my son. 14 It took a long time before the City 15 Council passed the legislation, and it wasn't -- or a 16 rushed or a hidden process the way this Commission 17 seems to be. In fact, part of why it took so long to pass the legislation was that the NYPD has so much 18 19 power, and the legislation related to them, whether 20 it's the City or the State level, they help with the 21 passage -- massive misinformation campaign with the 22 press after, and their money for public relations. 23 I was proud of the City 24 Council -- especially after the huge -- of bullying by

the NYPD -- the first time -- seemed like a rigged

process. It's not that I'm for -- or put anything on the ballot in November 2024. It's outrageous to think that you rushed hearings through for a month, only since June 5th, and you're scheduled to vote on final ballot language on July 25th, even though you haven't told New Yorkers what the final ballot language will be.

There's no good reason to

rush -- changes through in less than two months. This

is -- to democracy, this is a sham -- to put

in -- Commission on November 2024 ballot. I'm

speaking for the families that lost loved ones from

the NYPD. I'm fighting for this How Many Stops Act,

because I believe that New Yorkers have the right to

have -- just think about New Yorkers who are people

who are also trying to speak out. Thank you.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you.

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. Thank you so much. And I hear you, and we hear you, and that's why we're here. But I also want to say this. I hear your concern, but I know you just said, you know, you had tragedy.

I'm a mother who lost two kids to gun violence. And I want people to know that when we talk about the police, we need to help each other stop some

Page 173 1 of this gun violence that we're killing each other, 2 and I just need to say that. That is so important, 3 and a lot of emphasis is now going on every day -- we are killing each other, to take the community, to take 4 5 back the kids and take back the community and trying to put these guns in our kids' hands that's killing 6 7 each other. I just want to say that. But thank you for your testimony. 8 9 Mr. Christopher Johnson. 10 MR. C. JOHNSON: Hey, hello? Can you hear me? 11 12 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Yes. MR. C. JOHNSON: Hey, my name is 13 14 Christopher Lion Johnson. I'm on the -- at home. 15 I want to make this clear to the justice committee. 16 You guys have enough blackballing. You guys own the public advocate. You've got all the City Council 17 hearings and -- why are you guys complaining on the 18 19 chat about how this meeting is going. 20 And another thing about Antonio 21 Why won't the family of Antonio Williams 22 bring up Brian Mulkeen, who was killed in that same 23 situation with Antonio Williams. Now, of course

nobody deserves to die, but we need to start giving

respect to the cops that can killed on the job, too,

24

rather than, you know, the alleged criminal,	too.
Because at the end of the day now, I want	to make
this clear. All right? I want to make this	clear.
Cop killed the two but Antonio killed the	cop, too,
so it's just that as an aside. But let's go	forward.

And I want to make this clear. All right? What we need to do is for November is support How Many Stops Act -- to repeal it, because it was an illegal way that they put this on the bill. They did it a lot of unethical tactics to get this bill passed, with the help of the public advocate, the speaker, and the justice committee.

And another thing we need to do on the ballot is repeal the Sanctuary City laws. Because another thing that's happening in the City -- like I say, I'm not against a migrants. I love a migrant. But what the big issue here in the City is, is that we've got criminals that are migrants that are committing a lot of crimes. And Sanctuary City laws in New York City are protecting these guys on that. So this needs to be repealed.

There's two things to deal with on the ballot. And one more thing is we need to stop the influence of lobbyists on Community Boards and the cops on Community Boards -- on open plans and make

Page 175 1 for -- impact our Community Boards. So there's a few 2 things that need to stop in this City by repealing the 3 sanctuary laws and repeal the How Many Stops Act. The people that complain about this 4 5 Charters revision, I appreciate -- this chart. That's on the Board, including Diane Savino. But people that 6 7 complain are the nonprofits like the justice committee that takes over the City Council, they won the City 8 9 Council, and they think that you guys on the Board by 10 sitting there -- you get to bully and threaten. 11 that's the truth. 12 Like I said, like the cop -- like Brian 13 Mulkeen, he didn't deserve to die. I know he was 14 doing his job, and this guy -- negligence and 15 ignorance. 16 So thank you to the Charter Commission. 17 Like, don't be bullied by the corrupt nonprofits when we're here tomorrow and the next days coming up -- so 18 19 shout out to the Commission. So thank you. 20 MR. BRAGG: Thank you. 21 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. 22 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you. 23 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Any questions? 24 MR. BRAGG: No. 25 VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you.

## Public Hearing

	Page 176
1	Susan. We don't have a last name. It
2	says Susan. Is Susan on? There's not a last name.
3	Susan.
4	SUSAN: Yes, I'm here
5	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yeah, she's
6	here.
7	SUSAN: I'm sorry
8	VICE CHAIR DUKES: We can't hear you.
9	Are you muted?
10	MR. BRAGG: No, she's not muted.
11	SUSAN: No, I'm not muted. You can't
12	hear me?
13	MR. BRAGG: No, we can hear you.
14	VICE CHAIR DUKES: We can't hear you.
15	SUSAN: Hello?
16	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Yeah, we can hear
17	you.
18	SUSAN: Okay. I'm trying I can't
19	undo my video I don't know why.
20	MR. BRAGG: It's okay. We can hear
21	you.
22	VICE CHAIR DUKES: We can hear you.
23	SUSAN: Okay. So I'll just speak.
24	Give me one second. Thank you, Commissioners, for
25	having me here today. Thank you for the opportunity

1	for me to speak. My name is Susan and I'm
2	representing the Civil Rights Union of Local New York.
3	Local New York is a grassroots based
4	organization to end conservation, homelessness,
5	the war on drugs, and the epidemic of HIV and AIDS.
6	I live in Harlem, born and raised. I
7	also have my children and my grandchildren in Harlem.
8	I deeply concerned about the current Charter
9	Revision project. I did not even know about the
10	Commission or this hearing until last week. This
11	speaks to some of my concern about the
12	process excuse me that has not properly focused
13	on public participating. It seems like the point of
14	the Commission is to keep people out of the actual
15	process. Instead, we have a rushed, politically
16	motivated Commission that is not reflective of
17	the thorough review that the City Charter deserves.
18	The timeline speaks volumes.
19	The Commission was announced on
20	May 21st, held its first session June 5th, and plans
21	to finalize questions by August 5th. By contrast,
22	the 2019 Commission took a year with over 20 public
23	hearings, meetings to consider changes. This drastic
24	difference highlights a lack of genuine commitment to

public input.

Any Charter Revision Commission should carefully examine our -- Charter, the foundation of our government through inclusive -- discussion with experts and the public. This process -- hasn't done anything but -- more carefully -- that is quickly, seemingly -- that's been the -- and according to daily news, it has been clear that the intent of the Commission to revisit Charter authority, especially concerning public safety legislation. The preliminary report issued after just five -- undermines the City Council's role, particularly -- it aligns with the Mayor's attempts to intimidate the NYPD and the Department of Corrections -- proposed -- and accountability, two -- components of -- the democratic process must be respected. Change to the Charter should not be a reaction to -- but a thoughtful and -- endeavor. Recommit the legislative branch that protects the -- that undermines our democracy. I urge you to reconsider this rushed approach and to commit to a more deliberative -- process that truly reflects the public's voice and preserve the integrity of our City Charter. This would not be --

VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you very much.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

	Page 179
1	Your time is up.
2	SUSAN: Okay. Thank you.
3	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Do you have that in
4	writing? Can you submit it? Thank you so much.
5	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No. Questions?
6	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you. This
7	is I don't know who this is. The last name is
8	Duzant? Are you on?
9	MS. DUZANT: No, the
10	name yes good evening. Thank you for having me.
11	My name is Ms. Dolina Duzant.
12	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Oh, Duzant. Okay.
13	MS. DUZANT: I am the cofounder yes.
14	I am the cofounder of the Malcolm X Beautification
15	Group. We do community cleanups. And I'm also a
16	County Commission member for my District.
17	So one thing I do know when I'm reading
18	the Charter, it states that we endeavor to ensure that
19	every person who resides in New York City has the
20	opportunity to thrive. And this is part of the
21	preamble.
22	Then they list a number of things. And
23	one of the one of them was resources necessary to
24	prosper and build that is not here. I'm from
25	Brooklyn. I've been living in Harlem now for the last

Page 180 1 There's no say to what kind of business 30 years. comes into the community. Since -- the whole 2 3 Malcolm X Boulevard, we're inundated with barbershops, 4 liquor stores -- that sell, you know, weed. 5 Vendor's license applications need to be revised and constructed differently, especially for 6 7 vendors that are seasonal, like Icees, hot dogs, people that are outside. 8 9 DOH needs to be broken down. It needs 10 to be restructured to achieve certain goals and to 11 respond to the changes in the community. We do not 12 need more -- when you're doing a sweep of different 13 people avidly -- different people on the street 14 because they don't have the proper licenses. 15 We know you have to get a proper 16 But however, the process is very long. 17 People don't -- everybody is not a vendor. Everybody doesn't know the process. Everybody doesn't know how 18 19 to go about that, and everybody is not a veteran. So 20 we need to find ways to restructure DOH, the 21 Department of Health, way of doing these vendor 22 licenses, especially those that are regional. 23 I know at one point they were supposed 24 to -- the City Council was supposed to pass a bill

where commercial property was going to be rent-

	Page 181
1	stabilized. That hasn't happened. It seems like it
2	just, whoop, vanished into thin air. We really need
3	to do something. The City if the City just
4	restructured how they did things, especially when
5	people are entrepreneurs and trying to start a
6	business. Then, one, people will get the proper
7	licenses, pay their taxes, and money will come back
8	into the community. And people will have a way to
9	feed, house, and clothe themselves and take care of
10	their children.
11	Thank you so much. You all have a
12	wonderful week.
13	MR. BRAGG: Thank you.
14	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Thank you.
15	UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you. She
16	was right on time. Yeah, that's it. That was it.
17	VICE CHAIR DUKES: The meeting is
18	adjourned.
19	MR. BRAGG: Motion to adjourn. Motion
20	to adjourn.
21	VICE CHAIR DUKES: Yes, motion to
22	adjourn.
23	MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Second.
24	VICE CHAIR DUKES: The meeting is
25	adjourned.

## Public Hearing

				Page 18	32
1	(Whereupor	, the	meeting	concluded	at
2	8:44 p.m.)				
3					
4					
5					
6					
7					
8					
9					
10					
11					
12					
13					
14					
15					
16					
17					
18					
19					
20					
21					
22					
23					
24					
25					

Page 183

•	1	
_	L	
•	_	

## CERTIFICATE

2 I, THEA POPKO, the officer before whom the 3 foregoing proceedings were taken, do hereby certify 4 that any witness(es) in the foregoing proceedings, prior to testifying, were duly sworn; that the 5 proceedings were recorded by me and thereafter reduced 6 to typewriting by a qualified transcriptionist; that 7 8 said digital audio recording of said proceedings are a 9 true and accurate record to the best of my knowledge, 10 skills, and ability; that I am neither counsel for, related to, nor employed by any of the parties to the 11 12 action in which this was taken; and, further, that I 13 am not a relative or employee of any counsel or 14 attorney employed by the parties hereto, nor 15 financially or otherwise interested in the outcome of 16 this action.

17

18

19

2021

2223

24

25

Ele Ryl

THEA POPKO

Notary Public in and for the

State of New York

Page 184

1 CERTIFICATE OF TRANSCRIBE
-----------------------------

I, LAURA MORIN, do hereby certify that this transcript was prepared from the digital audio recording of the foregoing proceeding, that said transcript is a true and accurate record of the proceedings to the best of my knowledge, skills, and ability; that I am neither counsel for, related to, nor employed by any of the parties to the action in which this was taken; and, further, that I am not a relative or employee of any counsel or attorney employed by the parties hereto, nor financially or otherwise interested in the outcome of this action.

Jama Morin

LAURA MORIN

[**001 - 31**] Page 1

0	<b>15</b> 5:3 55:15	142:8	<b>23</b> 80:8
<b>001</b> 109:3	79:12 142:2,3	<b>2015</b> 118:2	<b>24</b> 171:3
	<b>16,700</b> 17:20	<b>2016</b> 114:4	<b>24th</b> 13:17
1	<b>1636</b> 49:24	138:2	<b>25</b> 40:2
<b>1</b> 18:23 79:18	<b>16th</b> 141:13	<b>2017</b> 59:5	<b>25,000</b> 160:17
111:13	<b>175</b> 160:9	62:10	161:6
<b>1,700</b> 64:2	<b>17th</b> 13:16	<b>2018</b> 10:12	<b>25th</b> 172:5
67:22	<b>18</b> 151:20,22	106:17	<b>26</b> 5:4
<b>1.4</b> 104:1	<b>19</b> 17:15	<b>2019</b> 73:22	<b>26.5</b> 121:3
<b>1.42</b> 79:21 80:3	<b>1936</b> 46:1	97:10 103:25	<b>26338</b> 184:14
<b>1.5</b> 30:14	<b>1969</b> 134:4	106:17 120:17	<b>26th</b> 13:17
<b>10</b> 10:15 17:8	<b>1970s</b> 92:11	177:22	<b>27</b> 136:2 155:6
17:13 25:23	<b>1977</b> 46:10	<b>2020</b> 16:16	<b>27.9</b> 79:22
27:1 33:14	<b>1989</b> 108:6,7	17:6	<b>27th</b> 13:18
53:19 59:19	<b>1994</b> 86:6,13	<b>2021</b> 17:11	<b>280</b> 64:14
132:1,5 136:3	87:22	88:21 91:12	<b>29</b> 80:8
136:11,13	2	95:1 117:9	<b>292</b> 64:13
142:17		120:15 121:2	3
<b>100</b> 53:3 57:25	<b>2</b> 30:13	121:11	
58:24	<b>2,000</b> 27:22	<b>2022</b> 17:20	3 10:15
<b>10037</b> 1:13	<b>20</b> 53:22 59:20	81:6 117:10	<b>3,000</b> 22:8
<b>11</b> 10:15	60:11 87:7	<b>2023</b> 59:5	<b>3.5</b> 80:2 81:19
111:13 112:21	114:15 177:22	62:10 79:21	<b>30</b> 28:18,19
<b>112</b> 81:16	<b>200,000</b> 17:11	117:11,13	29:5,7 30:22
158:1	17:14 22:12	<b>2024</b> 1:7 14:18	39:19,25 41:12
<b>12</b> 15:6 103:16	<b>2001</b> 47:23	15:6,24 63:7	42:12 87:24
158:4	<b>2003</b> 46:17	84:17 114:17	143:16 158:10
<b>124th</b> 164:11	<b>2008</b> 17:19	171:4 172:2,11	168:16 169:1
<b>125th</b> 163:22	59:4	<b>2026</b> 40:2	180:1
<b>128th</b> 163:6,22	<b>2009</b> 71:24	<b>2030</b> 40:3	<b>30,000</b> 166:15
<b>13</b> 121:16	<b>2010</b> 16:16	<b>20th</b> 13:16	166:20
<b>130</b> 114:5	17:6,9,16	<b>21st</b> 177:20	<b>300,000</b> 114:16
<b>13th</b> 13:15	<b>2012</b> 118:7	<b>22,500</b> 17:19	<b>30630</b> 183:18
<b>14</b> 16:17 17:7	154:9	<b>22nd</b> 15:3	<b>30th</b> 15:20
80:9	<b>2013</b> 102:8		<b>31</b> 80:7,11
	117:23 121:15		144:13

## [32bj - accountability]

201 1 10 0	<b>F</b> ( ( 101 F	00200 17.24	T 4 4
<b>32bj</b> 10:9	<b>56.6</b> 121:5	<b>90288</b> 17:24	abstention
<b>34</b> 104:1	<b>5:02</b> 1:8	<b>96.5</b> 80:10	13:24
<b>35</b> 5:5	<b>5th</b> 14:18 172:4	<b>97</b> 5:14 111:13	abutting
<b>36,000</b> 22:8	177:20,21	a	144:10
<b>37</b> 60:10	6	<b>a.m.</b> 7:18	academic
<b>38</b> 5:6	<b>6,000</b> 17:21	abandoned	164:12
<b>39.7</b> 80:5	<b>6.3</b> 40:6,7,9	167:16	acc 102:5,10
4	60 40:4	abandonment	103:9,20,21,25
<b>40</b> 7:3 71:18	<b>600</b> 115:5	105:1	accepted
110:24 121:12	<b>62</b> 5:9	<b>abated</b> 111:17	104:14
146:15,19	<b>63</b> 64:16	abilities 29:25	accepting 85:7
164:19	<b>65</b> 17:18	ability 19:4	access 24:24
<b>41</b> 81:17	<b>6762744</b> 1:20	32:9 34:1	39:5 45:12,20
<b>41.1</b> 79:25 80:6	7	39:21 41:10	62:13 81:14
<b>43</b> 107:22	_	43:3,24 48:14	82:9 83:12
<b>44</b> 5:7	<b>70</b> 29:6 39:20	48:24 80:18	111:22 130:25
<b>45,000</b> 22:7	<b>71</b> 5:10	82:23 83:7	131:2 166:21
<b>47</b> 46:13	<b>72</b> 65:19	86:9 92:19,25	167:4,10 168:3
<b>48</b> 17:20	<b>79</b> 5:11	93:9 119:8	accident 75:10
4th 95:12	8	183:10 184:7	75:10
5	<b>8</b> 1:7 17:11	<b>able</b> 11:16	accidents 92:18
	<b>80</b> 152:14	12:10 19:6	accommodated
<b>5</b> 15:6 136:7	<b>800</b> 135:9	25:7 57:9	53:5
160:10	<b>80s</b> 92:11	69:18,22,23	accommodati
<b>5.8</b> 40:22 41:9	<b>85</b> 5:12	83:11 86:13	167:3
<b>50</b> 60:9	<b>88</b> 5:13	88:4,7 91:23	accomplished
<b>50,000</b> 17:10,12	<b>89.3</b> 121:5	121:13 131:23	31:21
114:6 160:19	<b>8:44</b> 182:2	above 17:11,14	accomplishing
160:25 161:6	9	absolutely	33:11
<b>500</b> 18:16		31:12 43:23	accomplishm
<b>51</b> 5:8	<b>9's</b> 16:16 17:7	67:15 75:6	28:11
<b>515</b> 1:12	17:10,17	96:20,23 97:21	accountability
<b>52</b> 64:19	<b>9-1-1</b> 164:3	114:23 115:10	41:18 81:25
<b>53,000</b> 22:5	90 114:21	124:1	83:1,14 85:5
	146:5	127.1	87:2 90:17,19

95:17 103:20	175:3	41:8 42:11	adhered 75:15
118:9 134:23	action 35:24	54:21 69:4,5	<b>adjourn</b> 181:19
135:2,23 137:7	183:12,16	70:9 80:13	181:20,22
137:24 155:12	184:8,12	90:21 95:6	adjourned
178:14	actions 18:7	106:25 107:4,8	181:18,25
accountable	<b>active</b> 31:19	129:1,4,10	adjournments
39:17,23 42:11	46:11 120:6	130:2 133:16	139:5
83:3 86:25	148:2	147:3,19,22,23	adjustment
119:9 137:20	actively 12:23	148:1,18 149:4	120:14
141:25	activism	149:23 150:5	administer
accounting	132:13,18	154:23	29:22
107:23	activist 15:11	adapting	administration
accounts 77:17	activities 47:4	103:13	29:20,23 31:21
accruing	actual 16:7	<b>add</b> 60:21	44:2,3 45:17
111:19	28:10 84:6	63:14 70:4	49:7,25 50:2,4
accuracy 53:13	177:14	145:3	54:21 55:2
accurate 52:7	actually 28:22	<b>added</b> 168:23	80:13,16 99:1
60:14 67:4,6	30:12 53:5	addition 36:15	111:25 118:22
74:21 117:25	57:22 67:10,13	66:14 72:20	155:19
183:9 184:5	76:23 77:1,8,8	163:10,19	administrations
achieve 180:10	90:24 117:21	additional 66:6	27:18 81:5
achieving	125:9,24 131:6	74:10 94:8	93:8 98:18
42:11 83:4	131:7,17,18,18	address 19:23	administrator
120:16	131:23 150:24	22:1 81:6	72:1
acknowledge	acutely 163:23	104:25 105:3	<b>admit</b> 107:12
66:6	<b>ada</b> 167:2,9	151:3	<b>ado</b> 13:4
acquisition	<b>adair</b> 163:5	addressed 50:9	<b>adopt</b> 18:2 57:2
16:13 17:4	<b>adam</b> 3:20	50:11 137:4,6	74:3 144:9
18:3	110:13,16	addresses	adoptable
acs 52:15 143:2	adams 3:23	118:13	103:12,16
act 65:3 70:5	6:13 8:2,4,6,11	addressing	105:9
117:6 138:20	8:16 11:10	23:3 141:9	adopted 9:16
155:8,15 167:1	25:21 27:15	163:11	58:23 73:19
171:6,8,11	29:15 37:14	<b>adhere</b> 100:15	112:1
172:13 174:8	38:21 40:5	100:17 104:16	

	1	1	
adopting 74:10	affairs 2:15	82:11 83:2,15	<b>ain't</b> 77:9
adoption 53:9	45:17 47:5	85:6 90:24	147:17
<b>adrian</b> 165:24	155:14	91:4,17 109:9	<b>air</b> 168:12
165:25	affect 61:1	115:11 117:15	170:25 181:2
adrienne 2:15	affects 11:17	118:14 119:9	<b>airbnb</b> 151:21
5:14 97:24	82:23	134:24 164:13	153:24
<b>adults</b> 134:14	affiliated 89:10	<b>agency</b> 19:1,2	<b>al</b> 34:22 142:2
advance 29:24	affiliation	25:5 29:18,25	albanese 107:1
50:22 65:15	76:20	36:8 41:1,16	albany 27:6
90:3 94:16	affirmative	42:8 45:7	39:1
119:10	35:24	46:10,11 47:13	<b>align</b> 53:9
advancing	<b>afford</b> 103:3	50:7 62:6	aligned 42:24
94:15	152:6 153:6	79:11 81:21,23	alignment
advertised	affordability	83:3,7,9 84:2,4	39:24
151:8	18:13 20:2	84:6,6 86:3,25	<b>aligns</b> 178:12
<b>advice</b> 106:22	affordable 16:3	87:8,13 98:6	alleged 174:1
155:21	16:5 18:5,8,11	99:4 102:11	allegedly
advise 7:20	18:14 21:16,16	113:22 127:8	143:19
47:11	21:21,22 45:5	127:10 128:1,3	<b>allow</b> 27:3 43:8
advisory 44:24	99:10,20,23	144:17 161:24	59:6 85:6
46:7,8,9	104:21 110:25	162:6,6 168:8	87:13 90:24
131:10	114:12,14,16	agency's 32:8	120:19 161:2
advocacy 117:3	<b>afraid</b> 138:17	45:19 46:15	allowance
120:8	african 80:8	47:3	142:5
advocate 2:16	afternoon 27:9	agendas 73:17	allowed 30:10
65:13 106:20	44:19 154:4	<b>aging</b> 65:19	30:11 69:13,14
113:21 121:15	age 127:15	<b>ago</b> 38:14 41:6	113:1 130:6
150:6 165:2	agencies 14:16	46:2 170:5	160:17
173:17 174:11	28:25 29:1,3,9	<b>agree</b> 139:19	allowing 38:8
advocates	29:13 32:2,5,8	agreeing 27:3	57:22 98:2
102:19	32:15 39:16,18	agreement	122:18 133:14
advocating	39:19,22 42:10	94:19 118:17	167:4
69:1 101:24	43:8 52:14	<b>aid</b> 27:23	<b>allows</b> 40:24
164:9	62:13,14 65:6	aids 177:5	65:23 86:19
	66:6,15,17		142:14

alpheaus 3:10	160:18,25	161:5,18,21,25	appointments
alter 120:3	161:6	162:2,4,5,7	109:15
alternative	amounts	answers 160:16	appreciate 7:17
126:13 128:1	161:19	anti 93:17	47:6 62:17
alters 119:7	ample 67:2	118:5	70:10 105:24
amaury 2:12	70:2	antonio 170:21	120:9 156:25
5:9 62:21 63:8	amsterdam	171:9 173:20	157:4 162:8
amazing 11:8	134:5	173:21,23	166:5 175:5
11:10,18 153:1	analysis 63:19	174:4	appreciated
amend 66:3	64:2 92:7,12	anymore 20:3	63:11 158:21
90:18	94:11 112:5	49:1	approach 85:9
amended 33:13	analyzed 55:9	anyone's 34:9	178:20
amending 66:1	andrew 3:19	<b>anyway</b> 57:21	approached
amendment	5:8 41:7 51:5	145:3	164:1
7:22 26:23	51:21 56:3	<b>apart</b> 118:12	approaching
33:16 130:6,10	andria 3:7	apartment	163:17,18
131:15 141:13	166:1,2,8	110:19	appropriate
141:23	anecdotes	apartments	55:4
amendments	60:16	10:10	appropriated
44:21 89:6,17	<b>animal</b> 101:25	apologies 70:19	57:25
89:19 90:10	102:1,4,13,15	appalled 81:18	appropriately
130:8	104:10,11,12	appalling 132:3	52:20 54:23
american 80:8	105:1	<b>appear</b> 103:11	appropriation
94:17 131:21	<b>animals</b> 101:23	appearing	108:18
168:10	102:3,7,17,25	157:7	appropriations
americans	103:4,6,11,12	appended 47:9	109:2,19
92:16 166:25	103:14,15,17	applaud 73:23	approval 63:15
ami 22:1,25	104:9,17 105:2	applications	64:9,18
99:15 145:2	105:9,11,17,19	180:5	approvals 81:9
146:15,19	announced	applies 64:25	approve 13:14
amis 21:18,20	177:19	apply 65:8	89:4
22:2,2	annually 52:13	<b>appoint</b> 39:21	approved
amount 28:20	answer 34:9	142:15	13:25 64:7
28:21 80:1	47:15 72:6	appointed 48:2	73:21 86:19
99:18 107:24	94:12 160:21		

approximately	asian 80:4,9	assessments	<b>august</b> 177:21
17:18,19	127:3	66:2,4,8,9	authority 29:10
166:15	aside 174:5	assign 74:20	29:11 48:10
arbiter 59:1	asked 70:8	assistance	88:1 114:10
arbitrary 100:1	126:11	103:9 112:5	178:8
architecture	<b>asking</b> 18:17	assistant	available 45:25
86:16	21:12 33:14	116:14	135:18
archival 46:8	49:20 53:15	association	avenue 134:5
46:16 47:12	68:10 95:2	146:10 159:13	average 22:4
48:8	127:13,14	assuredly	64:13
archive 45:23	132:4,4	68:18	avidly 180:13
47:22	asl 166:18,21	asylum 27:23	avoiding
archives 45:15	166:22 167:2	33:7	121:10
47:4	167:16,24	attack 35:25	awaiting 30:5
area 22:25 23:7	168:1,8,12,22	attack 33.23	165:22
23:11,22 95:11	168:22,23	attempt 112.2	awaits 31:13
109:14 136:6	assembly 26:8	178:12	award 36:12
162:24	26:15 30:2	attend 130:23	43:3,8 82:21
areas 99:22	35:17	attendance 6:8	82:23
120:25 142:22			<b>awarded</b> 19:10
144:2 162:23	assemblyman	attendees 2:2 3:2 4:2	
	4:15 35:4,7		40:6,9 41:21 79:21
arguably 80:15	37:13,21 38:10	attends 160:9	
83:2	79:6	attention	awarding
argue 72:2	assemblyme	136:24 137:3,9	36:15 40:2,14
<b>argued</b> 120:18	4:16 71:1 98:7	166:13	41:2,23 42:5,9
arm's 143:17	assemblypers	attorney	42:13 43:6
arose 117:22	39:17 71:13	183:14 184:10	awards 40:16
arrears 111:20	assemblywo	attractive	41:4,25 80:10
111:20,22	2:10 26:16,19	113:6	83:8
112:14,17	34:20 38:11,24	<b>audio</b> 183:8	<b>aware</b> 84:14
arrival 27:22	56:17	184:3	awareness
art 103:7	assertions	audited 98:10	81:23 82:1,9
articulated	117:15	auditorium	83:12 84:24
84:3	assess 63:21	56:13	<b>aye</b> 13:22

[b2g - biggest] Page 7

b	balanced	<b>beat</b> 170:24	benefit 28:13
<b>b2g</b> 40:24	126:20	beautification	58:10 110:22
baby 109:25	balances 48:21	179:14	benefited
back 12:15	116:22 119:8	beautiful 10:7	121:10 130:14
97:13,14	<b>ballot</b> 12:7 52:1	11:18	benefits 112:7
100:22 109:12	72:18 75:11	<b>bee</b> 128:22	120:16
100.22 109.12	78:8,9,10	beginning	beseeched 98:5
123:9 138:2	88:24 107:14	36:24 92:16	<b>best</b> 27:11 55:9
142:8 147:23	119:11 120:15	behalf 3:13	60:16 74:1
148:24 149:11	120:20 134:23	72:19 80:23	78:11 183:9
157:11,11	135:1,22 156:1	86:2 89:10	184:6
164:8,14,17,19	156:20 171:4	90:21 120:8	<b>bethune</b> 158:11
173:5,5 181:7	172:2,5,6,11	behavior 103:9	better 39:9
backdoor	174:14,23	103:10	40:11 43:18
125:18	bamboozled	<b>behest</b> 133:15	82:11 87:14
background	33:1	behoove 36:23	107:2 167:12
45:2 158:11	bamboozlem	behooves 135:6	betterment
backlash	28:12	<b>beings</b> 105:17	11:18 27:16
137:18	<b>ban</b> 70:5	<b>belief</b> 35:22	<b>beyond</b> 144:23
<b>backlog</b> 111:17	barbershops	72:5,23	biased 156:5
backyard	180:3	believe 19:2	<b>bible</b> 146:9
104:25	barriers 42:2	24:1 33:10	<b>bid</b> 42:20,22
backyards	94:23	63:18 66:8	bidding 30:16
164:13	<b>base</b> 54:8	68:6 73:3 77:7	104:3
<b>bad</b> 76:13	based 52:7	77:7 81:22	<b>biden</b> 111:25
118:3	87:10 177:3	82:6 83:6 86:8	<b>big</b> 45:7 76:6
<b>bag</b> 135:10	<b>basic</b> 118:14	86:18,24 91:17	96:2 98:22
baggett 2:3	basically	92:2 95:8 97:5	108:20 135:10
129:16,23,24	102:24 108:18	127:15,16	151:2 153:2,4
129:25 132:15	108:22 158:18	172:14	174:17
132:16,23	163:8	<b>believed</b> 103:18	<b>bigger</b> 108:11
132:10,23	<b>basis</b> 116:22	<b>beloved</b> 133:15	153:7
<b>balance</b> 95:5,13	bathwater	benchmark	biggest 58:4
96:1 97:2,9	110:1	121:12	107:24 134:8
99:20			
99.4U			

[bill - branches] Page 8

	22 10 22 10 27	101 10 100 1 7	244405545
<b>bill</b> 17:24 24:2	32:18 33:18,25	131:12 132:1,5	34:14 106:6,16
30:4,13,16,21	36:16 40:14,17	136:3,4,13	106:24 110:8
30:23,25 31:5	41:25 42:14	138:13 159:3	131:6 132:6
31:13 43:7	80:4,15 113:22	159:12 175:6,9	boroughs 8:7
63:15 64:6	113:23 131:22	boards 44:24	9:11,19 10:14
65:19 117:8,16	132:2 160:11	46:7 47:1,8	13:12 14:6
117:19,19	blackballing	109:15 124:13	22:6 100:22
119:5 174:9,10	173:16	128:13 130:5,7	103:7 148:23
180:24	blackout 18:4	131:8,9,11,16	148:23 151:24
<b>billion</b> 40:2,4,6	blacks 19:11	131:16,20,24	borrow 81:1
40:7,9 79:21	22:5,11,13	132:6 142:13	bottleneck
79:25 80:3,5,6	25:6	142:15,20	94:18
81:16,17 104:1	<b>blame</b> 90:23,25	143:6,8,10,15	<b>boulevard</b> 1:12
158:1,2,3,4	<b>blasio</b> 107:5,9	174:24,25	180:3
<b>bills</b> 29:23 30:2	<b>bless</b> 33:19	175:1	<b>boys</b> 98:22
30:6 39:1,2	34:11 149:19	<b>boats</b> 36:23	<b>bragg</b> 2:4 6:8
43:15 63:23	158:22	<b>bodies</b> 90:17,19	9:14,15 10:12
64:10,11,12,13	blessed 15:20	90:20 94:21	10:17,18 13:20
64:15 67:23	34:11	<b>body</b> 18:6	21:15 22:19
70:3,5 155:17	blinded 44:4	20:14,15 89:10	66:24 67:7
<b>bishop</b> 4:3 6:15	<b>block</b> 155:21	91:13 128:7,11	68:5,20 69:3
<b>bit</b> 45:1 48:3	<b>board</b> 16:16	<b>bolster</b> 90:16	74:16,25 75:4
56:25 67:18	17:7,10,17	<b>bonded</b> 113:24	75:17,20,25
76:13 85:6	25:23 27:1	boogie 6:10	83:22 85:11
107:17 135:14	33:14 39:22	7:11 58:20	110:6 133:4
137:1 170:4	42:21 46:7,8,9	101:3	145:16 157:6
<b>bivins</b> 14:1	46:11,13,14,16	<b>booking</b> 152:14	161:23 175:20
<b>black</b> 1:11 14:2	46:17,21 47:11	<b>boost</b> 42:21	175:24 176:10
16:17 17:7	48:8,22,22,23	<b>born</b> 9:15	176:13,20
18:20,20 19:5	106:10 111:16	133:25 134:4	181:13,19
19:9,10 20:16	111:17,19,23	150:23 151:1	branch 95:15
20:19,20,22	112:1 124:15	177:6	96:5 118:19
21:3,8 24:9	128:7 130:14	borough 7:10	178:18
25:12,12 30:9	130:14,18,21	7:19 8:17 9:7	branches 79:12
31:18,22 32:6	130:23 131:1,3	10:4 25:23	

[breach - calls] Page 9

<b>breach</b> 108:10	<b>bronx</b> 6:11	building 22:3	24:18,21 25:7
<b>break</b> 114:17		22:18 30:23	28:3 33:5,25
	7:10,11 13:16		35:23 36:16
147:16	23:15 58:16,20	110:19 113:8	
breakdown	60:12 100:25	138:21	37:4 40:15,17
109:4	101:1,2 123:10	buildings	42:1 81:3
breakdowns	149:5 170:23	109:11 112:25	134:24 135:6,6
108:20	brooklyn 9:7	113:9 146:10	144:3 152:3
breeding	9:15 13:17,18	146:20 150:22	businessown
104:25	38:14 68:6	151:2 152:2,5	134:14
brewer 2:5	106:25 149:1	<b>built</b> 21:21	bylaws 9:22
106:3,7,9,12	179:25	32:13 99:23	131:5
110:10	brother 154:7	150:22	c
<b>brian</b> 173:22	154:22	<b>bullied</b> 175:17	c 2:1 3:1 4:1 5:1
175:12	brought 78:15	<b>bully</b> 175:10	6:1 173:10,13
<b>bridge</b> 125:10	114:25 136:24	<b>bullying</b> 171:24	cab 170:23
<b>brief</b> 15:18	137:2,8 149:6	<b>burden</b> 103:1	cages 102:21
89:13 126:17	<b>brown</b> 18:20	113:7	calculus 21:18
briefly 6:24	20:17,19,20,22	burdens 27:20	california
85:24	21:3,8 80:15	112:16	76:22 77:5,6
<b>bring</b> 80:14	<b>budget</b> 3:19	burdensome	77:11,13,15
120:14 125:20	51:5,22 52:5,6	112:21	call 36:17
126:16,24	52:7,10,18	bureau 102:5	40:12 98:22
127:11 153:11	53:1,6,8,8,25	bureaucracy	
154:13 156:23	55:14,18 81:16	94:8	138:17 148:9
166:12 173:22	82:3 91:5	<b>burned</b> 102:20	151:21 164:3
bringing 15:16	94:20 108:19	business 2:18	called 19:3
25:24 26:12	158:1	25:12 32:12	40:24 93:3
42:21 43:13	budgeted 52:12	36:2 39:8	108:17 109:2
139:15	57:24	42:15 79:19	113:23 124:14
<b>broad</b> 89:21	budgeting	113:24 114:3	127:23 131:9
124:12	53:10 58:2	135:13,17	156:18
broadway	<b>budgets</b> 93:23	153:4 161:3	calling 15:22
167:23	<b>build</b> 16:5	180:1 181:6	129:17 151:21
<b>broken</b> 180:9	22:15 36:19	businesses	calls 54:21 95:3
21 Jilli 100.7	81:10 179:24	18:21 19:6	131:15
	01.10 1/7.27	10.21 17.0	

	125111010	1.52.10	27.10.22.25.0
campaign 44:1	136:11 181:9	163:10	25:19,22 26:9
82:1 159:8,8	career 32:13	centers 102:1	26:18 33:20
171:21	86:15	150:10	34:6,13 35:2,6
campaigning	careerism	central 45:16	37:11 38:5
134:18	130:16	60:11 88:25	42:16 43:10
campaigns	careful 95:13	106:13	44:8,12 47:16
83:13	carefully 178:2	centralize 86:4	51:1,4,7,11,13
campbell 2:6	178:5	centralized	55:25 56:11,16
153:21,21	caring 99:8	30:7 40:25	56:24 60:19
154:1,2,4,5	carlo 4:4	41:16 86:8,19	62:21 63:1,4
156:23 157:5	carriage 105:4	86:24 87:13	66:22 69:4
157:13	<b>carve</b> 153:3	centuries 93:24	70:7,17,21,25
candidate	case 17:23	certain 24:8	71:3,8 74:13
38:21 71:25	19:12 28:5	50:1 61:18	74:15 75:19
121:11	67:25 85:8	137:17 180:10	76:2 77:20,23
candidates	112:5 121:22	certainly 7:3	78:2,3,20,24,25
72:10,19,22,25	126:20 138:2	50:18 72:4	79:1,5,9 83:20
73:6,8,14	<b>cases</b> 112:7	133:19 136:18	85:12,18,21
121:21 128:2	137:16	certificate	87:18 88:10,17
159:10	<b>cash</b> 81:1	183:1 184:1	95:20 96:12,14
capabilities	<b>cast</b> 72:18	certified 31:6,8	96:18,21,25
82:18	<b>cat</b> 105:3	40:3	97:17,23,25
capable 27:25	<b>cause</b> 76:13	certifies 46:24	100:8,12 101:1
capacities	139:5	certify 183:3	101:13,15,19
82:19	causes 53:18	184:2	104:22 105:6
capacity 48:16	80:24	cetera 143:2	105:12,22
71:22 89:8	<b>cb</b> 142:17	144:12	106:1,4 110:4
102:17	<b>cbc</b> 59:4	<b>chair</b> 3:3 4:4	110:7,12
capital 81:5,7	<b>cchr</b> 91:7	6:4,5,5,22 7:23	113:13 115:16
161:3	<b>ccrb</b> 118:7	9:3 10:5,13,19	115:18,24
capone 142:2	<b>cdc</b> 168:16	10:22 11:3,20	116:3,5,10,12
care 13:10	census 80:7	11:24 12:12,15	119:13,18,21
102:1,18	center 1:11	12:16,20 13:5	122:4 123:21
103:22 104:13	14:2 27:3,13	13:21,23 16:18	123:23 124:22
116:24 134:14	51:19 121:20	16:21 19:15,17	125:1,5,7

	I		T
127:19,21	chairing 7:14	changing 33:16	126:24 131:6
128:24 129:12	chairman 6:2,6	40:15 42:3	133:21 137:9
129:16,20,23	6:19 7:13,13	65:23	140:7,8,10,11
132:14,21,25	11:21 12:3,17	<b>chaos</b> 138:15	140:12,13,14
133:2,5,12	13:6 22:20	chapter 144:13	142:5,14,18
136:1,10,19,22	157:21	chapters 167:7	143:3 144:8,13
139:11,14,17	chairperson	charge 38:9	154:14 155:20
140:4,19,23	9:3	162:4	155:22 161:12
141:2,5,5	challenge 59:22	chart 82:5	162:25 167:1,8
145:5,10,12,14	challenged	175:5	169:23 171:2
145:17,21,24	36:25	charter 6:3	175:16 177:8
146:3,6 149:20	challenges	7:22 9:21,24	177:17 178:1,2
150:3 151:5,12	27:19	10:3 13:8,9,15	178:8,16,23
151:18 153:9	champion	14:5,9,11 15:4	179:18
153:12,16,19	138:7,12	15:25 18:1	charter's
153:23,25	championed	19:22 25:15	167:14
154:3 156:21	92:12	29:17 33:13,17	charterinfo
157:15,19	chance 8:17	36:7,8,11	15:5
158:24 159:17	56:19 100:6	44:22 46:5	charters 78:8
159:23 160:4	104:2	47:7 48:18,21	175:5
161:9,20	change 11:17	50:17 51:25	<b>chat</b> 173:19
162:10,15,18	14:9 32:17	52:20 53:17	cheaper 153:8
164:23,25	34:4 55:3,16	54:5,9,16 55:3	checkpoint
165:3,6,13,15	74:4 75:5 86:7	55:16 63:7	92:13
165:19 166:2,6	89:11 118:24	64:25 66:1,4	<b>checks</b> 48:21
168:19,24	121:17 122:19	66:10 67:16,17	116:21 119:7
169:2,5,8,18	141:16 178:16	67:19 71:15	chevron 93:3
170:10,14	changed 20:5	88:20 89:11,15	chicago 112:12
172:18 175:21	changes 11:14	89:16 90:17,18	chief 2:18
175:23,25	61:1 82:7 95:9	91:3,12,19	32:12
176:8,14,16,22	96:2 111:1	96:7 106:15	childcare 98:21
178:25 179:3,6	113:4 118:16	110:21 111:6	98:25
179:12 181:14	119:1,3 127:14	111:14 116:19	children 96:4
181:17,21,24	172:9 177:23	120:17 124:9	98:23 99:8
	180:11	124:14 126:15	134:7 136:5

[children - civil] Page 12

153:7 177:7				
chinnor         2:6         157:10,12         75:9 76:23         168:13,15           chip         110:18         7:22 9:21         79:25 80:23         171:14,20,23           choice         73:20         10:20 11:13,18         81:16 84:21,23         173:17 174:14           74:5 75:2,7,12         13:10 14:9,12         87:10,25 88:21         174:15,17,19           75:21 78:7,14         14:16 19:7         89:1,7,12,16,19         174:20 175:2,8           120:3,12 121:6         22:12,16 23:7         89:20,22 90:7         175:8 177:17           121:23 145:2         24:5 26:14,14         90:11,18,22         175:8 177:17           121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choises         55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         29:8 30:7,18           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           chosing         74:2         32:14 33:3,34         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17	153:7 177:7	126:19 128:4	71:21 72:1	166:16 167:1,8
chip         110:18         city         3:16 6:3,12         77:2 79:20,21         169:23 170:7           choice         73:20         10:20 11:13,18         81:16 84:21,23         171:14,20,23           74:5 75:2,7,12         13:10 14:9,12         87:10,25 88:21         174:15,17,19           75:21 78:7,14         14:16 19:7         89:1,7,12,16,19         174:20 175:2,8           120:3,12 121:6         22:12,16 23:7         89:20,22 90:7         175:8 177:17           121:23 145:2         24:5 26:14,14         90:11,18,22         178:11,23           choices         72:15         27:11,16 28:2         91:6,13,19         179:19 180:24           121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choose         55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         29:8 30:7,18           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           chosing         74:2         32:14 33:3,34         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         40:3,20,24         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17 </td <td>181:10</td> <td>142:5 143:18</td> <td>73:3,21 74:11</td> <td>167:14 168:2,7</td>	181:10	142:5 143:18	73:3,21 74:11	167:14 168:2,7
chip         110:18         7:22 9:21         79:25 80:23         171:14,20,23           choice         73:20         10:20 11:13,18         81:16 84:21,23         173:17 174:14           74:5 75:2,7,12         13:10 14:9,12         87:10,25 88:21         174:15,17,19           75:21 78:7,14         14:16 19:7         89:1,7,12,16,19         174:20 175:2,8           120:3,12 121:6         22:12,16 23:7         89:20,22 90:7         175:8 177:17           121:23 145:2         24:5 26:14,14         90:11,18,22         178:11,23           choices         72:15         27:11,16 28:2         91:6,13,19         179:19 180:24           121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choose         55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         city's 28:17           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing         74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1	chinnor 2:6	157:10,12	75:9 76:23	168:13,15
choice         73:20         10:20 11:13,18         81:16 84:21,23         173:17 174:14           74:5 75:2,7,12         13:10 14:9,12         87:10,25 88:21         174:15,17,19           75:21 78:7,14         14:16 19:7         89:1,7,12,16,19         174:20 175:2,8           120:3,12 121:6         22:12,16 23:7         89:20,22 90:7         175:8 177:17           121:23 145:2         24:5 26:14,14         90:11,18,22         178:11,23           choices         72:15         27:11,16 28:2         91:6,13,19         179:19 180:24           121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choose         55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         29:8 30:7,18           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing         74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           circle         164:7         40:3,20,24         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17	154:5	<b>city</b> 3:16 6:3,12	77:2 79:20,21	169:23 170:7
74:5 75:2,7,12         13:10 14:9,12         87:10,25 88:21         174:15,17,19           75:21 78:7,14         14:16 19:7         89:1,7,12,16,19         174:20 175:2,8           120:3,12 121:6         22:12,16 23:7         89:20,22 90:7         175:8 177:17           121:23 145:2         24:5 26:14,14         90:11,18,22         178:11,23           choices 72:15         27:11,16 28:2         91:6,13,19         179:19 180:24           121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choose 55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         city's 28:17           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing 74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           circle 164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circle 96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           cited 121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8	<b>chip</b> 110:18	7:22 9:21	79:25 80:23	171:14,20,23
75:21 78:7,14         14:16 19:7         89:1,7,12,16,19         174:20 175:2,8           120:3,12 121:6         22:12,16 23:7         89:20,22 90:7         175:8 177:17           121:23 145:2         24:5 26:14,14         90:11,18,22         178:11,23           choices 72:15         27:11,16 28:2         91:6,13,19         179:19 180:24           121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choose 55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         city's 28:17           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing 74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches 148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle 164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles 96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circles 138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3 <td><b>choice</b> 73:20</td> <td>10:20 11:13,18</td> <td>81:16 84:21,23</td> <td>173:17 174:14</td>	<b>choice</b> 73:20	10:20 11:13,18	81:16 84:21,23	173:17 174:14
120:3,12 121:6         22:12,16 23:7         89:20,22 90:7         175:8 177:17           121:23 145:2         24:5 26:14,14         90:11,18,22         178:11,23           choices 72:15         27:11,16 28:2         91:6,13,19         179:19 180:24           121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choose 55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         city's 28:17           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing 74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches 148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle 164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles 96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           cited 121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citycharter.n           cite 138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3	74:5 75:2,7,12	13:10 14:9,12	87:10,25 88:21	174:15,17,19
121:23 145:2         24:5 26:14,14         90:11,18,22         178:11,23           choices 72:15         27:11,16 28:2         91:6,13,19         179:19 180:24           121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choose 55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         city's 28:17           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing 74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches 148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle 164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles 96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circle 138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cited 121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide 8:14           cities 112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65	75:21 78:7,14	14:16 19:7	89:1,7,12,16,19	174:20 175:2,8
choices         72:15         27:11,16 28:2         91:6,13,19         179:19 180:24           121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choose         55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         city's 28:17           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing         74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches         148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle         164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles         96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         120:1,6,13         15:5           cite         138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cite         138:1         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         14:5 65:5,10 <td>120:3,12 121:6</td> <td>22:12,16 23:7</td> <td>89:20,22 90:7</td> <td>175:8 177:17</td>	120:3,12 121:6	22:12,16 23:7	89:20,22 90:7	175:8 177:17
121:1         28:17,19,20,24         95:6,8 97:6,11         181:3,3           choose 55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         city's 28:17           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing 74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches 148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle 164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles 96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         117:2 119:3,9         166:20           27:17 46:25         43:12,18,18         120:1,6,13         citycharter.n           cite 138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cited 121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide 8:14           cities 112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65:5	121:23 145:2	24:5 26:14,14	90:11,18,22	178:11,23
choose         55:23         29:5,10,14         98:6 102:1,15         city's         28:17           73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing         74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches         148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle         164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles         96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         117:2 119:3,9         166:20           27:17 46:25         43:12,18,18         120:1,6,13         citycharter.n           cite         138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cited         121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide 8:14           cities         112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23	choices 72:15	27:11,16 28:2	91:6,13,19	179:19 180:24
73:14 124:11         31:6,10 32:5         104:9 105:10         29:8 30:7,18           choosing 74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches 148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle 164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles 96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         117:2 119:3,9         166:20           27:17 46:25         43:12,18,18         120:1,6,13         15:5           cited 121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citycharter.n           cited 121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide 8:14           cities 112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65:5,10           citing 103:22         50:22 52:14         137:8 140:11         73:25 121:11           citizen 20:6         53:23 54:4         140:13,14         166:24 1	121:1	28:17,19,20,24	95:6,8 97:6,11	181:3,3
choosing         74:2         32:14 33:3,3,4         105:16 106:6         31:3 36:25           christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches         148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle         164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles         96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         117:2 119:3,9         166:20           27:17 46:25         43:12,18,18         120:1,6,13         citycharter.n           cite         138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cited         121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide 8:14           cities         112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65:5,10           citing         103:22         50:22 52:14         137:8 140:11         73:25 121:11           citizen         120:6         53:23 54:4         140:13,14	choose 55:23	29:5,10,14	98:6 102:1,15	<b>city's</b> 28:17
christopher         33:8,9,24 34:2         107:18 108:15         46:19 47:25           2:24 3:9 6:13         34:5 35:13         108:16 109:12         52:4,6 54:17           9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches 148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle 164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles 96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         117:2 119:3,9         166:20           27:17 46:25         43:12,18,18         120:1,6,13         citycharter.n           cite 138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cited 121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citycharter.n           cities 112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65:5,10           citing 103:22         50:22 52:14         137:8 140:11         73:25 121:11           citizen 120:6         53:23 54:4         140:13,14         166:24 168:17           167:11         57:3 58:6,24         142:4,6,18         107:10           citizens 2:12         59:4,9 60:5,15         143:3,4 144:8         civic 12:15	73:14 124:11	31:6,10 32:5	104:9 105:10	29:8 30:7,18
2:24 3:9 6:13       34:5 35:13       108:16 109:12       52:4,6 54:17         9:6 173:9,14       36:7,8,12,17,24       110:23 111:6       55:13 79:20         churches 148:9       37:9,17 38:13       111:10,16,21       80:11,16 83:17         circle 164:7       40:3,20,24       112:10,11,18       84:20 90:1         circles 96:5       41:16,19,19       113:5 115:11       116:19,19         circumstances       42:8,13 43:6,8       117:2 119:3,9       166:20         27:17 46:25       43:12,18,18       120:1,6,13       citycharter.n         cite 138:1       44:22 45:7,12       121:9,16 122:3       15:5         cited 121:19       45:13,21,22       127:2 128:8       citywide 8:14         cities 112:1       46:23 49:19       133:21,23       14:5 65:5,10         citing 103:22       50:22 52:14       137:8 140:11       73:25 121:11         citizen 120:6       53:23 54:4       140:13,14       166:24 168:17         167:11       57:3 58:6,24       142:4,6,18       107:10         citizens 2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically 125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil 116:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21<	choosing 74:2	32:14 33:3,3,4	105:16 106:6	31:3 36:25
9:6 173:9,14         36:7,8,12,17,24         110:23 111:6         55:13 79:20           churches 148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle 164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles 96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         117:2 119:3,9         166:20           27:17 46:25         43:12,18,18         120:1,6,13         citycharter.n           cite 138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cited 121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide 8:14           cities 112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65:5,10           citing 103:22         50:22 52:14         137:8 140:11         73:25 121:11           citizen 120:6         53:23 54:4         140:13,14         166:24 168:17           126:25,25         55:15 56:9         141:11,17,18         107:10           citizens 2:12         59:4,9 60:5,15         143:3,4 144:8         civically 125:21           3:19 8:17 51:5         61:23 62:2,11         144:15 146:18         civics 127:15           51:22 62:23         63:15,20 65:5         149:8 152:1,8         ci	christopher	33:8,9,24 34:2	107:18 108:15	46:19 47:25
churches         148:9         37:9,17 38:13         111:10,16,21         80:11,16 83:17           circle         164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles         96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         117:2 119:3,9         166:20           27:17 46:25         43:12,18,18         120:1,6,13         citycharter.n           cite         138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cited         121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide         8:14           cities         112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65:5,10           citing         103:22         50:22 52:14         137:8 140:11         73:25 121:11           citizen         120:6         53:23 54:4         140:13,14         166:24 168:17           126:25,25         55:15 56:9         141:11,17,18         civic         45:19           167:11         57:3 58:6,24         142:4,6,18         107:10           citizens         2:12         59:4,9 60:5,15         143:3,4 144:8         civics 127:15           51:22 62:23         63:15,20 65:5         149:	2:24 3:9 6:13	34:5 35:13	108:16 109:12	52:4,6 54:17
circle         164:7         40:3,20,24         112:10,11,18         84:20 90:1           circles         96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         117:2 119:3,9         166:20           27:17 46:25         43:12,18,18         120:1,6,13         citycharter.n           cite         138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cited         121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide         8:14           cities         112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65:5,10         14:5 65:5,10           citing         103:22         50:22 52:14         137:8 140:11         73:25 121:11         73:25 121:11           citizen         120:6         53:23 54:4         140:13,14         166:24 168:17         166:24 168:17           167:11         57:3 58:6,24         142:4,6,18         107:10         107:10           citizens         2:12         59:4,9 60:5,15         143:3,4 144:8         civically         125:21           51:22 62:23         63:15,20 65:5         149:8 152:1,8         civil         116:15           63:9,13,19         65:15,23 66:3         152:11 157:21	9:6 173:9,14	36:7,8,12,17,24	110:23 111:6	55:13 79:20
circles         96:5         41:16,19,19         113:5 115:11         116:19,19           circumstances         42:8,13 43:6,8         117:2 119:3,9         166:20           27:17 46:25         43:12,18,18         120:1,6,13         citycharter.n           cite         138:1         44:22 45:7,12         121:9,16 122:3         15:5           cited         121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide         8:14           cities         112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65:5,10         73:25 121:11           citizen         120:6         53:23 54:4         140:13,14         166:24 168:17           126:25,25         55:15 56:9         141:11,17,18         civic         45:19           167:11         57:3 58:6,24         142:4,6,18         107:10           citizens         2:12         59:4,9 60:5,15         143:3,4 144:8         civically         125:21           3:19 8:17 51:5         61:23 62:2,11         144:15 146:18         civics         127:15           51:22 62:23         63:15,20 65:5         149:8 152:1,8         civil         116:15           63:9,13,19         65:15,23 66:3         152:11 157:21         177:2	churches 148:9	37:9,17 38:13	111:10,16,21	80:11,16 83:17
circumstances       42:8,13 43:6,8       117:2 119:3,9       166:20         27:17 46:25       43:12,18,18       120:1,6,13       citycharter.n         cite 138:1       44:22 45:7,12       121:9,16 122:3       15:5         cited 121:19       45:13,21,22       127:2 128:8       citywide 8:14         cities 112:1       46:23 49:19       133:21,23       14:5 65:5,10         citing 103:22       50:22 52:14       137:8 140:11       73:25 121:11         citizen 120:6       53:23 54:4       140:13,14       166:24 168:17         126:25,25       55:15 56:9       141:11,17,18       civic 45:19         167:11       57:3 58:6,24       142:4,6,18       107:10         citizens 2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically 125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics 127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil 116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	<b>circle</b> 164:7	40:3,20,24	112:10,11,18	84:20 90:1
27:17 46:25       43:12,18,18       120:1,6,13       citycharter.n         cite 138:1       44:22 45:7,12       121:9,16 122:3       15:5         cited 121:19       45:13,21,22       127:2 128:8       citywide 8:14         cities 112:1       46:23 49:19       133:21,23       14:5 65:5,10         citing 103:22       50:22 52:14       137:8 140:11       73:25 121:11         citizen 120:6       53:23 54:4       140:13,14       166:24 168:17         126:25,25       55:15 56:9       141:11,17,18       civic 45:19         167:11       57:3 58:6,24       142:4,6,18       107:10         citizens 2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically 125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics 127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil 116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	circles 96:5	41:16,19,19	113:5 115:11	116:19,19
cite       138:1       44:22 45:7,12       121:9,16 122:3       15:5         cited       121:19       45:13,21,22       127:2 128:8       citywide       8:14         cities       112:1       46:23 49:19       133:21,23       14:5 65:5,10         citing       103:22       50:22 52:14       137:8 140:11       73:25 121:11         citizen       120:6       53:23 54:4       140:13,14       166:24 168:17         126:25,25       55:15 56:9       141:11,17,18       civic       45:19         167:11       57:3 58:6,24       142:4,6,18       107:10         citizens       2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically       125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics       127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil       116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	circumstances	42:8,13 43:6,8	117:2 119:3,9	166:20
cited         121:19         45:13,21,22         127:2 128:8         citywide         8:14           cities         112:1         46:23 49:19         133:21,23         14:5 65:5,10           citing         103:22         50:22 52:14         137:8 140:11         73:25 121:11           citizen         120:6         53:23 54:4         140:13,14         166:24 168:17           126:25,25         55:15 56:9         141:11,17,18         civic         45:19           167:11         57:3 58:6,24         142:4,6,18         107:10           citizens         2:12         59:4,9 60:5,15         143:3,4 144:8         civically         125:21           3:19 8:17 51:5         61:23 62:2,11         144:15 146:18         civics         127:15           51:22 62:23         63:15,20 65:5         149:8 152:1,8         civil         116:15           63:9,13,19         65:15,23 66:3         152:11 157:21         177:2	27:17 46:25	43:12,18,18	120:1,6,13	citycharter.n
cities       112:1       46:23 49:19       133:21,23       14:5 65:5,10         citing       103:22       50:22 52:14       137:8 140:11       73:25 121:11         citizen       120:6       53:23 54:4       140:13,14       166:24 168:17         126:25,25       55:15 56:9       141:11,17,18       civic       45:19         167:11       57:3 58:6,24       142:4,6,18       107:10         citizens       2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically       125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics       127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil       116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	<b>cite</b> 138:1	44:22 45:7,12	121:9,16 122:3	15:5
citing       103:22       50:22 52:14       137:8 140:11       73:25 121:11         citizen       120:6       53:23 54:4       140:13,14       166:24 168:17         126:25,25       55:15 56:9       141:11,17,18       civic 45:19         167:11       57:3 58:6,24       142:4,6,18       107:10         citizens       2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically       125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics       127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil       116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	<b>cited</b> 121:19	45:13,21,22	127:2 128:8	citywide 8:14
citizen       120:6       53:23 54:4       140:13,14       166:24 168:17         126:25,25       55:15 56:9       141:11,17,18       civic 45:19         167:11       57:3 58:6,24       142:4,6,18       107:10         citizens       2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically       125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics       127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil       116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	cities 112:1	46:23 49:19	133:21,23	14:5 65:5,10
126:25,25       55:15 56:9       141:11,17,18       civic 45:19         167:11       57:3 58:6,24       142:4,6,18       107:10         citizens 2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically 125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics 127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil 116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	<b>citing</b> 103:22	50:22 52:14	137:8 140:11	73:25 121:11
167:11       57:3 58:6,24       142:4,6,18       107:10         citizens       2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically       125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics       127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil       116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	citizen 120:6	53:23 54:4	140:13,14	166:24 168:17
citizens       2:12       59:4,9 60:5,15       143:3,4 144:8       civically       125:21         3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics       127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil       116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	126:25,25	55:15 56:9	141:11,17,18	<b>civic</b> 45:19
3:19 8:17 51:5       61:23 62:2,11       144:15 146:18       civics 127:15         51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil 116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	167:11	57:3 58:6,24	142:4,6,18	107:10
51:22 62:23       63:15,20 65:5       149:8 152:1,8       civil 116:15         63:9,13,19       65:15,23 66:3       152:11 157:21       177:2	citizens 2:12	59:4,9 60:5,15	143:3,4 144:8	civically 125:21
63:9,13,19 65:15,23 66:3 152:11 157:21 177:2	3:19 8:17 51:5	61:23 62:2,11	144:15 146:18	<b>civics</b> 127:15
	51:22 62:23	63:15,20 65:5	149:8 152:1,8	<b>civil</b> 116:15
65:12 66:2 66:10 69:10 158:1,9 160:23	63:9,13,19	65:15,23 66:3	152:11 157:21	177:2
	65:12 66:2	66:10 69:10	158:1,9 160:23	

<b>claim</b> 34:5	<b>clinton</b> 106:13	colonial 49:23	coming 8:13
clarify 47:20	<b>clips</b> 168:9	<b>color</b> 36:14	9:1 24:3 56:12
144:13	<b>close</b> 36:3	39:6,13 79:16	62:17 63:1
clarity 95:17	77:17 93:23	151:2 160:11	69:6 71:5,5,5,6
<b>clark</b> 24:1	116:9,10,11	columbia	78:9 79:6
<b>class</b> 123:9	152:17	164:12,21	85:15 86:5
167:20	<b>closed</b> 162:22	<b>combat</b> 104:25	124:4 140:24
<b>cleaner</b> 144:14	closely 37:22	combine 44:24	152:16 160:1
<b>cleanup</b> 109:22	56:7 74:5	46:6 61:17	162:11 175:18
cleanups	89:15	combined	commend
179:15	<b>closer</b> 16:19	47:10	54:20
<b>clear</b> 49:13	137:1	<b>come</b> 7:6 8:8	comment 18:18
74:23 93:13	closest 164:4	10:6 21:11	37:15 56:2
160:16 161:5	<b>clothe</b> 181:9	25:11 34:17	67:16 159:17
161:17,21	<b>clothed</b> 170:23	42:3 51:10,17	comments 15:4
163:25 173:15	coalition	57:21 58:15,20	77:20 119:17
174:3,3,6	142:11	61:1 69:12	122:4 132:24
178:7	<b>codes</b> 20:24	70:11 71:4,19	144:16 149:20
<b>cleare</b> 2:7 5:3	138:3	78:6,12 85:23	commercial
15:8,13,19	coequal 118:19	93:1 100:17	180:25
16:20,24 17:1	cofounder	102:25 131:2	commission
19:20,24 20:9	179:13,14	135:9 138:16	3:16,19 6:3,4
20:18 21:4,9	collaboration	141:22 142:5	7:4 8:25 11:11
21:14,23 23:21	165:7	147:23 148:25	13:15 14:5,20
24:15 25:1	colleague 27:5	149:16 150:11	15:16,25 18:1
27:6 34:21	69:8	150:12,15	25:16 35:9,10
38:11 99:10	colleagues 8:25	151:10 164:14	37:16 38:1
clearer 124:5	collect 60:24	181:7	45:1 46:5 51:5
<b>clearly</b> 163:23	141:17	<b>comes</b> 18:19	51:22 52:2
<b>clergy</b> 142:10	collection 47:3	20:1 61:14	54:3 63:8
<b>cliche</b> 36:22	48:13 49:2,4,5	64:23 72:17	67:17 71:16
<b>clinic</b> 163:5,21	collections	82:15 134:1	74:18 85:20
164:11	47:13 48:11	137:18,25	86:7 88:21,22
<b>clinics</b> 163:4,9	college 123:9	180:2	91:1,6,6,7,10
164:10	167:22		91:12 92:2

93:16 94:2	144:8 160:6	committees	25:13,23,25
95:1,8,25	162:17	63:24 64:20	26:11,21,22
97:11 98:7	commissioners	127:23 130:21	27:1 30:20,23
101:22 106:21	6:8 9:1,17	142:16,21	33:14 35:21,23
107:8,9,11,19	24:20 33:21	committing	65:17 85:10
108:7,25	37:12 42:17	27:15 174:19	87:15 105:3
110:16 112:20	44:9,19 47:17	<b>common</b> 92:14	106:10 109:20
112:22 116:18	51:2,18 56:1	107:23	110:17 117:21
119:10 120:13	60:20 66:23	communication	123:5 124:13
120:18 122:17	70:8,13,13	168:4	124:15 128:12
127:3,8 133:20	77:21 79:5	communities	130:5,7,14
134:11 142:7	83:21 85:13	9:20 12:1	131:12 132:1,5
148:3 155:9,25	88:16 93:11,16	15:21 24:8,12	134:3,15 135:3
155:25 156:17	97:18 98:1	25:12 31:15,16	135:19 136:3,4
157:8,9 166:23	110:5,14	33:18 34:15	136:13,13
170:2 171:3,5	113:15 115:19	36:14,18,25	138:15,17
171:6,16	116:6 119:14	37:17 39:6,13	142:9,13,15
172:11 175:16	119:15 128:25	42:15 45:25	143:6,8,10,15
175:19 177:10	128:25 130:1	65:7 86:11,21	150:21 155:5
177:14,16,19	141:5 145:2,15	87:3,14 88:5	158:17 159:3
177:22 178:1,8	157:21 176:24	89:24 93:5	159:12 162:21
179:16	commissions	94:5,13 99:17	163:1,15 164:7
commission's	12:8 96:7	131:17 134:19	164:8,15,19
52:21 66:20	97:12 106:15	137:12,14,19	166:14,21,22
91:21	107:15 127:9	137:19,22	167:18 168:11
commissioned	<b>commit</b> 178:20	149:7 155:18	173:4,5 174:24
161:11,11	commitment	community	174:25 175:1
commissioner	91:22 177:24	2:15 8:15,17	179:15 180:2
2:4,8,9,22 3:9	committed	8:18 11:14	180:11 181:8
3:11,15,21,23	33:11 84:23	15:11,17 16:15	community's
4:3,6,11 6:23	132:12	16:16 17:5,6	35:18 86:23
44:15 46:24	committee 64:8	18:21 19:5,6	157:3
47:11 48:9	64:17 123:16	20:20,21 21:3	communityw
69:4 70:9 76:2	130:22 173:15	21:8,11,20	8:14
108:9 130:2	174:12 175:7	24:9,17 25:8	

compacts 27:12	compressed	conducted	147:18 177:23
companies	119:4	32:11 48:5	considerable
30:21	compromise	63:19 83:23	80:17
companion	130:17	conference	consideration
53:12 104:17	comptroller	46:1	23:8,10,15
company 40:9	161:17	<b>confers</b> 130:20	147:13,14
87:19,22	comptroller's	confidence	148:16 149:19
113:23 115:2	28:18 160:22	120:21 121:19	considered
compared 45:4	computers	137:13 139:10	26:24 74:8
64:14,18,22	48:16	142:25	144:5
80:2	<b>concept</b> 127:17	confidential	considering
competing	concern 68:21	158:8	15:1
73:16	143:23 144:2	confinement	consistent 73:3
competition	172:21 177:11	70:6	consolidating
32:22	concerned	congratulations	36:11
complain 34:17	66:14 102:2,3	37:24 88:11	consolidation
148:13 175:4,7	103:19 116:17	congress 10:25	47:9
complaining	130:16 177:8	congressman	constant
148:19 173:18	concerning	26:1,1 77:3	140:25
complaint	24:25 178:9	congresswo	constantly
148:16,17	concerns 12:25	24:1	143:14
complaints	72:21 133:25	conned 33:2	constituents
118:6	156:12 163:14	<b>cons</b> 130:12	16:2 131:23
completely	concerted	conscience	constitution
168:22	93:13	96:11	9:21 14:12
completion	concluded	consensus	65:25 89:21
92:7	182:1	106:23	116:20
complex 12:9	conditions 46:1	consent 97:6	constitutional
complicating	90:6 94:6	106:22 145:1	93:7
65:3	113:2	155:22	constructed
<b>comply</b> 32:5	condolences	conservation	95:14 180:6
complying	156:25	177:4	constructing
39:25 41:12	conduct 32:9	consider 14:16	28:12
components	60:23 138:3	52:3,7 113:10	construction
81:7 178:15	142:1	133:8 146:23	29:10 86:16

88:1 114:10	contracted	<b>control</b> 46:19	<b>corner</b> 59:24
143:11,13	46:22 160:19	57:4,4,5 81:4	163:7
consultants	161:1,7	102:6 103:8	<b>corp</b> 29:13
41:12 46:20	contracting	104:15 105:1	87:22
consulted	28:16 39:5	126:21	corporate
117:16	81:7 82:6	controller 29:2	92:18
<b>cont'd</b> 3:1,2 4:1	83:18 86:4	29:7 53:23,24	corporation
4:2	contractor 31:2	102:8 103:24	29:12 40:9
contact 32:3	88:9 113:24	106:20	106:23 108:21
contacted	contractors	controller's	correct 20:13
32:10	25:12 30:9	29:4	101:12 150:10
contacts 32:10	41:11 98:19,20	controlling	correction 67:9
contemplate	99:6 114:18	144:9	corrections
89:17	contracts 19:10	controls 29:6	158:10 178:14
contemplates	28:19,22 29:8	convening	correctly 88:14
92:6	30:12 32:6	110:16	101:10
contemporary	34:1,18 36:12	conversation	<b>corrupt</b> 125:23
45:21	36:15 39:12	32:22 43:24	129:5,7 175:17
contention	40:14 41:2,11	58:14 84:18	corruption
73:24	41:20,20,24	<b>convert</b> 130:18	125:18
continue 8:20	42:5,9,14,22	cookman	<b>cost</b> 41:18,21
14:4 37:7	43:4,6,8 79:22	158:11	42:9 52:13
103:21 115:10	81:17 82:4,6	coordinate	53:3,5,7 61:5,8
continues	82:17 84:9	166:23	111:11 121:16
54:15	86:10 87:10	<b>cop</b> 174:4,4	costing 22:8
continuously	98:9,10,25	175:12	104:5
138:5	144:21,22	copresident	<b>costs</b> 16:12
contract 29:25	contractual	119:25	103:4
31:11 32:7	32:18	<b>cops</b> 155:3	council 26:14
40:16 41:25	contrary	173:25 174:25	26:14 52:11,24
79:22 80:10	117:15	<b>cordell</b> 2:7 5:3	61:10 63:15,20
82:12,21 83:8	contrast 121:15	15:8,19 24:14	63:24 64:9,14
98:22 104:1	155:20 177:21	27:6 34:21	65:15,16,23
143:16 144:20	contributions	<b>core</b> 91:8	66:12,13 67:3
	90:5		68:14 69:10,22

[council - dates] Page 17

75:9 90:22	country 34:11	creates 80:17	culture 1:11
92:8 94:20	112:10	138:14,14	14:3 57:10
97:6,11 106:14	<b>county</b> 71:23	creating 11:10	<b>cuny</b> 121:20
106:20 107:18	78:24 179:16	38:17 42:4	<b>cuomo</b> 41:7
108:15,17	<b>couple</b> 12:3,10	47:10 63:25	current 50:2
109:12,13	38:13 46:2	87:12 127:10	52:9 65:19
117:2,4,14	course 21:25	128:10	72:3 81:4 98:9
118:12,18,18	27:2,3 59:13	creation 19:1	99:13 177:8
142:11 155:19	68:15 71:17	39:6 42:8 93:3	currently 76:21
159:13 160:23	88:11 94:17	98:5 101:24	111:4 114:11
171:15,24	173:23	111:15	163:4
173:17 175:8,9	<b>court</b> 92:23,25	creative 47:5	customers
180:24	102:9 112:3	credit 13:6	61:16
council's	<b>court's</b> 93:2	135:9	<b>cuts</b> 54:19
155:21 178:11	112:8	<b>crime</b> 118:5	<b>cycles</b> 120:24
councilmember	courts 36:1	<b>crimes</b> 137:17	d
106:7	112:16	174:19	<b>d</b> 6:1 157:18,18
councilmemb	<b>cover</b> 81:1	criminal 174:1	dad 87:20
137:8	<b>covers</b> 28:21	criminals	dad's 88:12
councils 53:2	covid 33:5	174:18	daily 14:12
councilwoman	163:16	<b>crises</b> 105:3	166:19 178:6
110:8 169:24	crack 147:11	<b>crisis</b> 16:10	danger 92:2,10
counsel 3:6	<b>crates</b> 102:21	20:4 55:11	dangerous
12:14 88:23	<b>crc</b> 1:1	102:15	103:11 118:25
95:9 106:23	create 18:12,15	critical 43:16	dangers 92:18
108:21 119:5	19:7 22:1 25:5	52:5 81:6	danner's 138:2
127:4 133:11	29:18 39:12	86:18 105:19	data 61:23
183:10,13	86:24 94:6,18	111:10	62:10 70:2
184:7,10	127:22 131:23	<b>crowd</b> 55:14	79:20 80:7
counseling	created 36:14	crowded	84:20 91:16
112:6	46:10,21 48:3	121:23	139:7
<b>count</b> 135:24	81:5 83:9 84:2	crucial 53:12	date 30:10
countless 113:5	93:24 97:11	<b>cruel</b> 105:3	65:18
countries	127:4 135:5	<b>css</b> 17:5	<b>dates</b> 15:3
167:19	171:6		

	I	I	
<b>dating</b> 49:23	deathly 103:1	<b>deeply</b> 116:17	121:13 155:16
daughter 160:9	debate 23:19	177:8	178:15
daughtry 2:8	52:5 70:8	deficiencies	democrats
6:9	deborah 138:2	103:23	121:5
david 49:5	<b>debt</b> 55:13,15	define 64:24	demographic
<b>day</b> 10:7 54:17	decade 63:21	definitely 57:14	126:20
54:22,24 55:5	84:18,19 117:4	87:13	demographics
55:9 93:19	154:25 163:3	definition	80:12
94:5,5 102:21	decades 55:17	144:4	demolishing
123:9 136:14	56:9,10 92:21	definitively	93:2
173:3 174:2	162:21	32:18	demonstrating
days 64:13,14	december	<b>degree</b> 158:12	82:17
65:18 136:15	117:9,13	158:13	<b>denise</b> 162:12
143:16 155:1	<b>decide</b> 142:20	<b>delays</b> 43:15	162:12
170:4 175:18	decided 47:24	66:18 80:18	department
daytona 158:12	decimate 92:24	deliberative	4:11 29:11
<b>de</b> 107:5,9	decision 97:14	178:21	44:15 45:8
deadline	126:14,19,25	delighted	48:7 52:15
145:23	127:6,12	157:22	101:24,25
<b>deaf</b> 166:14,17	decisionmakers	deliver 162:4	102:11 104:10
166:20,23	94:15	deliverables	104:19,25
167:4,15,18,21	decisions 52:6	48:19	109:17 113:7
167:25 168:13	94:12 107:4	delivery 95:16	137:14 141:12
168:14,21	declared 91:1	delusional	158:10 161:13
deafness 167:5	declined 16:17	126:22	161:15 164:5
<b>deal</b> 7:24 19:24	17:7,13	demand 16:7	168:8 178:13
21:20 112:17	decreased 18:5	82:7 83:14	180:21
174:22	<b>ded</b> 52:15	demands 83:19	departments
<b>dealing</b> 109:10	dedicated 19:1	democracy	143:4
112:14 138:4	29:19 87:8	116:22 125:17	deposits 55:4
138:10	dedication	127:16 172:10	<b>deputy</b> 26:14
<b>deals</b> 111:21	56:18	178:19	95:12
125:18	<b>deep</b> 20:2,2	democratic	description
<b>dealt</b> 109:7	deeper 62:14	35:16,17 71:23	126:17
		92:10 118:23	

<b>deserve</b> 104:10	21:5,13 22:20	differently	disadvantage
175:13	23:2,18 50:9	180:6	64:22
deserves 83:18	50:13,23 58:12	difficult 28:1	disagreed
173:24 177:17	58:17,19 59:11	33:9 40:13	97:12 117:18
design 81:10	59:15 60:17	64:24 79:5	disappointed
88:24	96:24 97:1,5,8	81:2	150:19
designed 90:3	97:16 100:25	difficulties 28:3	discern 90:9
128:7	123:8,13,15	<b>digest</b> 20:11	disciplinary
<b>desk</b> 30:4	126:11 127:20	139:17 157:8	137:25 138:19
despite 54:21	127:22 128:5	digital 183:8	139:3
destroyed	128:12 153:23	184:3	discipline
49:15,22	156:23 158:2	digitizing 49:6	138:21
detailed 53:17	159:1,3,5	dignity 94:7	disclose 53:4
determinants	dickens 2:10	dillard 2:11	discouraging
163:19	5:4 26:17,18	153:25 157:17	73:7,17
determine 74:1	26:20 33:22	157:18,18,19	discretionary
74:9 94:24	34:8,20 38:10	157:20 158:3	30:13
121:14	38:25 39:17	159:1,2,4,15	discussed 108:2
detrimental	dictates 23:6	<b>dillon</b> 157:17	109:19 136:12
92:3	<b>die</b> 88:12	dinkins 49:5	146:24
develop 81:6	173:24 175:13	direct 18:4	discussing
86:10	differ 26:7	114:8	108:12
developing	difference 28:9	directed 31:22	discussion
114:11,15	29:17 45:7	direction 34:3	27:11 178:3
development	63:21 133:22	48:6 161:2	disempowered
3:4 18:8 20:1	177:24	162:2	94:13
29:12 79:2,10	differences	directions 46:3	<b>disks</b> 48:15
86:23	64:5	director 3:25	disparities 87:9
diabetes 163:12	different 7:5,16	12:13 14:2	118:2 163:11
<b>diane</b> 3:25	13:10 41:5	88:22 110:17	164:20
109:23 175:6	59:9,9 60:4,4,5	116:15	disparity 40:12
<b>diaz</b> 2:9 6:11	73:8 168:4	disabilities	40:13 87:12
7:9,10 10:19	180:12,13	166:25 167:6	displacement
19:15,19,21	differentiate	disability	22:18
20:6,10,25	73:8	167:10,13	

disputes 96:1	divided 80:3	124:8,19 128:9	<b>dreams</b> 126:21
dissect 139:25	<b>diving</b> 68:18	141:16,24	drew 97:13
disseminated	division 102:5	150:8 154:20	<b>drive</b> 39:12
62:6	138:9	157:1,23	40:21
distinction	divisions 45:14	175:14 180:12	<b>driven</b> 39:12
26:11	47:5	180:21	41:20
distracted	doctrine 93:3,4	dolina 2:14	drivers 29:14
32:22	document	179:11	driving 16:11
distributed	49:24	dollars 104:6	17:3 43:1
82:4 84:9	documents	109:3 113:5	<b>drones</b> 113:1
93:22	47:21,22 49:23	114:8 158:2,3	drowning
<b>district</b> 15:9,20	131:2	donald 32:23	72:21
16:2,4,12,13	<b>doe</b> 161:13	<b>door</b> 138:6	<b>drugs</b> 103:19
17:3 19:8,11	<b>dog</b> 104:5	146:10,21	177:5
26:19 33:15	dogfighting	doris 45:9 46:6	<b>dsny</b> 144:8,13
35:17 131:20	105:4	doses 103:18	<b>due</b> 21:6 71:17
132:2 136:7	<b>dogs</b> 102:21	<b>dot</b> 140:15,15	72:17 143:13
160:10 179:16	180:7	doubled 17:15	167:16 168:14
districts 143:12	<b>doh</b> 102:2,15	douglass 163:6	dujardin 2:12
disturb 95:5	103:8,19,19,25	downtown	5:9 62:25 63:3
97:8	104:4 180:9,20	69:22 84:12	63:5,8 67:5,15
<b>dive</b> 67:24	<b>doing</b> 7:18	<b>dr</b> 1:6 27:2	68:15 69:1,24
68:17	18:12 19:9,9	51:6 79:5	70:19,24
divergent	24:4 33:12	130:2 158:6	<b>dukes</b> 1:6 6:2,4
94:21	35:11 38:3,20	<b>draft</b> 50:19	6:19,22 7:14
diverse 83:17	41:1 43:18	52:1 54:4	7:23 9:3 10:5
106:18	53:9 54:13	55:23 142:10	10:13,19,22
diversification	57:15 58:3	drafted 142:8	11:3,20,24
131:16 132:4,5	60:13 61:25	<b>drag</b> 95:25	12:12,16,20
diversion	62:1 67:10	draining 112:7	13:5,21,23
111:15 112:2	84:16,23 89:3	dramatic 54:19	16:18,21 19:17
112:11	107:2,5,19	dramatically	25:19,22 26:9
diversity 2:18	114:7 122:17	112:13	26:18 27:2
32:12 80:7	123:6,6,17,18	drastic 177:23	33:20 34:6,13
107:15	123:19,19,25		35:2,6 37:11

		1	1
38:5 42:16	130:2 132:14	143:5	ecospaces
43:10 44:8,12	132:21,25	<b>duty</b> 128:18	113:23
47:16 51:1,4,6	133:2,5,12	151:6	ecosystem
51:7,11,13	136:1,10,19,22	duzant 2:14	151:23
55:25 56:11,16	139:11,14,17	179:8,9,11,12	educate 22:22
56:24 60:19	140:4,19,23	179:13	23:19 34:15
62:21 63:1,4	141:2 145:5,10	dwindling	70:11
66:22 69:4	145:12,14,17	131:20	educated 33:2
70:7,17,21,25	145:21,24	e	78:13 133:18
71:3,8 74:13	146:3,6 149:20	e 2:1,1 3:1,1 4:1	167:22
74:15 75:19	150:3 151:5,12	4:1 5:1 6:1,1	educating
76:2 77:20,23	151:18 153:9	30:16 42:20,22	25:24 49:12
78:2,20,25	153:12,16,19	65:20 100:10	education
79:5 83:20	153:25 154:3	100:11,12	29:11 34:19
85:12,18,21	156:21 157:15	132:23 140:7,8	60:6 65:10
87:18 88:10,17	157:19 158:6	145:9 153:14	120:8 161:13
95:20 96:12,14	158:24 159:17	153:16 157:13	161:15
96:18,21,25	159:23 160:4	161:4	educational
97:17,23 100:8	161:9,20	<b>e.r.</b> 164:4	39:9
100:12 101:1	162:10,15,18	eager 12:25	edward 3:6
101:13,15,19	164:23,25	earlier 24:8	<b>eep's</b> 138:4
104:22 105:6	165:3,6,13,15	52:25 57:17,21	<b>eepc</b> 91:6
105:12,22	165:19 166:2,6	66:5 71:14	<b>eeps</b> 138:10
106:1,4,11	168:19,24	earliest 49:24	<b>effect</b> 52:11
110:4,7,12	169:2,5,8,18	early 112:18	53:7 143:16
113:13 115:16	170:10,14	164:17	effective 40:11
115:18,24	172:18 175:21	earn 142:6	41:18,21 42:10
116:3,5,10,12	175:23,25	easily 95:25	104:4 127:2
119:13,18,21	176:8,14,16,22	east 15:21	128:10
122:4 123:21	178:25 179:3,6	economic 3:4	effectively
123:23 124:22	179:12 181:14	29:12,14 36:20	127:5
125:1,5,7	181:17,21,24	79:2,10 92:7	effects 93:10
127:19,21	<b>duly</b> 183:5	94:7	effectuated
128:24 129:12	<b>duties</b> 29:19	economically	138:10
129:16,20,23	46:8 95:10	36:24	
		JU.2T	

efficiencies	77.0 120.12 21	omnorwand	enforced
40:22 43:1	77:9 120:13,21 121:4,11	empowered 83:14	137:11
efficiency	electoral		enforcement
47:13 50:18	120:14,22	<b>empty</b> 150:19 <b>ems</b> 164:5	30:24 81:25
<b>efficient</b> 87:1	120.14,22	enable 30:11	83:1,15 85:5
effort 24:21	125:15	36:12	104:5,12 113:8
68:11 93:13	electorate 72:8	enacted 67:23	124:15 131:7
134:9	77:1	enacted 07.23	142:25,25
<b>efforts</b> 82:13	element 66:15	79:18	enforcing
eight 7:5 114:7	elements 81:22	enacts 117:2	45:11
eighties 164:17	eliminate 87:4	encompass	engage 43:24
either 53:23	87:9	31:16 137:7	132:19
75:23,24,24	embarrassed	encompassing	engaged 125:22
77:10 128:1	156:13	29:20	engagement
elect 4:15 35:5	embedded	encounters	107:10
35:7 37:13,21	88:25	128:13	engineering
57:6 71:13	embrace 90:7	encourage	86:16,17
<b>elected</b> 14:15	embraced	14:19 23:25	<b>english</b> 135:8
15:10 28:6	120:25	73:5,6 115:13	168:12,15,22
34:17 37:3,3	emergency	120:13 123:6	<b>enhance</b> 52:17
122:24 128:2	54:20 102:16	encourages	74:24 142:23
137:13 138:13	111:22	120:6	enhancing
154:16 171:12	emphasis 173:3	encouraging	73:18
electeds 27:6	employed 41:6	86:7 156:17	enlightening
election 14:18	183:11,14	encumber 95:2	85:15
72:16 73:22	184:8,11	endeavor	enormous
75:9 76:21	employee	178:17 179:18	111:11
120:23 121:5	183:13 184:10	ended 18:2	ensure 32:4
121:16 154:13	employees	47:24 48:5	41:11 45:22
elections 24:3	114:5	endorse 155:7	52:19 55:5,13
57:5 71:20,25	employment	<b>ends</b> 138:11	90:5 95:16
72:6,20,24	91:5	enfeeble 93:14	98:11 179:18
73:4,20,25	empower 74:6	enforce 30:1	ensures 31:2
74:4,24 76:11	94:13	166:23	54:17
76:12,18,23			

ensuring 36:13	eradicating	estimates 52:8	eventually 57:5
41:19 104:13	40:12	52:10,17 53:18	94:15
enterprise	eric 11:10	53:22,23 109:8	everett 3:18
79:19 135:17	27:15 38:21	et 143:2 144:12	113:17
entertain 37:6	90:21 106:25	ethnicities	everybody
entertained	<b>eroding</b> 96:6,7	79:14	10:21 23:25
74:8 144:19	es 183:4	ethnicity 54:8	113:18 123:2
entertaining	escalated	euro 131:21	149:6 180:17
119:6	171:10	evaluate 47:12	180:17,18,19
<b>entire</b> 12:14	escalates 164:2	74:9 113:2	everyday
126:21	especially 19:5	evaluates 111:5	165:11
entirely 29:18	19:8 25:8	evening 7:8,9	everyone's
entities 43:2	43:17 89:23	8:2,3,5,8,9 9:5	125:23
87:10	94:9 99:17	9:6,13,14 11:6	eviction 111:24
entitle 142:7	122:24 125:25	12:13,21,22	evidence
entity 40:8	137:4 139:4	19:19 38:7	120:24
46:22 48:1,6	168:14 171:24	47:18 51:6,21	exactly 23:22
48:20 104:11	178:8 180:6,22	71:10,11 79:4	139:1
entrepreneurs	181:4	85:20,21 88:15	examine 67:18
181:5	esplanade	88:17 98:1	112:23 178:2
<b>entry</b> 42:2	136:8	101:22 116:14	examining 20:7
environment	essentially	119:24 129:25	112:19
65:11 103:13	126:18	133:10,12	example 48:15
environmental	established	136:21,22	65:16 67:21,22
92:17	46:9,17,20	141:4 150:1,2	72:23 98:20
epidemic	79:18	150:3 151:16	115:1 142:2,24
163:18 177:5	establishes	157:20 160:3,4	examples 127:2
equal 91:5	116:21	160:5 162:16	131:19 141:20
<b>equals</b> 39:6,7	establishing	162:17,18	exceeding
equitable	45:10	163:15 166:7	42:11
131:24	esteemed 9:17	179:10	excellent 108:6
equity 39:13	71:15 79:6	<b>event</b> 15:17	126:15 127:11
80:14 83:18	93:11,16	144:23	except 33:23
88:25 91:8	133:11 146:8	events 125:20	112:11

exceptional	0 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T		
	expanding 52:9	explanations	<b>faced</b> 27:18
44:3	82:18	53:21	<b>facet</b> 166:19
	expansion	explicitly 167:8	<b>facets</b> 167:24
exchange 20:1	20:17,19,20	exploring	facilitate 86:14
<b>excited</b> 9:8,12	21:2,2,6 52:13	144:12	144:14
11:9 12:5 63:5	expansions	express 10:1	facilitation
excruciating	17:25	120:19	168:3
27:17	<b>expect</b> 15:14	<b>extend</b> 65:17	facilities 98:25
excuse 62:21	133:17	extensive	100:2
70:7 119:18	expedite 139:9	121:10	<b>facing</b> 27:19
159:23 169:8	expediting	extensively	<b>fact</b> 7:17 34:2
177:12	83:25	55:8	36:1 45:25
executive 3:25	expenditures	<b>extent</b> 20:25	64:11 94:24
12:13 53:22	111:6	65:21 131:16	127:10 152:8
66:17 95:15	expense 54:24	external 45:17	156:6 157:2
132:11	54:25	47:4	171:17
executive's	expenses 81:2	<b>extra</b> 63:17	factor 84:5
52:17 53:14	expensive 16:8	152:5	factors 16:11
exegesis 99:21	120:20	extraordinarily	17:3
exercised	experience	16:8	<b>facts</b> 32:20
118:18	32:15,16 43:14	extraordinary	87:12
exhausted	68:22 89:11	46:25	faculty 21:1
31:24 50:14	104:12 106:15	extreme 18:7	<b>fail</b> 57:11
exist 49:14 72:4	112:13 128:9	27:18	failed 32:4
83:8 108:20	130:13 131:14	extremely 33:8	failure 94:6
127:17 130:7	expertise	81:2 84:2	<b>fair</b> 50:23
existing 46:6,8	102:12	<b>eyes</b> 93:13	94:12 102:25
47:7 127:8	experts 14:8	143:24	142:7
<b>exists</b> 107:11	56:19 65:6	f	<b>fairly</b> 93:22
<b>expand</b> 20:14	103:10 178:4	<b>facade</b> 112:19	<b>faith</b> 108:10
	explain 26:3		125:14
154:15	28:24 152:2	112:23,25	<b>fall</b> 32:2 53:19
expanded 19:3	explanation	113:2	120:15
20:13,16 111:4	53:17	<b>facades</b> 113:9	<b>fall's</b> 119:11
144:25		<b>face</b> 76:20	

## [false - flexibility]

	1		
<b>false</b> 23:23	34:2 35:25	<b>filled</b> 26:21	33:10 38:9
falsehoods	36:1 99:16	134:12	39:23 52:3,23
28:14	<b>federally</b> 163:9	<b>final</b> 15:2 55:12	63:18 70:23
<b>fame</b> 72:25	167:5	55:23 83:2	75:11 76:12,14
families 39:10	<b>feed</b> 181:9	91:20 117:18	76:15 77:4,4
86:20 93:5	feedback 62:3	156:3 172:4,6	85:22 86:3
137:15,16	117:21	finalize 177:21	89:14,20 90:4
158:23 172:12	<b>feel</b> 8:13 28:7	finally 37:2	92:5 101:17
<b>family</b> 114:16	52:2 59:23	42:12 53:6	103:5 111:1
152:2,7,17,25	73:7 93:9	73:19 92:21	117:9,20
153:6 155:6	155:3 167:11	financial 52:17	120:25 121:12
156:7 173:21	<b>feeling</b> 60:6	53:6,14 92:7	134:1,8 146:13
<b>fan</b> 76:6	76:11	92:12 94:11	155:24 169:13
<b>far</b> 7:6 14:7	<b>fellow</b> 97:25	111:8 112:6,16	171:25 177:20
67:16 93:6	<b>felton</b> 2:15 5:14	financially	<b>fiscal</b> 15:25
113:5 137:6	97:24,25 98:16	86:21 94:25	52:4,16,23
141:7	100:10	183:15 184:11	53:1,4 57:20
<b>fast</b> 113:19	<b>fend</b> 105:2	<b>find</b> 27:25 28:2	66:4,7,9 79:24
117:8	<b>fervor</b> 72:13	59:8 161:24	108:13 111:2,3
<b>faster</b> 112:21	<b>field</b> 67:10	162:4,5 168:8	111:4,7 141:9
<b>father</b> 71:14	72:21 121:23	180:20	fiscally 57:6
86:6,13 87:23	<b>fifth</b> 30:4 31:5	<b>finish</b> 93:7	<b>fit</b> 103:6
123:13 160:8	58:25	156:10	<b>five</b> 8:7 9:11,19
<b>fault</b> 103:14	<b>fight</b> 25:25	<b>fire</b> 52:15 164:5	10:14 14:6
<b>favor</b> 13:21	90:22 91:16	firehouse 83:23	22:6 29:13,23
28:8 38:8	101:3 147:1	<b>firm</b> 35:22 72:5	30:1 41:6
118:24 169:22	171:13	86:6,12	48:10 51:23
169:23 170:6	fighting 35:18	<b>firms</b> 40:3,7	54:6,14 58:6
favorable	172:13	41:2 80:4,4	58:22 103:7
121:18	<b>figure</b> 58:22	81:20 82:16	113:1 117:10
feature 81:14	68:1	83:5 86:9,20	148:23 150:9
83:2	<b>figured</b> 137:10	87:5	163:22 178:11
federal 22:1	<b>fill</b> 107:25	<b>first</b> 15:7,14	<b>fixed</b> 23:24
23:3,6,24,25	108:1	26:8,20 31:17	flexibility
27:24 33:7		31:22 32:3	65:24

<b>floppy</b> 48:15	forgive 6:6	foundation	functioning
<b>florida</b> 158:12	22:21 27:7	178:2	95:18 99:11
<b>flow</b> 81:1	<b>form</b> 168:9,11	foundational	functions 45:10
160:14	formally	90:2,4	<b>fund</b> 54:17,22
<b>flying</b> 115:7	162:21	<b>founder</b> 101:23	54:23 55:5,9
<b>focus</b> 44:4	<b>format</b> 28:12	<b>four</b> 30:3 48:9	fundamental
104:11,19	former 4:16	114:4	95:10 119:1
113:8	6:10 7:10	<b>fourth</b> 30:20	fundamentally
focused 57:14	10:24 25:22	54:15	95:19 119:7
102:13 109:4	26:1 34:13	fragile 33:1	<b>funding</b> 91:14
157:1,1 177:12	41:7 46:17	framework	104:20 109:9
focuses 41:17	71:1 79:6	116:20	<b>funds</b> 53:7
focusing 36:17	106:6 110:8	francisco 77:9	further 13:4
42:9 79:15	132:12	frankly 58:5	65:2 74:6
154:16	formulas 109:9	62:9 75:10,14	118:13 142:4
<b>folks</b> 84:15,21	formulate	85:1 99:25	183:12 184:9
146:8 147:8,17	27:12	frederick 163:6	furthermore
<b>follow</b> 72:12	<b>forth</b> 67:4 71:4	freely 20:3	111:2 112:15
<b>followed</b> 46:21	115:7 160:14	<b>friend</b> 140:25	future 12:8
98:14	fortunately	friendly 113:6	15:3 28:13
following 45:23	28:8	<b>frisk</b> 117:23	55:6 82:25
81:22 130:20	<b>forum</b> 108:3	118:1 154:23	96:3 170:3
follows 30:6	137:3	154:24	futures 93:5
<b>food</b> 104:21	forward 7:7	<b>front</b> 38:2 78:7	g
163:20	11:1 14:25	154:8 157:12	<b>g</b> 6:1 79:4
fooled 33:2	20:6 35:18	frontload 94:22	84:13 85:17
<b>force</b> 81:5 87:2	37:3 39:15	<b>full</b> 117:19	gale 2:5 106:12
forced 81:1	69:21 73:24	130:21	galfin 2:17
<b>forces</b> 82:10	146:22 174:5	<b>fuller</b> 92:22	101:9,11,14,17
111:18	<b>foster</b> 45:19	<b>fully</b> 25:5 67:18	101:21,23
foregoing	fought 74:4	92:20 120:19	104:22,24
183:3,4 184:4	171:8	<b>fun</b> 77:16	105:8,15,23
foremost 31:22	<b>found</b> 16:16	<b>function</b> 94:17	gaps 93:23
<b>forget</b> 146:15	17:5 64:5	functionally	garbage 144:11
		168:15	8.2.2.3.8.

gardens 136:9	gentleman	<b>gives</b> 50:20	<b>god</b> 33:19
garner 2:18 5:6	129:17	61:12 72:15	34:11 149:19
26:6,7 32:6,13	<b>genuine</b> 91:18	144:8	158:22
37:23 38:5,7	177:24	<b>giving</b> 9:22	goes 143:16
42:24 43:23	gerald 4:3 6:15	19:25 85:16	going 8:15,18
44:11,12 83:24	getting 19:10	105:24 122:1	8:22 12:6 13:4
84:12 88:1	24:24 34:18	158:10,19	15:17 17:22,25
98:7 114:1	39:1 61:16	159:19 164:18	24:11 26:7
	78:10 92:21	173:24	31:7 37:19,22
garry 3:3 5:11			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
79:1,8	103:1,17 118:10 134:22	<b>glad</b> 8:24 37:20 56:14 69:16	38:9,10,22 39:1 41:10,14
gauge 76:24			·
gayle 106:7	149:16 159:8	78:16 96:16	41:17 44:23
<b>gender</b> 167:20	<b>girl</b> 146:2	133:17 148:4	45:3,7 53:20
<b>general</b> 3:6	148:11	148:13,20	53:25 54:12
12:14 14:18	<b>giuliani</b> 46:18	149:5	57:2,11 60:23
20:18 65:21	49:3 50:6	<b>gladys</b> 4:13	60:25 61:17,18
68:21 76:21,22	giuliani's 47:24	170:20	61:19,20 85:24
77:1 82:2	give 8:16 10:1	<b>go</b> 15:14,14	85:24 93:4
125:15 130:23	51:23 56:17	31:11 49:24	100:3,4,15
130:24 158:18	60:14 66:16	69:22 109:12	101:5 105:18
162:22 163:3	82:16 85:3,4	109:13 125:20	106:3 110:10
generated	86:9 96:18	136:13 139:2	113:19,20
28:22	97:19 101:6	144:23 148:12	114:17,19,20
generates	105:6,13	150:13 152:21	115:12 124:9
28:19	130:25 139:9	152:23 159:7	124:23 132:16
generation	139:12,13,16	159:12 161:19	132:23 133:19
127:15	139:21 140:6,7	170:3 174:5	133:20 135:20
generations	150:14 161:20	180:19	141:8,17 142:1
93:10	161:21 165:15	<b>goal</b> 32:1 91:2	143:14 145:1,8
genesis 117:21	176:24	164:18	145:19,20
gentine 2:20	<b>given</b> 10:8,20	<b>goals</b> 30:1 31:3	148:24 149:7,7
151:14,14,16	20:3 53:3,19	39:25 41:13	149:11,17
151:17,19	64:23 67:24	42:12 65:15	152:13 160:18
153:10,14,18	91:21 120:11	83:4 180:10	161:6,7,19
	127:9		164:18 173:3

	1		1
173:19 180:25	<b>gov</b> 41:7	governments	greater 53:14
<b>good</b> 7:9,12 8:2	140:15	112:17	65:13 82:9
8:3,5,8,9 9:5,5	govern 57:3	governor 30:3	112:25 166:21
9:14 11:5	66:12	30:4	greatest 16:11
12:21,22 19:19	governance	governor's	17:3
19:21 27:9	89:12 92:10	31:13	greatly 158:20
38:3,7 44:19	121:24	<b>grab</b> 107:17	166:13
46:3 47:18,25	governing	156:14	<b>greece</b> 152:22
51:6,21 55:20	94:22 159:6	<b>grabs</b> 96:9	greetings 7:11
56:7 57:10	government	graduated	<b>greg</b> 2:3 129:16
62:1 71:10,11	16:9 27:24	158:11	<b>grew</b> 163:8
75:1 79:4	33:8 34:2 40:8	graham 154:7	<b>grillo</b> 2:22 6:11
81:21 84:16	41:20 45:12,13	grandchildren	7:1,2 56:2,6,10
85:20,21 88:15	45:22 50:22	96:4 177:7	<b>gross</b> 114:6
88:17 98:1,20	54:10 57:11	grandmother	<b>ground</b> 67:10
101:21,22	58:6 59:7,16	154:8	163:8
109:23 110:2	59:17,19 61:4	grandparents	groundwork
116:13 119:6	71:18 83:18	134:5	12:8
119:24 121:24	84:16 85:3,9	<b>grant</b> 2:21	<b>group</b> 9:17
123:11,12	86:10 89:1,22	125:2,3,4,5,6,8	80:10,11
126:1 129:25	90:2,13 92:6	125:8 126:7,10	125:11 179:15
131:19 132:19	92:15,16,22	126:13 127:24	groups 60:4
133:10,12	93:9,14,14,20	128:6,15,21	<b>grow</b> 28:4
136:21,22	94:4,6,9 95:2,6	129:3,6,13,14	53:19 81:3
139:5 141:4	95:18 96:3,8	149:24	161:3
147:23 150:1,2	108:11 109:17	<b>grants</b> 111:23	growing 81:11
150:3 151:16	110:2 111:9	grassroots	81:12 131:21
154:4 157:20	116:21 118:19	134:9 177:3	<b>grown</b> 54:17
160:3,4,5	120:7 125:19	<b>graunt</b> 125:2	growth 36:9
162:16,17,18	128:8 168:13	<b>great</b> 7:7 26:11	87:2,14
166:7 170:8	178:3	33:25 35:13	guarantee 55:1
172:8 179:10	government's	44:6 56:3	guaranteed
<b>goods</b> 79:25	59:14 92:19,24	77:17 84:15	91:15
<b>gotten</b> 160:15	governmental	97:14 139:23	guarantees
	45:10	149:12	55:17

[guess - heard] Page 29

<b>guess</b> 59:18	handle 46:7	15:11,21,21,22	healthcare
76:6 108:17	48:15	16:13 18:1	162:24
150:9 158:15	handling	19:8 23:15	healthier 39:9
guesthouse	102:16	24:9,19 25:8	<b>healthy</b> 102:25
152:21	<b>hands</b> 35:13	26:10 28:7	<b>hear</b> 7:4 8:4,18
guidance 89:22	57:17,18 126:3	32:25 35:12,17	9:2,8,12 10:16
<b>guide</b> 90:15	126:12 129:15	36:21 37:8	11:13 12:2,18
<b>gum</b> 58:7	173:6	38:15 46:2	12:19,25 14:7
<b>gumming</b> 57:19	<b>hang</b> 58:12	54:11 56:12	14:15 16:1
57:21	<b>happen</b> 48:12	63:2 70:11	32:21 43:16
<b>gun</b> 172:23	48:12 50:20	75:8 85:15	44:14 51:4
173:1	99:2 130:9	122:10,14	56:19 60:3
<b>guns</b> 173:6	131:8,8 161:8	129:24 134:1,7	69:17 78:5
<b>gut</b> 92:19	166:24	140:25 141:3	83:24 84:11
<b>gutters</b> 144:10	happened	147:9 148:4,22	85:18 86:7
<b>guy</b> 99:5 153:4	37:16 48:24	148:25 150:9	88:13 95:2,3
175:14	100:6 156:11	150:24 152:17	100:16 122:11
<b>guys</b> 11:25	160:20,21	153:5 157:23	133:8 135:17
98:14 99:12	181:1	162:20 163:1,2	148:13,19
100:1 113:19	happening	163:4,5,6,7	151:6 157:10
123:11 173:16	96:10 174:15	164:16 165:12	166:5 167:25
173:16,18	happens 59:2	177:6,7 179:25	169:6,17
174:20 175:9	76:22 135:3	harlem's 71:1	170:18 172:19
h	164:4	harming 94:4	172:19,21
half 17:9 59:21	<b>happy</b> 9:7 34:9	<b>hazard</b> 110:17	173:11 176:8
166:12	37:6 38:12	hazards 92:17	176:12,13,14
hall 41:19 89:7	43:15 47:15	<b>hazel</b> 1:6 6:4	176:16,20,22
hallelujah 71:3	135:21	9:3 27:2 37:20	<b>heard</b> 7:6 8:23
hallways	harassing	106:11	9:11 12:9
102:21	155:2	health 29:11	14:22 28:6
halt 92:15	<b>hard</b> 38:9	52:14 101:25	43:12,25 67:11
hamilton 15:22	harlem 6:14	102:3,11	68:7,9 69:11
hamper 95:9	7:12 8:2,7,8,8	109:10 163:1	69:16 75:1
handiwork	9:6,8,9,12,16	163:10,19	77:10 80:20
93:1	11:7,8 12:22	180:21	89:2 122:15,15
/5.1			

125:11,13	<b>held</b> 13:15	173:13	hispanics 31:18
126:3 129:4	71:24 83:3	<b>hi</b> 11:5 19:20	historian 141:1
150:4,18,24	137:20 155:17	47:18,19	141:2
156:6 170:4	155:24 160:22	113:18,18	historical 45:13
hearing 6:2	177:20	123:24 125:6,7	45:21 46:22
9:18 11:15	<b>hello</b> 78:3	147:20 151:16	47:25
14:25 15:2,3	169:2,5,5	160:6 170:17	historically
23:5 44:21	173:10 176:15	170:20	39:7 82:4
45:5 63:17	<b>help</b> 24:1 29:24	<b>hidden</b> 171:16	89:24 164:2
64:7 69:11	30:1 33:7	<b>hide</b> 93:1	history 92:4
70:1 77:4	36:10,19 42:21	<b>high</b> 53:7 59:21	93:12,18 94:17
83:22 110:15	52:19,19 55:5	86:15 103:4,18	116:19
113:11,15	58:6 72:7,14	114:20 118:4	<b>hit</b> 33:5 58:1
116:7 117:11	73:11 87:8	121:4 137:15	<b>hiv</b> 163:12
119:15 122:18	88:5 93:23	154:23 163:14	177:5
123:16 124:10	104:19 137:15	168:14	<b>hold</b> 119:9
144:18 150:11	137:16 139:6	higher 121:2	147:10
150:21 155:24	139:24 149:11	135:23	<b>holding</b> 39:16
156:7 159:18	158:17 162:4,5	<b>highest</b> 118:1,7	39:23 42:10
166:4,17	171:20 172:25	154:25	110:15 113:11
177:10	174:11	highlighted	131:25
hearings 7:5,17	<b>helped</b> 97:13	52:5	<b>holds</b> 137:24
8:20 63:22	147:10	highlights	<b>home</b> 36:17
64:18 68:2,8	<b>helpful</b> 49:16	177:24	150:13 152:9,9
68:11 69:7,9	51:25 92:1	<b>hinder</b> 80:18	154:9 173:14
69:22,23 124:8	helping 94:4	hinders 94:9	homeless
124:12 137:25	helpless 105:2	hire 30:21,22	102:15
138:19 139:3	<b>helps</b> 30:17	48:17 114:19	homelessness
143:7 144:21	155:4	<b>hiring</b> 30:21	163:20 177:4
171:12 172:3	herbert 2:8	hispanic 17:8	homeowner
173:18 177:23	herbie 6:9	30:9 31:23	152:1
<b>heart</b> 134:3	<b>hereto</b> 66:10	32:6,18 33:18	homeowners
<b>hefty</b> 45:4	183:14 184:11	33:25 36:16	152:1,4,25
heights 15:22	<b>hey</b> 10:21	40:14,17 41:25	homeowners
15:23	147:21 173:10	42:15	39:7

<b>homes</b> 10:9	house 11:4	hygiene 102:11	immigrants
114:16 115:5	34:23 103:6	hypertension	168:14
honestly 12:5	152:23,25	163:12	immigration
honor 7:3 9:16	181:9		141:17
51:19 78:4	household 17:9	i	<b>impact</b> 24:11
89:14	17:10	<b>i.e.</b> 76:22	52:16,23 53:1
honorable 15:8	households	<b>ibo</b> 91:4	53:4 57:20
honorary	17:12,13	ibrahim 3:5	66:2,4,7,9
130:18,19,25	houses 98:24	122:9,13	68:23 75:2
honored 11:6,9	163:8	icees 180:7	88:8 92:7
12:22 89:11	housing 16:3,5	idea 47:25 61:3	93:21 108:13
hope 25:15	16:7,12 17:17	81:21 92:9	111:2,3,4,7
88:14 91:25	18:5,8,11,14	107:9 108:24	175:1
92:1 101:9	20:4 21:16,16	126:4 141:10	impacted 20:21
113:10	21:21 22:15	<b>ideas</b> 61:15	65:6
hopefully 12:7	29:10 45:5	89:1 109:23	impacting
51:25 69:21	52:13 99:10,23	127:5 142:22	151:22 152:11
161:3 163:17	110:18,23,24	identify 72:9	163:15 165:11
horrific 103:13	110:16,23,24	72:19	impacts 14:12
hospital 29:12	111:16,17,19	ignorance	67:12 86:22
134:4 152:17	111:23 112:1	175:15	impaired
162:22 164:16	114:12,14	ignorant 32:24	166:17
hospitals	hubs 99:6	32:25	impasse 111:5
109:10	huge 73:23	ignored 108:8	111:8
host 152:12,19	87:11 133:22	<b>igr</b> 121:4	imperfections
152:24	171:24	illegal 174:9	72:4
hostage 132:1	human 91:7	illegally 171:10	impetus 85:3
hosting 14:3	humane 102:18	illiterate	implement
27:2	104:13 105:5	168:15	43:25 67:9
<b>hot</b> 10:7 76:7	humanely	<b>illness</b> 163:13	83:11,13 88:4
180:7	103:6	163:20	implementati
hotel 152:21,22	hundred 120:5	illustrious	109:8 120:12
hour 117:10	hunter 2:23	32:13	130:9
hours 65:19	149:25 150:1,4	imagine 48:4	implemented
166:12	151:11	48:13 67:25	44:1 57:24

58:23 131:5	improved	24:10 54:8	independent
implore 95:5	112:13	60:5 141:14,20	52:25 53:1
135:3	improvement	142:6 152:3,4	90:19 91:5
importance	66:11 72:5	152:5	94:20 128:6,7
65:5	110:17	incomes 17:10	independently
important 8:14	improvements	17:11,12,14	89:9
8:19 9:20	47:2 65:7,22	23:8	indicated 38:25
14:14 15:17	66:9	incomplete	39:18 121:20
26:23 27:11	improving	130:11	indicating
31:9 35:12	52:15 80:24	inconsistent	121:7
37:2 38:16	81:8 162:25	110:2	indication 40:5
43:13 51:10,16	include 29:9	incorporate	individual 32:2
55:22 57:12	36:7,8 42:23	86:8	125:10
69:6,15,20	68:11	increase 19:4	individuals
78:6,12 82:5	included 14:21	29:16 32:6,18	72:8 73:16
83:2 84:3,5	44:25 46:5	53:13 72:24	109:17 125:12
91:3 100:20	54:3 68:8	74:19 75:22	industrial
105:20 107:4	147:15 155:19	120:21 122:20	92:17
108:1 111:14	161:12	124:9,10	industry 105:4
114:25 122:19	includes 30:24	142:22 155:4	ineffective 16:9
133:8 134:11	31:18 36:13	160:14 164:10	59:1 103:11
149:1 162:3	including 18:25	increased	inefficient 16:5
173:2	25:17 41:24	16:12 18:4	inevitably
importantly	49:5 63:16	22:13 40:4	86:10
52:19 54:6	81:8 91:4	81:14 164:11	inez 2:10 5:4
impossible 57:3	103:15 110:19	increases 18:7	26:18 34:20
imposture	130:22 175:6	increasing	38:10,24 39:17
94:19	inclusive 29:3	41:25 83:4	56:17
impression	34:5 36:12	121:18	influence
60:7	41:23,24 42:5	increasingly	174:24
improve 14:9	42:10,14 151:8	111:19	influences
18:24 47:13	178:3	incredulous	120:7
52:4 61:15	<b>income</b> 21:19	157:24	influx 33:6
73:4 165:10	22:4,25 23:11	incumbent	<b>info</b> 140:7,9,10
	23:14,23 24:7	75:11	140:12

information	innovative	interest 33:19	<b>intros</b> 143:7
4:12 26:12	142:6	44:23 67:2	intrusive 58:10
28:15 30:18	input 55:22	73:1 89:23	inundated 26:2
40:21,23 42:20	63:14 64:4,12	100:13 104:13	180:3
42:25 43:4,9	64:23 65:7,13	interested	invested 40:23
44:15 45:9,12	67:8 70:4	68:16 86:15	41:8
45:16 49:18	104:2 117:8,24	128:16,16	investigating
53:15,25 56:17	122:20 155:17	183:15 184:12	18:24
57:17 60:12,15	177:25	interesting	investigator
60:16,24 61:17	insecurity	97:18	158:9
62:2,5,14	163:20	interests 72:10	investment
68:16 69:7,25	inside 49:5	interim 91:9	41:9
78:10,13 81:15	72:14	92:6	invitation
81:23 82:10,12	insight 47:6	<b>intern</b> 86:14	35:11 133:15
83:12 85:16	inspection	interpretation	<b>inviting</b> 133:16
108:15 138:20	112:19,23	166:21 167:3	involve 66:6
139:7 143:9	inspections	167:17 168:3	involved 85:10
146:25 147:2	112:24 113:3	interpreter	117:3 150:25
148:10 158:20	instance 152:17	166:9	158:8,17 159:6
161:4 168:6	<b>instant</b> 121:14	interpreters	159:9
informed 72:15	institutions	167:24	involving 66:15
120:6 143:7	164:13,21	interpreting	ironically
infrastructure	165:8	166:18	106:22
33:4 86:23	insufficient	intervene 102:4	irrespective
inhumane	91:15	112:2	48:22 76:19
103:22	insulate 118:14	intimidate	irresponsible
initial 51:24	intact 72:3	178:13	57:6
120:11	integrity 52:4	intro 107:22	<b>island</b> 10:23,25
initiative 86:4	52:18 178:22	introduce 6:24	13:17 23:9
142:11	intended 54:18	11:25	78:18 100:23
initiatives	intending	introduced	106:24 114:12
46:15 160:13	127:10	50:19 117:9	114:14,19
<b>injure</b> 102:23	<b>intent</b> 178:7	introduction	149:1 152:22
inner 66:13	interacts	64:9,14 117:20	<b>issue</b> 18:19
96:5	137:14		43:14 52:10

[issue - kinds] Page 34

		1	1
96:5 105:10	<b>jobs</b> 36:13	145:25 146:8	<b>keith</b> 4:16 5:10
107:24 108:11	143:11	172:4 177:20	71:1 79:6
130:4 131:12	<b>john</b> 2:11	<b>juniors</b> 86:14	<b>ken</b> 3:15 11:23
174:17	153:25 157:17	<b>jury</b> 75:7	11:24 12:18
<b>issued</b> 178:10	johnson 2:24	126:18 128:17	<b>kennel</b> 102:22
<b>issues</b> 12:9,25	3:3,5 5:11 79:1	justice 3:16	<b>key</b> 15:24 35:12
45:4 64:5,22	79:3,4,8 84:13	88:22,25 94:1	36:16 45:10
91:14 100:20	85:14,17 87:11	105:10 137:16	81:14,22
104:11 107:20	122:7,8,9,13,14	173:15 174:12	kick 57:7
109:21 118:12	123:17 124:1,3	175:7	<b>kicked</b> 100:3
130:16 137:5	124:7,18,21,24	justification	<b>kids</b> 172:23
<b>it'll</b> 139:24	149:21,22,22	118:10	173:5,6
145:22	173:9,10,13,14	justify 63:25	kiernan 3:6
items 130:25	<b>join</b> 98:4	justly 90:4	140:8,11,13,15
i	<b>joined</b> 12:24	k	<b>kill</b> 102:24
<b>j</b> 35:8 37:25	155:6	<b>k</b> 71:5,10,12	104:16,20
<b>j.g.</b> 4:15 5:5	<b>joining</b> 6:6	74:22 75:3,6	<b>killed</b> 103:16
35:15	128:16	75:23 76:3,8	105:21,21
jackie 3:23	<b>joint</b> 47:9	76:14,16 77:3	154:8 155:7
6:13 8:1,10	117:22	77:14 78:16,22	156:8 170:21
38:1 133:15	<b>jordan</b> 4:15 5:5	kai 3:22 119:23	170:25 173:22
134:16 147:21	34:25 35:2,6	119:25	173:25 174:4,4
150:5 160:6	35:15 38:10	kaya 3:24	<b>killing</b> 104:15
james 106:16	<b>joy</b> 14:1	159:21,22,23	105:9 173:1,4
jeopardize 93:5	<b>jr</b> 7:10	<b>keaton</b> 3:13	173:6
jersey 152:13	judges 93:6	5:12 85:19	<b>kind</b> 10:8 24:22
152:13	julius 4:8	keep 27:12	24:22 49:18
jimmy 3:16	140:25	32:24 33:23	56:19 57:15
5:13 88:13,19	<b>july</b> 1:7 15:2,6	36:3,10 38:3	58:8 67:5
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	117:10 172:5	,	118:21 152:15
<b>job</b> 1:20 39:6 40:11 59:14	<b>jump</b> 152:14	43:18 77:10,12 77:14 85:25	152:23 156:5
61:11 82:11	<b>jumped</b> 170:24	103:3 104:20	180:1
157:24 173:25	<b>june</b> 3:14 13:15	103.3 104.20	<b>kindly</b> 56:17
	13:16,16,17,17		<b>kinds</b> 17:25
175:14	13:18 95:12	123:17,19	50:1
		124:8 177:14	

[knew - laws] Page 35

knew 85:2	136:6 137:9	<b>labor</b> 65:6	largest 29:13
92:13	138:21 139:1,7	lack 177:24	lastly 99:9
<b>know</b> 8:13,14	139:9,9 140:2	lacking 117:24	112:18
10:7,10 11:7,8	147:6 148:2,2	lackluster	late 43:15
15:14 17:2	148:10,12,21	28:16	80:24 164:17
20:16 21:1,4,5	148:24 149:6	lady 26:8	latest 80:6
21:7,20 22:10	149:12,17	<b>lagged</b> 31:17	<b>latino</b> 80:4,8
22:22 23:12	150:12,20	lamberton 3:7	131:21
24:3,5 25:9	157:25 159:11	165:25,25	laughable
26:3 27:7	159:20 164:22	166:1,1,3,4,7,8	99:14
30:24 32:3	167:11 168:12	168:21 169:1,3	<b>laura</b> 184:2,15
34:15,15,18	172:21,22,24	169:7	<b>law</b> 30:8,15,19
35:13 39:5	174:1 175:13	<b>land</b> 16:14 17:4	30:22 31:4
50:14,14,16	176:19 177:9	18:3,8,9	43:7 46:20
51:9 54:11,20	179:7,17 180:4	109:20	50:19 54:16
56:14 57:4	180:15,18,18	landlord 112:3	55:3 57:23
58:13,24 60:4	180:23	landmark	79:18,23 90:20
60:5,7 61:11	<b>knowing</b> 100:3	109:11,13	93:7 107:22
61:13 68:23,25	152:9	landmarks	109:17 111:13
69:7,19,20	knowledge	108:25	111:13,13
71:13,17 76:10	26:13 68:22	language 51:25	112:21 142:25
76:16 78:5	183:9 184:6	54:5 156:3	142:25 151:20
81:15,19 82:3	<b>known</b> 28:25	166:9,18	151:20,21,22
82:13 87:12	45:9 110:18	167:10,13	153:1 155:22
88:3,7 90:23	167:1 169:25	168:2,6,10,16	167:2,12
90:24 92:16	<b>knows</b> 85:1	172:5,6	168:16 169:1
96:3 98:9 99:2	kw 87:22	languages	lawmakers
99:8,12,15,16	<b>kyle</b> 2:4 6:8	168:5,17	57:18 137:10
100:1 106:11	9:15 10:5,16	<b>large</b> 16:14	lawmaking
107:11,11,21	12:4 74:15	17:4 30:21	53:9 65:4
115:9 123:13	l	167:21,25	66:18 95:10
125:12 126:20	<b>l</b> 157:18,18	largely 46:13	laws 39:3 42:4
128:1 134:10	<b>l.t.</b> 4:16 5:10	120:15	53:7 63:20
134:16 135:5,9	71:2 79:7	larger 98:19	64:2,4,16,19
135:14,15,16		99:6,6,18	67:9 73:12

[laws - lives] Page 36

105:4 109:8	legally 111:12	54:8 74:9	<b>link</b> 59:6
111:10 117:2	legislation	96:10 107:23	lion 2:24
137:6 159:6	52:12 58:2,4	116:23 118:2,7	173:14
174:14,19	64:3,21,25	130:22 131:5	<b>liquor</b> 180:4
175:3	67:3 68:13	132:20 171:10	<b>list</b> 2:2 3:2 4:2
<b>layer</b> 94:8	92:8 111:5	171:20	102:24,24
laying 12:7	118:11 160:23	levels 18:5	179:22
<b>lead</b> 66:17 82:9	171:15,18,19	21:19 60:5	<b>listed</b> 136:13
<b>leader</b> 71:23	178:9	84:25	<b>listen</b> 12:23
149:12	legislative	liberties 116:15	43:24 54:9,10
leadership	52:16,23 63:22	library 45:15	59:22 75:8
39:21 61:23	65:3,8,14 66:5	47:12	123:4 152:1
72:14 74:2	66:16 92:12	license 180:5	listened 54:12
122:2 132:2	95:14 102:9	180:16	listening 7:15
leading 88:23	117:3 119:2	licensed 158:14	14:5 19:13
<b>league</b> 119:25	155:14 178:18	licenses 180:14	22:25 23:4,20
120:5,9	legislatively	180:22 181:7	133:24
leaks 112:23	50:10,11	licensing 104:5	listing 32:2
learn 24:24	legislature	<b>life</b> 45:20	literature
136:4 171:4	29:24	165:10 166:19	148:8
learned 9:11	legislature's	167:24	litigation 65:2
133:19	119:8	lifelong 133:25	<b>little</b> 16:19 33:7
learning 11:1	legitimacy	lifesaving	45:1,6 56:25
<b>leave</b> 133:19	52:18	104:7	67:18 85:6
161:25	<b>lehman</b> 123:9	<b>lift</b> 36:19,23	99:5 100:14
leaving 105:2	<b>length</b> 117:12	<b>light</b> 154:14	124:5 135:14
146:19	143:17	limitation	137:1 170:4
<b>left</b> 22:13 149:9	lengthy 68:1	139:3	<b>live</b> 22:16
149:10	<b>lenox</b> 146:11	limiting 55:15	24:18 73:12
<b>legacy</b> 88:12	lens 52:21	104:2	122:9,14
93:17 131:10	<b>lesson</b> 34:19	<b>limits</b> 130:7,9	131:17 136:6
legal 89:7 92:3	<b>letitia</b> 106:16	<b>linda</b> 149:23	146:20 157:22
141:16,16,25	letting 8:23	<b>line</b> 77:18	177:6
143:21	level 17:24 23:3	linguistic	<b>lives</b> 14:9,12
	23:24 35:25	166:16	67:12 96:2

[lives - make] Page 37

		1	1
103:15 104:18	24:6,10 35:18	131:13 133:19	140:3
165:11	56:6 58:8	133:20 135:21	m
living 94:5	67:20 68:3	137:15,18	ma'am 147:25
152:3,6,6	72:14 84:19	142:10 147:2,5	169:4,6,20
153:5 179:25	99:7 135:8	148:5 150:12	mad 16:25
loans 24:24	161:11 164:6	173:3 174:10	made 10:23
lobbyists	168:7	174:19	21:15 22:14
174:24	<b>looked</b> 62:12	<b>lots</b> 154:11	25:4 27:21
local 21:7	67:22 80:5	lotteries 150:25	46:6 48:9
35:22 46:20	92:14	<b>lottery</b> 99:12	65:22 66:10,11
50:19 53:7	looking 7:7	99:13 150:24	82:13,22 87:6
54:16 55:3	18:13 19:23	<b>loud</b> 16:21	91:20 99:22
64:2,16,19	20:6,14 40:16	<b>love</b> 104:18	127:14 141:15
73:20 79:18,23	41:2 66:25	113:20 134:3,7	152:13 157:9
107:22 109:8	129:22 135:12	134:9,21 135:4	mail 65:20
111:13,13,13	148:21	147:21,22	100:10,11,12
112:17,21	looks 105:17	160:2 174:16	132:23 140:7,8
116:20,23	lorraine 2:22	<b>loved</b> 134:12	145:9 153:15
120:23 121:4	6:11,25 7:2	172:12	153:16 157:13
151:20,22	55:21	lover 15:11	161:4
159:7,8,12	lose 18:16	low 73:2,22	maintain 152:5
168:16 169:1	loss 17:20	107:23 114:16	maintained
177:2,3	152:3	120:20	45:23
locally 36:6	<b>lost</b> 98:19	<b>lower</b> 24:8	maintaining
114:19	107:14 135:12	83:23	142:24
<b>long</b> 16:6 23:9	172:12,23	luckily 126:1	major 43:15
38:17 55:13	<b>lot</b> 9:11,11	luke's 134:4	64:5 74:3 92:8
85:25 86:5	18:20 20:7	<b>lunch</b> 150:13	93:4 112:10
93:23 117:22	24:19 38:18	<b>lynch</b> 3:9 6:13	majority
130:13 141:18	48:7 88:3,4	9:5,6 42:18	110:24
169:21 171:14	100:23 107:19	47:18,20 48:25	<b>majors</b> 117:7
171:17 180:16	107:20 117:16	49:8 60:21	make 10:3
<b>longer</b> 107:7	122:16 123:18	61:5,8 62:5,8	11:17 13:13
look 11:1 14:20	125:12,14	62:16,20	18:15,19 19:5
14:25 22:15	129:6 130:12	139:19,23	21:21 24:3
			21,21 27,3

25:11 36:4	manager 2:12	marginalized	max 3:21 6:13
39:16 42:4,13	63:9	89:24	10:22,24
45:7,24 58:3	mandate 40:1	<b>marie</b> 2:20	<b>mayor</b> 8:16
72:15 73:10,11	47:11	151:14,14,17	11:10 25:17
74:16 76:22	mandated	<b>marily</b> 101:9	27:15 28:2,25
78:18 83:25	113:2 142:16	marilyn 2:17	29:5,15,17
84:10,15 86:25	142:18	101:23	30:1 31:16
94:11 99:4	mandates	market 152:10	38:25 39:21,23
107:3 108:15	32:17 47:8	marketing	40:5,19,22
109:19 122:20	104:5	134:18	41:8,13 42:11
127:14,15	mandating	markets 105:4	43:16,23 46:17
131:8 133:22	32:7	marking 18:9	47:23 90:21
139:23 141:15	mandatory	marlene 4:9	94:19 95:6,7
153:5 162:23	55:4 82:20	162:13,13,16	95:12 106:20
170:1 173:15	manhattan	162:19,19	107:4,5,8,9,21
174:2,3,6,25	13:16 71:23	164:24 165:1,5	108:4 110:15
makes 25:16	83:23 103:5	165:7,14,18	118:17 149:8
30:16 81:2	106:6,8 110:8	marsha 4:10	154:13,23
110:23 123:5	131:25 132:3,6	133:9,10,13	156:14
making 8:16	151:24 152:6	136:8,17	<b>mayor's</b> 32:12
41:23 52:18	166:8	massive 33:3	33:10 42:25
58:8 65:19	<b>manner</b> 36:13	52:12 111:17	52:11 61:6,10
99:18 103:11	41:21,23,24	171:21	61:13 62:11
113:5 126:14	42:6,10,14	massively	89:5 144:20
126:19,25	82:22	115:12	178:12
127:6,12	manually 43:5	mastermind	mayoral 28:25
141:19 155:3	43:22	88:2	29:1,9 39:18
malcolm 1:12	<b>march</b> 117:11	<b>match</b> 33:9	39:19,22 46:18
179:14 180:3	marcus 3:10	materials 45:24	81:4 109:15
<b>mama</b> 7:14	136:19,20,20	<b>matter</b> 49:12	121:2,13
<b>man</b> 160:11	136:21,23	64:1 121:24	<b>mayors</b> 38:18
management	137:2 139:13	137:25 141:14	<b>mbes</b> 29:16,19
45:16,24 47:12	139:16,21	<b>matters</b> 65:4,8	30:1,8,17
110:20	140:1,10,12,14	65:10	<b>mcglory</b> 149:23
	140:18,21		

mcgraw 3:11	134:18 170:3	142:15,17,21	migrant 174:16
6:14 11:5	median 22:25	152:18 155:5,7	migrants 27:23
24:13,16 25:18	23:11,22 24:6	155:9 156:7	54:22 109:11
43:11 44:6	24:10	159:18	174:16,18
49:9,11 50:8	mediation	membership	migration 18:5
77:22 78:3	112:6	130:19,21	miles 2:21 3:12
123:22,24	medicine	<b>memo</b> 56:6	125:2,8 169:13
124:2,4,17,20	162:20 164:18	mental 102:11	169:14,15,16
<b>mdm</b> 7:13	165:9	163:13,20	169:20
12:15 78:3	<b>medium</b> 48:14	mentally	<b>million</b> 30:14
mean 33:17	meet 16:7 31:3	163:23	40:22 41:9
70:20 75:6	83:15	mention 56:15	53:3 57:25
107:9 128:6	meeting 1:1	mentioned	58:24 110:22
meaning 16:6	34:14 65:18	24:16 42:19	114:8 121:16
33:15	130:24 136:14	163:2	142:3
meaningful	150:5 159:13	<b>mentor</b> 86:13	millions 104:6
152:24	173:19 181:17	113:25 114:1	109:3
means 20:13	181:24 182:1	mentoring 30:7	<b>mind</b> 56:23
23:6 29:6 80:1	meetings 12:4	mere 29:5	81:16 134:1
measurable	13:14,24 32:7	message 118:21	<b>minds</b> 33:23
83:10	32:11 65:17	<b>met</b> 46:12	37:5
measure 28:1	130:23 170:3	62:23	<b>mine</b> 31:15
89:18 153:2	177:23	method 127:6	minister
measures 18:24	<b>member</b> 10:25	methodology	158:14
61:14 88:24	11:21 25:23	74:1	minorities
89:5 119:11	106:10 179:16	methods 60:14	24:18,20 88:8
156:19,19	members 12:1	metropolitan	minority 24:21
measuring	14:8,15 34:7	79:13	36:2,18 37:4
93:20	35:10 39:22	michael 2:18	40:6 79:19
mechanism	47:1,8 63:7	4:5 5:6 26:6	81:19 82:16
30:24 31:1	79:14 88:18	32:6,12 37:23	87:3,14 135:16
mechanisms	117:12 122:5	38:5 88:1	144:3,5,7
118:9	128:2 130:18	114:1 116:8,14	160:10 166:16
media 7:16	130:18,25	microphone	minute 56:3
32:22 82:2	131:1,9,10,10	12:15	154:18

131:2 132:15       142:12       mother       171:7       muscle muted         133:3,14 146:4       monday       1:7       172:23       muted         168:20 169:9       money       41:22       mothers       163:7       170:1         169:18       59:17,20 99:18       motion       13:14       176:1         misconduct       102:18 107:13       181:19,19,21       mwbe         118:6       127:4 128:9       motivated       21:72         misguided       135:10 141:19       155:21 160:8       31:6,3         138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount       154:6       39:1,3         171:21       monitor       41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	22 171:9 38:19 156:8,9 6 176:9 0,11
100:17 101:7       moment       28:24       148:15 149:15       154:2         131:2 132:15       142:12       mother       171:7       muscle         133:3,14 146:4       monday       1:7       172:23       muted         168:20 169:9       money       41:22       mothers       163:7       170:1         169:18       59:17,20 99:18       motion       13:14       176:1         misconduct       102:18 107:13       181:19,19,21       mwbe         118:6       127:4 128:9       motivated       21:7 2         misguided       135:10 141:19       155:21 160:8       31:6,         138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount       154:6       39:1,         171:21       monitor       41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	22 171:9 38:19 156:8,9 6 176:9 0,11 3:13 28:6,8 14 32:7 38:18,22 3,24,25
131:2 132:15       142:12       mother       171:7       muscle         133:3,14 146:4       monday       1:7       172:23       muted         168:20 169:9       money       41:22       mothers       163:7       170:1         169:18       59:17,20 99:18       motion       13:14       176:1         misconduct       102:18 107:13       181:19,19,21       mwbe         118:6       127:4 128:9       motivated       21:72         misguided       135:10 141:19       155:21 160:8       31:6,3         138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount       154:6       39:1,3         171:21       monitor       41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	38:19 156:8,9 6 176:9 0,11 3:13 28:6,8 14 32:7 38:18,22 3,24,25
133:3,14 146:4       monday       1:7       172:23       muted         168:20 169:9       money       41:22       mothers       163:7       170:1         169:18       59:17,20 99:18       motion       13:14       176:1         misconduct       102:18 107:13       181:19,19,21       mwbe         118:6       127:4 128:9       motivated       21:72         misguided       135:10 141:19       155:21 160:8       31:6,3         138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount       154:6       39:1,3         171:21       monitor       41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	156:8,9 6 176:9 0,11 3:13 28:6,8 14 32:7 4 38:18,22 3,24,25
168:20 169:9       money 41:22       mothers 163:7       170:1         169:18       59:17,20 99:18       motion 13:14       176:1         misconduct       102:18 107:13       181:19,19,21       mwbe         118:6       127:4 128:9       motivated       21:7 2         misguided       135:10 141:19       155:21 160:8       31:6,3         138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount 154:6       39:1,3         171:21       monitor 41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	6 176:9 0,11 3:13 28:6,8 14 32:7 4 38:18,22 3,24,25
169:18       59:17,20 99:18       motion 13:14       176:1         misconduct       102:18 107:13       181:19,19,21       mwbe         118:6       127:4 128:9       motivated       21:7 2         misguided       135:10 141:19       155:21 160:8       31:6,2         138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount 154:6       39:1,3         171:21       monitor 41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	0,11 3:13 28:6,8 14 32:7 38:18,22 3,24,25
misconduct       102:18 107:13       181:19,19,21       mwbe         118:6       127:4 128:9       motivated       21:7 2         misguided       135:10 141:19       155:21 160:8       31:6,2         138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount 154:6       39:1,3         171:21       monitor 41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	3:13 28:6,8 14 32:7 4 38:18,22 3,24,25
118:6       127:4 128:9       motivated       21:7 2         misguided       135:10 141:19       155:21 160:8       31:6,         138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount 154:6       39:1,3         171:21       monitor 41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	28:6,8 14 32:7 4 38:18,22 3,24,25
misguided       135:10 141:19       155:21 160:8       31:6,3         138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount 154:6       39:1,3         171:21       monitor 41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	14 32:7 4 38:18,22 3,24,25
138:13,24       141:20 142:6       177:16       32:14         misinformation       171:22 181:7       mount 154:6       39:1,3         171:21       monitor 41:10       164:10,21       40:3 4	38:18,22 3,24,25
misinformation         171:22 181:7         mount         154:6         39:1,3           171:21         monitor         41:10         164:10,21         40:3 4	3,24,25
171:21 <b>monitor</b> 41:10 164:10,21 40:3	
	41:2,15
misleading 43.21 move 37.3 41.17	,
13.21 move 37.3	42:12
138:24 <b>monitoring</b> 50:18 75:4 45:5	79:11,21
<b>mispronounced</b> 41:1 170:13 81:10	,21 82:5
159:24 <b>monitors</b> 84:8 <b>moved</b> 117:7 83:5,	7,9 84:6,9
<b>missed</b> 158:1 <b>monkey</b> 141:19 119:5 86:2,4	4,6,8,9,20
<b>mission</b> 42:8 <b>month</b> 14:22 <b>movements</b> 87:4,9	9,9 88:2
45:19 84:1,1 22:8 103:16 118:5 98:5	113:22
91:11 102:12   146:9 172:3   <b>moves</b> 117:5   114:9	,20 144:4
<b>mme</b> 19:15 <b>monthly</b> 46:12 <b>moving</b> 39:15 160:7	161:7
22:20 27:2 <b>months</b> 12:10 69:21 93:13 <b>mwbe's</b>	s 31:5
97:25 106:10 64:18 80:21,21 146:22 161:2 <b>mwbes</b>	18:25
141:5 153:23   107:3 109:24   <b>mta</b> 114:1,10   28:4,1	16,22
157:21 115:6 117:13 <b>mulkeen</b> 29:16	5,19,25
<b>moderated</b> 1:6 172:9 173:22 175:13 30:7,	14,17
<b>modern</b> 93:19 <b>morin</b> 184:2,15 <b>multiple</b> 8:3,5 31:2,9	9,23,25
modernization morningside 8:9 13:22 14:7 32:3	35:24
46:4 50:17 15:22 164:22 71:11,25 36:9 3	37:20
<b>modernize morris</b> 3:13 129:19 170:12 38:17	80:1,19
50:22 5:12 85:19,20 170:19 173:12 98:12	,18
<b>modified</b> 53:8 85:22 87:18,21 181:23	
modify 85:7 moses 3:14 municipal	
145:25 146:1,2 45:14,15,15	

[n - new] Page 41

n	84:7 152:16	164:15	neutered 92:22
<b>n</b> 2:1 3:1 4:1	179:23	needle 161:2	neutering
	necessity 46:24	needs 20:5	104:7
5:1,1 6:1 128:22	neck 149:16	60:15 138:16	<b>never</b> 31:20
	need 10:2 16:7	138:23 149:6	57:9 81:16
<b>naacp</b> 3:3 79:2 79:12 148:10	19:14 21:10	153:2 166:21	161:17
158:5	24:6,23,24	166:22 168:1	nevertheless
name 7:1 9:6	28:3 33:13	174:21 180:9,9	92:15
35:15 62:22	35:22,23 36:3	negatively	new 1:13 3:3,16
63:8 79:8	37:7 40:11	82:22 151:23	6:3,6,12 7:4
88:14 98:12	42:7,12 60:12	152:11	9:18,18,23,24
101:10,22	60:12 69:15	neglected	9:25 10:3
101.10,22	82:11,23 85:6	167:16	14:10 15:1
122:9 125:8	90:9 91:16,18	negligence	18:12,16,16
146:8 151:17	92:19 93:14	175:14	19:1,2 22:11
153:20,21	94:8 95:15	negotiated 53:8	22:12,12,16
153.20,21	100:4 102:17	negotiating	23:7,9 24:5
169:13,14	104:10 107:15	32:16	25:5 27:12
170:20 173:13	108:19 115:5	negotiation	28:17,17,18,20
176:1,2 177:1	121:10 136:10	155:18	29:7,10,14,24
179:7,10,11	137:16,19	negotiations	30:6 31:10
name's 122:13	139:8,15 140:2	117:14	33:3,9,25
nation 40:8	143:6 147:1	neighbor 22:2	38:20 39:3
nation 40.6	148:19 150:18	neighborhood	40:2,20,23,24
naturally	152:5 154:21	24:6 54:7 60:8	41:16,19 42:8
167:20	156:4 162:2	60:10 61:24	42:13 43:6,7,7
nature 116:18	163:25 172:25	135:7 155:2	44:21 45:12
ncl 142:9	173:2,24 174:7	neighborhoods	46:11 54:18
nearly 17:21	174:13,23	22:3,17 100:2	55:10 56:22
33:6 112:10	175:2 180:5,12	151:23	57:23 58:25
117:10	180:20 181:2	neighbors	59:19,22 60:1
necessarily	needed 9:22	134:10,13	62:4 63:14,14
60:2,4	36:20 55:8	neither 183:10	65:16 68:12
necessary 18:6	65:22 81:6	184:7	71:21 72:12
31:12 63:19	83:10 138:18		73:20,23,25

[new - officers] Page 42

76:23 77:2	news 178:7	<b>notion</b> 76:12,18	o'clock 150:14
79:1,9,20	nexus 18:4	november 12:7	oath 27:21
81:11,13,15	<b>ngai</b> 3:15 12:19	14:18 34:12	obfuscating
83:17 87:8,25	12:21	35:19 156:1,19	160:16 161:5
88:21 89:16,20	nice 76:5	171:3 172:2,11	obscure 45:4
89:23 90:6,11	<b>night</b> 10:15	174:7	obstruction
90:19,24 93:7	125:13 170:8	number 16:1	27:19
94:3,5 95:2,8	<b>nine</b> 47:10	20:15 21:4,25	obtain 82:17
95:16,24,25	114:8 115:6	22:13 40:4	86:10
96:1 98:6,9,10	<b>nixon</b> 92:11	75:13 81:11,12	obviously
102:1 105:20	93:8	118:4 130:19	126:21
110:18,23	nominee 35:18	150:16 179:22	occupants
111:15 112:11	<b>non</b> 29:1 39:19	numbers 20:8	144:10
113:4 116:15	39:22 87:9	20:12,16,22	occupied 152:2
117:7 118:22	151:2 160:19	24:7 40:15,16	occur 46:23
119:2 120:1,5	160:25 161:7	168:14	<b>odds</b> 53:10
120:12,14	nonpaid 7:25	<b>ny</b> 1:13	<b>offer</b> 9:13
121:9 122:3	nonpartisan	<b>nyc</b> 2:15	<b>office</b> 27:21
127:2,10 128:8	71:20 72:5,20	140:15	29:4,6 53:1
133:21 137:6	72:24 73:4	<b>nyclu</b> 116:17	57:7 61:7,10
142:10,22	74:19,24 76:11	<b>nypd</b> 117:11,14	62:11 72:11
152:11,13,13	77:8 120:4	118:14 137:5	73:16 88:6
155:7,10 156:8	nonprofits	138:1,4,9	89:5 91:5
156:15 157:12	175:7,17	143:1 154:9	94:20 121:7
158:9 164:10	<b>normal</b> 118:23	155:7,13,19	131:19 132:11
166:16,20	<b>north</b> 72:17	156:8,13	132:12 144:20
167:1,8,11,21	162:22 163:3	170:22 171:8	159:8 160:22
168:2,7,15	<b>notary</b> 183:20	171:18,25	officer 2:18
170:1 172:6,14	<b>note</b> 80:3 83:25	172:13 178:13	32:12 132:12
172:15 174:20	<b>notice</b> 65:17	<b>nypd's</b> 118:4	138:3 170:23
177:2,3 179:19	notification	154:15	183:2
183:21	65:20	0	officers 67:9
<b>newbie</b> 101:18	<b>notified</b> 143:11	o 5:1 6:1	143:1,2 155:1
<b>newly</b> 91:7	143:16	128:22,22	164:5
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	

	T	I	1
official 15:10	140:5 145:10	operating	<b>oppose</b> 97:15
122:24 128:2	145:21,24	40:21 43:1	121:25
officials 14:15	151:18 154:4	operation	opposed 13:23
23:25 34:17	157:15,19	109:3	opposes 63:13
37:3 85:4	159:15 161:22	operations 29:5	oppressed
137:13 138:13	162:15 166:2,5	62:11 109:2	89:25
171:12	176:18,20,23	opinion 22:24	options 39:9
offline 58:14	179:2,12	74:17 76:1,4	50:15 111:22
oftentimes 31:9	<b>old</b> 33:4 92:9	81:13 84:20,21	ordained
32:4,23	103:16 154:10	107:3,16	158:14
<b>oh</b> 8:4 10:18	omitted 27:7	108:14 109:5	<b>order</b> 29:2 32:4
60:20 61:24,25	once 8:24 35:14	109:25 145:1	40:21 73:25
75:19 78:2	41:8,13 42:25	156:24	138:23
87:21 116:12	53:7 55:19	opinions 10:2	<b>orders</b> 103:22
125:22 129:14	57:24 72:10	opportunities	ordinary 72:12
139:16 140:1	<b>one's</b> 97:6	39:9 64:4 65:8	organization
140:21 151:15	onerous 80:16	79:15 80:15	120:4 166:10
151:18 155:25	ones 94:24	82:12,17 83:4	177:4
159:25 160:6	109:22 133:6	86:5,20 126:23	organizations
162:15 179:12	137:10 147:8	135:15	80:25
okay 8:6 16:20	172:12	opportunity	organize 72:7
16:20,20,24,24	ongoing 54:24	7:20 9:23,25	<b>origin</b> 167:19
20:25 21:10	65:1	39:8 44:20	original 49:14
22:2 26:5	online 49:7	45:6 50:21	49:23
49:10 68:5,20	<b>open</b> 18:2 19:6	55:20,21 63:10	originally
70:17,25 75:25	33:23 68:18	78:19 81:24	22:14
96:23,25 98:16	69:11,19 104:3	82:15 83:12	otps 108:23
101:19 104:24	174:25	85:23 95:24	outcome 36:4
113:21 116:3,4	opened 31:25	105:24 120:9	183:15 184:12
116:12 119:21	opening 153:24	121:1 122:2	outcomes 52:18
124:17,21	openly 158:5	126:16 127:11	60:24 61:1
125:1 126:10	<b>opens</b> 138:6	132:11,19	outmigration
129:10,20	operate 127:9	133:22 141:6	22:11
132:16,25	operates	169:4 176:25	<b>output</b> 36:20
136:20 140:3,4	116:22	179:20	

outrogoous	oversee 32:8	144:15	norologol
outrageous 172:2	91:17	owners 39:8	paralegal 158:13
outreach 32:9	overseeing	110:19 112:14	<b>pardon</b> 148:15
148:3	102:1,5 135:2	144:10	<b>-</b>
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•
outside 31:15	overseen 102:10	ownership 19:10	<b>parents</b> 134:6 136:10 167:22
46:19,22 48:6 48:11 66:15			
111:8 168:11	oversees 29:1,2 29:4	owning 24:18	park 106:14 parks 136:11
180:8		p	-
outsourced	oversight 48:7	<b>p</b> 2:1,1 3:1,1	parsimoniously 57:16
49:1	48:24 84:4,8	4:1,1 6:1	
	90:20,23 91:4 91:13 103:19	<b>p.m.</b> 1:8 7:19	<b>part</b> 7:3 8:24 16:13 19:22
outsourcing 46:23 47:21,22	109:9 118:9,15	15:6 182:2	20:5 21:9
48:24	134:24	<b>pack</b> 148:12	50:16 60:11
overall 64:8	overtaken	package 52:3	84:1,1 90:21
overarching	29:21	packed 148:7	93:17 99:3
91:2	overwhelmed	<b>page</b> 5:2 89:20	155:10 171:17
overcrowded	73:7 102:20	<b>pages</b> 10:15	179:20
72:21	overwhelmin	<b>paid</b> 80:19,22	partial 28:15
overdue 38:17	89:4 90:14	111:20	participant 2:3
overflow	owe 142:2	paladino	2:5,6,11,14,17
102:18	own 22:18,24	169:24	2:20,21,23,24
overlook	25:7 71:1	pan 3:16 5:13	3:5,7,10,12,14
166:13	79:20 81:2	88:13,15,18,19	3:18,20,22,24
overlooked	107:9 114:3	95:20,22 96:12	4:5,7,8,9,10,13
168:23	166:10 171:1	96:13,16,20,23	participants
overly 112:21	173:16	97:4,7,10,21	31:19
overnight	<b>owned</b> 18:20	<b>panel</b> 128:3	participate
127:13	18:20 24:21	146:8	27:10 72:16
overreaching	36:2 37:4 40:7	<b>panels</b> 26:25 109:16	81:11,13 82:25
152:8	40:14,14,17	<b>pantries</b> 104:21	135:24
override	42:1 79:19	pantries 104.21 paper 139:24	participated
118:19	80:4 81:20		71:24
overrule 64:14	82:16 113:23	<b>paperwork</b> 107:25 150:15	participating
	113:24 144:3	107.43 130.13	177:13

participation	63:20 64:10,16	36:19 43:17	155:2 156:12
32:19 73:4,18	64:19 68:13	47:6 48:2,9,10	158:17 166:15
81:10 114:20	130:6,8 160:23	53:24 54:10,11	167:4 168:11
120:7 121:2	171:15 174:10	56:19 57:7,11	172:15,24
125:16 126:25	passing 63:23	58:7 59:8,11	175:4,6 177:14
particular 21:8	<b>past</b> 12:5 76:12	59:11,15 61:20	180:8,13,13,17
35:23 112:24	76:15 77:4	62:1 67:8,9,13	181:5,6,8
141:10	108:9 120:17	68:2,18 73:12	people's 57:17
particularly	120:23	75:15 78:6	60:7 102:3
18:9 21:19	patience 166:3	79:15 80:15	104:18 127:4
28:4 67:13	patient 164:7	85:8 88:8	128:9
70:5 73:22	patients 163:23	90:22 93:21	<b>peoples</b> 150:17
74:7 142:12	165:11	99:7,18 104:9	perceive 108:5
178:12	pauline 4:11	104:19 105:2	percent 16:17
parties 72:7	5:7 44:14	106:19 107:12	17:7,8,11,13,15
73:10,11,15	<b>pay</b> 81:2	107:13 114:22	17:18,20 28:18
76:25 183:11	103:15 141:18	114:25 123:4,5	28:19 29:5,6,7
183:14 184:8	142:1 181:7	123:11,12	30:22 39:19,20
184:11	<b>paying</b> 103:3	125:13 126:1	39:25 41:12
partners 103:2	payment 81:24	126:10 127:14	42:12 53:19,22
<b>parts</b> 59:9 60:5	82:20 83:13,25	128:15 129:6	55:15 59:19,20
106:13	83:25	130:14,15	60:9,10,11
<b>party</b> 41:11	payments 41:3	131:17 134:10	64:16,19 79:22
71:23 72:9,14	41:5 82:21	134:13,13,14	80:2,7,8,8,9,10
72:18 73:13,13	115:1	134:20 135:2,5	80:11 81:19
76:20 143:20	<b>pays</b> 115:4	135:7,18,24	110:24 114:21
<b>pass</b> 76:14 92:8	<b>pdf</b> 140:17	138:12,24	121:3,5,5,12
134:17 155:11	pedestrians	143:23 144:4	146:15,19
155:11 163:22	113:6	146:20,25	152:14
171:18 180:24	<b>pending</b> 143:11	147:2,6,10	percentage
passage 117:20	people 10:5	148:13,19,22	167:21
143:13 171:21	11:13 13:9	148:25 150:23	perception
<b>passed</b> 30:2,8	22:8,16 23:13	151:1,7,21	125:18,25
30:14,19 31:3	25:11 26:2	152:12,16	129:7,8,8,9
39:2 52:12	28:13 35:14	154:12,16,18	
L	1		1

perfectly 74:23	169:9	placing 128:2	135:11 158:1
perform 82:23	perspective	plain 170:23	162:1 164:2
82:24	40:25	plains 23:9	171:5 177:13
performance	perspectives	plan 52:17 53:6	180:23
28:16 30:19	109:21	53:14	pointed 46:3
31:2 32:8	pertained	plans 42:22	points 84:14
performers	144:22	47:3 174:25	139:14,23
167:23	pertaining 65:1	177:20	157:8,11
performing	143:17	platform 40:24	167:16
87:10	pertains 167:13	43:9 86:8,9	police 12:4
<b>period</b> 49:23	pest 102:6	<b>play</b> 21:18	107:24 108:8
67:23 112:24	<b>pet</b> 104:21	99:20 105:20	109:1 118:6,9
periodically	pets 104:20	played 46:11	132:12,18
50:1	<b>ph</b> 34:22	88:23	137:14,19,20
permanent	philadelphia	please 14:20	138:16 143:4
16:3	112:12	23:25 27:7	155:12 164:5
<b>perry</b> 3:18	philosophical	33:15 90:15	172:25
113:17,18	57:1	96:19 97:19	policies 18:2
115:17,22	photos 49:6	100:19 119:21	45:11 73:12
116:1,4	phrase 126:4	132:25 133:7	90:2 93:21
persist 25:7	physical 66:2	146:14,23	94:16,24
persists 16:10	picture 92:22	147:18 157:16	104:16
person 11:22	<b>pie</b> 82:5	169:19	policing 142:9
12:25 47:10	<b>piece</b> 62:2	pleased 54:2	policy 2:12
51:10,17 59:24	pipeline 81:9	pleasure 51:20	31:20,21 32:5
75:9,13,14	place 8:21	71:19 88:19	32:17 34:4
90:6 98:23	43:20,21 48:21	plenty 20:2	52:6 63:9 65:4
105:18 154:20	69:25 70:10	36:6	65:10 88:22
160:11 162:6	99:5 100:4	<b>plus</b> 166:20	93:24 110:16
168:21 179:19	103:5 137:24	pockets 99:16	116:15 118:17
personal 22:24	138:11 143:8	99:19	120:8
personally	147:11 150:20	<b>point</b> 20:4	policymaking
150:20	153:6 171:3	21:15,16 49:19	92:13
persons 98:24	<b>placed</b> 27:20	57:13 81:12	political 28:10
99:24 159:25	48:4 112:16	100:5 114:21	72:7 73:10,11

73:15 123:10	potential 90:10	preferences	25:24 34:14
politically	104:6	120:19	51:22 106:6,17
155:21 177:15	potentially	preliminary	106:19,24
<b>politician</b> 77:17	92:3	14:21 44:25	110:8 113:22
123:1	<b>poverty</b> 36:19	46:5 54:3	131:7,18
politicians	99:16,19	63:11 66:20	presidential
122:15 134:25	163:20	117:1 178:10	36:3
politics 52:22	<b>power</b> 36:11	<b>prepared</b> 24:23	presidents
71:19 72:13	66:16 95:9	134:2 184:3	92:11,19
142:18 158:8	96:9 97:3,9		press 171:22
158:16 159:6	107:17 118:18	preparing 166:11	pretend 117:23
<b>pollution</b> 92:17	124:9,10,13		_
<b>poor</b> 147:17	124.9,10,13	prescreening 112:5	<b>pretty</b> 88:1 119:4 122:25
•	131:7 135:1		
<b>poorly</b> 19:9 <b>pop</b> 102:20	144:9 154:15	<b>present</b> 6:23 7:15 13:13	prevent 120:20 previous 13:24
	155:13 156:15	14:17 48:25	38:20 80:16
popko 1:19	171:19	91:1 139:7	98:17 99:1
183:2,19			
population	<b>powers</b> 19:3	presenter 2:7	previously
16:17 17:7,8	95:6,14 96:1	2:10,13,16,19	87:11
83:17 104:15	104:12 143:4	3:4,13,17,19	primarily
131:22 166:13	practice 55:17	4:12,15,16	87:25 141:9
167:15 168:1	92:14 94:25	15:7 78:25	161:15
position 22:24	practiced	presenters	<b>primary</b> 35:16
66:19 71:24	162:21 163:3	42:19	76:19 94:16
positions 22:23	<b>practices</b> 45:11	presenting	120:20 121:2
<b>positive</b> 36:19	45:24 85:7	169:10	121:13,16
86:22 156:24	91:6	preservation	166:17
possible 44:21	practicing	108:25	<b>prime</b> 31:2
58:11 60:16	162:20 163:4	preserve 18:10	93:25
127:7 140:20	<b>preamble</b> 89:15	18:14 178:22	<b>prior</b> 27:18
post 76:12,15	89:16,19 90:1	preserver 18:8	49:25 94:19
77:4 143:8	90:12,15	preserving	183:5
163:16	167:15 179:21	45:13,20	priorities 55:14
<b>posted</b> 150:21	precedent	president 6:10	94:21
	118:25	7:11 10:9	

nuionity 16.1	109:20 111:24	166:9	project 42.21
priority 16:1			<b>project</b> 42:21 81:9 114:12
<b>private</b> 16:14	112:3,20 117:2	professionals	
17:4,17 18:3	117:22 118:23	67:11 68:23	177:9
40:8 48:1	119:2 126:23	167:23	promising
privilege 51:19	147:16 154:15	profile 137:15	120:24
106:5	154:18 155:10	<b>program</b> 24:22	<b>promote</b> 18:25
privileges	155:14,16,20	36:10 41:15	19:7 25:10
19:25	155:22 156:6	45:6 53:18	87:2
probably 6:9	156:14 171:16	79:19 86:14,19	promoting
105:18	172:1 177:12	86:24 88:2,4	32:14
probation	177:15 178:4	108:19 110:17	pronounced
143:2	178:15,21	111:15 112:11	88:14
problem 21:10	180:16,18	112:19,23	pronouncing
25:6,14 73:3	processed	113:25 114:1	62:22
102:10 103:14	46:19 48:1	114:13,14	<b>proper</b> 180:14
141:22	49:3,4	115:10,12,14	180:15 181:6
problems 44:2	processes 63:23	127:5 128:10	properly 45:22
44:4 66:7	processing 47:3	135:11 142:9	177:12
91:19	48:11 49:6	142:10	property
procedures	procured 79:25	programming	143:18,19,22
46:21 48:18	procurement	42:4	144:15 180:25
proceeding	21:6 30:18	programs 30:7	proposal 44:24
184:4	31:1,19 32:14	31:14 35:25	46:6 47:9 54:4
proceedings	80:17 85:7	36:2 39:4 52:9	54:15 55:12
139:3 183:3,4	87:1 144:22	52:9 53:2,5	63:13,18 66:3
183:6,8 184:6	160:17 161:16	54:1 90:3	70:4 71:20
process 30:17	produce 16:6	108:24 112:2,9	79:10
31:20,24 36:24	52:24 53:1	112:12,15	proposals
46:22 47:21	68:12 72:9	114:9,22 135:4	50:22 51:16
53:10 65:14	produced 66:5	135:15,18	52:1,3 66:20
66:5,11,17	66:8 127:5	138:8	119:6 137:11
67:16,17 68:1	product 86:5	progressive	propose 95:9
68:25 72:2	115:9	74:7 81:9	130:17 168:23
80:17 82:14	professional	104:14	proposed 29:23
86:11,25 87:3	45:23 138:3		55:3 86:7
·			

			1
89:17,18 111:1	providers	70:1,1,4,4 82:1	purposes 22:21
120:16 178:14	110:19	82:2,5 83:11	23:6 54:18
proposing	<b>provides</b> 61:22	83:19 84:24	137:22 153:24
53:16	89:21 116:20	85:1,1 88:19	pursuing 86:15
<b>pros</b> 130:12,13	167:2	89:2 92:20	<b>purview</b> 108:16
prospective	providing	93:1 95:10	<b>push</b> 97:13
39:8	45:11,20 63:10	104:2 106:20	98:8
<b>prosper</b> 179:24	112:4	107:21 108:1,4	<b>pushed</b> 147:12
prosperity	<b>provision</b> 130:6	108:10 112:22	pushing 29:17
36:16 87:14	provisioned	117:2,12,15	<b>put</b> 30:12 38:19
prosperous	83:10	118:11 119:5	43:20 64:21
87:3	provisions 85:5	120:7 121:15	67:3 76:6 78:7
protect 54:18	prudence 55:2	122:18,20	89:17 100:4
72:10 92:16,25	<b>ps</b> 108:22 160:9	124:8,10,10,12	102:23 103:1
protected	psychiatry	125:24 127:16	106:17 137:11
54:23	165:10	131:9 132:9,24	137:23 141:8
protecting	<b>public</b> 2:3,5,6	137:4 141:10	145:3 147:8
55:10 142:24	2:11,14,15,17	142:8,15,17,21	148:8 149:8,11
154:16 174:20	2:20,21,23,24	142:23,23,24	150:21 153:14
protection	3:5,7,10,12,14	142:24 143:23	157:11 160:14
35:24 36:9	3:18,20,22,24	143:24 144:18	172:1,10 173:6
protects 10:9	4:5,7,8,9,10,13	144:21 155:17	174:9
105:10 178:19	6:2,12 7:2 14:8	156:4,18	<b>puts</b> 55:16
<b>proud</b> 8:12 9:2	14:13,15 15:2	171:22 173:17	<b>putting</b> 33:16
157:2 171:23	28:8 44:21	174:11 177:13	115:11 139:2
<b>proven</b> 103:10	52:20 60:6,7	177:22,25	141:21 146:14
128:10	61:11 62:13	178:4,9 183:20	q
provide 16:3	63:14,16,17,23	<b>public's</b> 57:18	qualified 72:22
18:23 30:18	64:3,4,6,7,10	144:24 178:22	135:23 163:10
45:1 55:22	64:11,12,13,17	puerto 114:6	183:7
57:16 90:20	64:18,21,23,24	115:1,6	qualifies 65:2
104:17	65:1,2,7,9,13	<b>puppies</b> 103:16	qualify 31:12
provided 18:24	65:17 67:2	purpose 19:2	144:6
20:23 80:23	68:21 69:9,9	118:13 157:4,9	qualifying 67:2
98:17	69:12,13,19,21		quantynig 07.2

	1		
quality 162:25	156:22 165:19	151:1 163:2	70:23 89:15
165:10	165:20 170:11	177:6	96:22 141:7
<b>queen</b> 26:10	175:23 177:21	<b>raises</b> 30:13	167:7,14
queens 9:15	179:5	raising 8:22	reading 23:4
13:18 104:2	<b>quick</b> 75:18	23:22 100:20	100:23 179:17
125:9 129:18	95:5	134:7 156:12	<b>ready</b> 68:12
149:3,4	quickly 94:10	160:25 161:16	149:16
question 19:16	95:22 109:7	<b>rallies</b> 171:12	<b>reagan</b> 92:12
21:24 23:13	142:22 178:5	ramarley 154:7	93:8
24:14 25:2	<b>quite</b> 46:2 75:9	<b>ran</b> 75:11	real 7:24 48:21
42:18 47:16	75:14 99:25	114:2	75:18 83:14
49:21 57:1	160:7	<b>random</b> 126:18	132:10 143:18
67:7 94:13	<b>quo</b> 104:15	126:24	143:19
96:24 123:22	quorum 6:16	randomly	realistically
123:23 124:1	6:19 13:13	128:3,17	127:7
127:20 129:1,2	<b>quote</b> 111:6	rangel 26:1	reality 95:1
147:19 162:3	quoted 70:3	ranked 73:19	realize 168:13
questions 13:1	r	74:5 75:2,7,12	realized 54:24
19:18 33:20,22	r 2:1 3:1 4:1 6:1	75:21 78:7,13	realizing 138:8
34:7,8,9 37:7	128:22 157:18	120:3,12 121:6	really 7:7 20:10
37:12,15 42:16	rabbi 4:6 6:15	145:2	25:14 35:12,12
43:10 44:8	race 36:3 54:7	rarely 32:20	36:23,25 43:16
47:14 51:1	121:2	58:1	46:2 53:20,25
56:1 60:19	races 167:19	rather 65:24	54:20 58:1,2,8
66:22 70:12,20	racial 3:16	73:18 84:15	59:7 67:24,24
83:21 85:12	24:11 88:21	111:7 174:1	67:24 68:16
87:16 93:4,25	91:8 94:1	rcv 120:15,18	84:16 93:25
93:25 97:17	118:2	121:18,21	99:3,22 107:3
110:4,5 113:14	rainy 54:17,22	rcv's 121:14	114:25 131:13
113:14,15	54:24 55:5,9	reach 70:1	131:19 133:17
115:15,18	raise 72:21	reached 121:3	137:7 138:16
116:6 119:14	141:10,11	121:12	146:17 147:1
119:14 122:5	161:6	reaction 178:17	147:16 150:4
128:24 133:3,5	raised 9:15	<b>read</b> 10:15	152:4,10 155:4
133:6 145:14	133:25 150:23	33:15 48:16	164:15 165:11
	133.43 130.43		

[really - rein] Page 51

181:2	recommend	47:25 49:14,18	regard 16:1
reason 17:22	52:24 54:16	50:2,6 114:17	41:1,14
32:24 68:5	66:11 91:22	recouped	regarding
70:3 93:15	110:21 112:20	111:12	82:12 141:8
95:15 119:6	136:2,3	<b>reduce</b> 112:15	160:16
149:8 172:8	recommendat	113:7	regardless
reasonable	18:22,23 25:3	reduced 183:6	69:25
167:3	25:16 120:2	reducing	regards 38:22
reasons 84:3	recommendat	103:18	42:19 66:1
98:6	14:17,23 25:4	reference 79:10	126:8 136:24
rebound 28:3	51:24 55:24	167:9	137:3,21,24
recall 75:17,20	57:15 81:8	referring 50:5	<b>regina</b> 149:21
<b>receive</b> 64:6,12	91:21,24 108:8	refined 51:12	149:21,22
122:23	144:17	51:15	region 43:3
received 64:3	recommended	refinement	79:13
103:23 161:17	47:8 65:14	51:23	regional 180:22
<b>recent</b> 16:14	82:10 144:20	reflect 122:15	registered
17:5 88:20	recommends	122:25 164:6	31:10,23 32:3
92:24 121:4	144:18	reflecting	regularly 62:3
recently 35:16	recommit	167:19	regulate 57:10
73:19 90:21	178:18	reflective 99:23	57:10 92:20
recession 54:19	reconsider	177:16	regulated
reciprocity	178:20	reflects 102:7	17:18,21
31:5	reconstruction	178:21	regulations
recognize 6:7	90:8	reform 74:6	144:9
27:5,8 28:14	<b>record</b> 28:10	81:5,24 82:20	regulatory
156:18	45:11,23 69:18	83:13,25	93:18
recognized	183:9 184:5	126:24 127:8	regurgitated
95:7 99:19	recorded 183:6	reformers	28:15
167:5,12	recording	73:23	regurgitation
recognizes	183:8 184:4	reforms 65:14	138:20
168:17	records 4:11	74:10 81:6	<b>rein</b> 3:19 5:8
recognizing	44:15 45:8,13	121:25	51:5,6,9,12,15
166:25	45:15,21,22	<b>refuse</b> 144:11	51:21 56:5,8
	46:9,18,23		56:13,21 57:9

[rein - resident] Page 52

58:15,18 59:3	renee 149:21	132:22 139:12	90:1
59:13,18 60:18	renewed 99:1	140:16 141:7	republicans
61:3,6,9 62:7,9	rent 17:21 18:7	144:3 153:13	121:6
62:18	110:23 111:11		
		165:4,16	request 160:20
reinforce 120:2	112:14,17	178:10	requests
reinforces	153:8 180:25	report's 120:2	146:12
143:25	rental 17:17	reported 1:19	require 53:17
reintroduced	110:24 111:22	22:11 118:2	54:16 66:4
117:10	rentals 152:15	reporting	166:18 167:23
related 63:15	152:15	21:10,11 39:24	required 55:13
63:23 171:19	rents 18:4 22:7	107:22	111:8 121:21
183:11 184:7	repeal 174:8,14	<b>reports</b> 103:24	requirement
relations	175:3	145:6 169:11	58:9 64:25
171:22	repealed	represent	144:19
relationship	174:21	15:20 35:16	requirements
112:3	repealing	39:19,20 79:13	63:14 66:2
relative 22:2	169:22 170:6	84:21 110:18	94:23
60:13 183:13	175:2	125:10 131:17	requires 54:5
184:10	repeated 80:20	154:17,20,21	65:5 81:14
religions	repeating 92:3	representation	requiring 55:3
167:19	replace 101:25	109:18 131:21	92:6
reluctant 72:16	replaced	131:22,24	rescue 103:2
relying 33:8	126:22	132:2 150:17	<b>rescues</b> 102:19
remain 72:3	<b>report</b> 14:21	representative	103:3
81:8	16:15 17:5	60:2 106:19,24	research 1:11
remarks 134:2	22:14 28:15,18	109:16,20	14:2 27:3 46:9
remedial	28:21 29:2,7	representatives	68:19 88:24
117:22	44:25 46:1,5	14:16	121:20 127:1
remedy 90:7	47:3 54:3	represented	133:20
reminder 67:22	61:13 63:11	106:25	researching
removed 46:18	66:20 91:9,20	representing	166:11
removing	92:6 100:9,18	28:7 106:12	resident 54:4
144:18,21,24	101:6 103:23	121:3 177:2	58:5 133:25
renamed 142:9	110:9 117:1,7	represents	166:8
	124:23,25,25	79:22 80:11	
	, -, -		

[residents - rise] Page 53

.1	. 40.2	100 0 114 7	1 4 1 20 10
residents 9:9	responsive 48:2	109:8 114:7	rhetoric 28:10
26:22 27:12	58:7 59:7,14	141:11 160:14	138:6
resides 179:19	61:23 62:15	revenues 52:8	<b>rico</b> 114:6
resolve 94:1	67:14	53:18 111:5	115:2,6
resolved 112:7	rest 170:2	reversing	<b>rigged</b> 156:6
resources 16:9	restaurant	121:25	171:25
38:19 112:4,8	59:25	<b>review</b> 46:16	<b>right</b> 16:12
179:23	restrict 18:2	47:2 48:8,10	20:20,21 21:23
respect 144:11	restrictions	91:23 96:13	23:21 24:18
173:25	48:4	109:18 130:5	34:3 37:20,21
respected	restructure	177:17	38:2 49:8 57:6
178:16	180:20	reviewed 91:9	59:8,17 62:3
respectfully	restructured	98:11	68:4 73:14
55:7	180:10 181:4	reviewing 47:7	75:8,11 85:4,8
respective	<b>result</b> 32:10	revise 124:9	93:6 101:11
39:10 143:12	73:6 113:25	revised 180:6	102:14 107:6
respond 60:15	114:9 121:18	revision 6:3	113:19 127:17
61:10 70:8,9	resulted 121:1	13:8,9,15 14:5	129:18 130:23
116:25 180:11	resulting 86:22	15:25 18:1	137:2 138:6,10
responding	results 74:9	29:18 52:20	138:12 140:18
94:10	retired 136:2	63:7 67:17	141:21 142:14
response	158:9	71:15 88:21	143:12 145:11
125:22	retiring 26:12	91:12 96:7	146:10,20
responses	retrieve 49:18	111:14 120:17	147:23 154:2
31:18	<b>return</b> 143:8	122:19 154:15	160:10 161:1
responsibilities	returned 50:6	155:20,23	162:6 163:6
144:14	89:5	156:9 169:23	172:14 174:3,7
responsibility	returning	175:5 177:9	181:16
15:25 32:1	157:3	178:1	<b>rights</b> 79:15
141:9	rev 2:8 6:9	revisions 10:2	91:7 130:20,21
responsible	revamping	110:22 113:11	131:1 177:2
36:8 45:9	65:20	revisit 178:8	rigorous
60:23,25 67:8	reveals 64:3	revived 118:5	155:16 156:6
111:11	revenue 28:20	rewrite 118:23	rise 154:24
	55:16 104:6		

<b>rising</b> 36:22	royal 3:24	S	satisfaction
<b>risk</b> 73:15	159:21,23	s 2:1 3:1 4:1 5:1	60:8
102:23	160:3,5 161:14	6:1 128:22	satisfied 40:10
roberts 3:20	161:22 162:8	<b>s.a.v.e.</b> 163:7	<b>save</b> 103:2
92:25 110:13	<b>rubbish</b> 144:12	sacred 95:24	113:4
110:14,16	<b>ruben</b> 2:9 6:11	safe 43:19	savino 3:25
<b>robust</b> 30:17	7:10 10:19	108:5,5 112:25	109:23 140:6
134:9	rubric 90:12	155:3	175:6
rocks 8:7	<b>rudy</b> 46:18	<b>safety</b> 14:13	saw 25:3 51:7
<b>role</b> 21:18	rulebook	36:9 60:6,8,9	82:5
46:11 88:23	118:24	63:16,23 64:3	<b>saying</b> 60:22
105:20 142:12	rules 55:5	64:6,10,12,13	86:3 99:10
178:11	63:25 65:15,23	64:17,21,24	106:14 129:8
<b>room</b> 26:21	66:12 118:24	65:1,2,9 70:4	148:19 158:5
72:4 134:12	137:23 138:22	95:11 107:21	says 17:24
146:24 148:6	138:24	108:1,10 117:3	40:20 176:2
<b>rooms</b> 146:13	<b>ruling</b> 117:23	117:15 118:11	sca 113:25
<b>root</b> 102:9	<b>run</b> 36:10 73:6	119:5 132:9,24	scale 127:12
rose 3:21 6:13	135:7	137:4 141:10	scarborough
10:21,22,24,24	running 22:9	142:8,23 143:1	23:16
56:23,24,25	73:16 86:12	143:23 155:4	schedule 48:19
76:2,5,10,15,18	98:13,24	156:18 178:9	scheduled
77:16	159:10	<b>sal</b> 106:25	156:2 172:4
rosenthal 3:22	<b>runoff</b> 120:21	sales 141:12,18	schomburg
119:23,24,25	121:11,14,16	<b>sam</b> 100:19	1:11 14:2 27:3
round 121:12	rush 156:5	sample 60:2	51:19 56:12
rowe 3:23 6:13	172:9	samuel 87:23	78:17
8:2,4,6,11	rushed 67:18	<b>san</b> 77:9	school 29:9
25:21 37:14	116:18 117:24	sanctuary	86:15 87:25
69:5 129:1,4	155:20,23	169:22 170:6	114:9 134:6
129:10 133:16	171:5,16 172:3	174:14,19	136:5,5 143:1
147:3,19,22,23	177:15 178:20	175:3	160:18
148:1,18 149:4	<b>ryan</b> 163:4,5,9	sanitation	schools 33:6
150:5 160:6		14:13 52:15	<b>science</b> 123:10
		136:11 143:2	

• 4.4	02.12.06.2.0	1 4 1 100 4	107.0
scissura 4:4	93:12 96:2,9	<b>selected</b> 128:4	sentence 105:9
12:3	101:21 109:7	128:17	sentences
<b>scope</b> 111:3	109:22 123:2	selection	156:10
<b>score</b> 135:10	124:12,15,19	126:19	sentient 105:17
scott 102:8	128:12,13,14	<b>sell</b> 180:4	separate 63:25
scratched 87:7	134:9,22 135:4	<b>selling</b> 143:19	90:22 118:11
seabrooks 4:3	135:6 137:23	<b>sen</b> 24:14 27:6	144:5
6:15	138:5 139:15	<b>senate</b> 17:23	sergeant
sean 4:6 6:15	143:25 147:9	30:3	162:12,12
seasonal 180:7	148:2,10	senator 2:7	seriously 91:11
<b>seat</b> 76:7	150:16,19	15:7,8,8,12,19	92:2
154:13	155:1 157:11	19:19 21:13	seriousness
second 7:24	164:20,21	22:19 23:2	96:8
10:11,12,13	167:9	25:18,20 34:21	servant 28:9
11:22 13:7,19	seeing 24:17	99:10 122:24	servants 6:12
13:20 46:16	57:19,20 92:20	124:24	61:12
53:12 64:24	seekers 27:23	<b>send</b> 59:5 96:16	<b>serve</b> 72:23
90:5,16 95:4	33:7	107:7 110:10	89:22 90:15
108:13 121:9	seeking 31:17	118:21 124:23	106:5 130:20
121:23 176:24	seem 45:3	140:2 161:4	<b>served</b> 13:7,9
181:23	75:14	<b>sending</b> 119:16	26:11,13 88:22
seconds 6:17	<b>seemed</b> 156:11	119:19	89:7
146:5	171:25	<b>senior</b> 143:18	<b>serves</b> 46:14
section 46:4	seemingly	150:7 151:12	<b>service</b> 7:2 10:8
124:14 167:12	178:6	seniors 86:14	16:15 17:5
sector 40:8	seems 124:18	143:21 150:7,9	51:18 55:15,23
securing 96:3	144:21,23	150:10,12,15	56:21,22 60:6
see 11:1 19:21	146:16 151:1	151:7,13	61:14 62:19
24:19 25:17	156:13 171:17	sense 18:15	services 4:12
34:4 51:17	177:13 181:1	57:3 73:11,12	18:24 44:16
52:25 55:20,20	seen 120:24	92:14	45:9 54:22
55:21 56:3,7	134:12 150:10	senselessly	59:9 61:24
60:12 69:16	150:18	105:21	80:1,22 93:22
75:22,23,24,24	sees 23:2	sent 48:20	95:16 98:17
76:5 77:16,19		124:24	102:6 104:8

144:20 166:19	103:14,21	<b>shut</b> 39:7	<b>sinai</b> 164:10,21
166:24	103.14,21	shut 39.7 shutting 33:5	single 7:19
	shelters 102:17	sick 103:5	27:17
<b>serving</b> 6:5 10:11 13:8		152:18	
	102:19,25		singled 65:9
88:20	103:7 104:20	side 15:23	sir 76:5 77:18
session 7:14	shifting 21:19	52:11 92:10	128:5 159:2,4
39:2 177:20	shock 96:10	93:12 97:15,15	sisitzky 4:5
sessions 125:15	shocked 82:7	106:13	116:8,9,11,13
set 48:19 72:8	171:4	sidewalks	116:14 119:16
73:14 111:8	shooting	144:10,15	119:19
118:25 130:8	138:11 171:1	<b>sign</b> 100:14	<b>sit</b> 16:19 84:7
sets 130:15	shootings	166:9 168:10	102:21 164:19
settlements	137:17	signature 30:5	<b>site</b> 148:3
109:18	<b>short</b> 12:6	31:13 183:18	sitting 15:9
seven 51:23	54:19 73:10,11	184:14	76:8 163:24
65:18 129:15	152:14	signed 30:3	175:10
136:15 146:11	shortchange	significance	situation 36:4
155:23	103:21	33:16 54:13	99:15 173:23
seventies	shortchanged	76:23,25	situations 99:4
164:17	34:1	significant 54:7	six 80:21
several 32:14	shortest 116:18	77:2 87:6	150:10 154:9
91:20	<b>shot</b> 111:21	89:13 112:15	sizable 111:19
shackle 92:5	170:24,25	113:7 155:17	skewed 23:23
shackling 93:8	should've	silence 154:18	<b>skills</b> 32:16
<b>sham</b> 172:10	69:17	<b>silos</b> 84:7	130:15 183:10
shaping 46:11	shoulders	similar 64:4	184:6
<b>share</b> 17:12,13	27:20	103:23 164:20	skip 68:25 69:2
17:16 71:19	<b>shout</b> 175:19	simple 40:1	<b>slice</b> 58:2
76:11 89:11	<b>show</b> 55:2	84:15	slightly 76:6
<b>shared</b> 62:10	126:3,11	simplest 80:9	slipped 17:18
62:12,13 72:8	134:20	<b>simply</b> 55:16	<b>slow</b> 80:17
156:3	<b>shown</b> 16:4	64:21 103:12	<b>slowly</b> 117:5
sharing 82:11	shows 58:25	118:23 132:10	<b>small</b> 98:18,23
<b>shelter</b> 101:23	70:2 164:4	167:24 168:12	127:12 135:5
102:2 103:4,5			135:11 153:4

[small - spoke] Page 57

	1	1	1
168:11	<b>sorry</b> 17:16	161:24 162:1	<b>speaks</b> 125:12
smaller 46:7	22:20 60:20	171:11 172:16	162:25 177:11
48:23	75:18,19 78:2	176:23 177:1	177:18
<b>smooth</b> 95:18	87:21,21	speaker 6:18	special 88:23
<b>social</b> 7:15 82:2	127:23 145:25	6:21 11:23	118:10 130:1
105:9 132:13	151:6,15 154:3	16:23,25 23:1	specialist
132:18 134:18	154:17 155:8	23:17 26:14	163:12
138:7 163:19	155:25 156:4,9	34:24,25 35:4	specializes
165:9	164:24 170:17	38:4 50:25	138:9
society 16:15	176:7	70:16 71:2,7	specialty 112:6
17:6 156:24	<b>sort</b> 109:22,25	74:14 77:12,25	specific 19:22
socioeconomic	125:18,19	78:23 87:17	162:24
167:20	126:14,16,17	98:15 116:8	specifically
sociology	127:13,25	119:23 122:11	50:5 53:16
158:13	sortition 126:2	125:4 126:5,8	79:14 80:19
<b>sole</b> 132:1	126:7,13 127:4	128:19 129:21	122:17 124:8
solitary 70:6	127:24 128:17	136:25 141:1	127:3
solution 126:2	sorts 125:14,14	145:19 149:3	<b>spell</b> 128:19,21
141:21	125:20	159:22 160:2	143:4 144:4
solutions 44:2	<b>sought</b> 31:16	162:14 165:17	spelling 128:21
44:5 104:19	97:12	170:9,13	spend 80:2
<b>solve</b> 91:18	sounding 46:14	172:17 174:11	82:3,6 84:19
somebody	<b>source</b> 61:23	175:22 176:5	111:18 155:18
123:15 150:14	91:3 141:14	179:5 181:15	spending 9:1
somebody's	southern 60:11	speakers 8:3,5	39:19,20 52:8
23:14	<b>space</b> 27:4 99:5	8:9 12:24	53:18 59:17,19
someone's	102:18 104:21	13:22 71:11	93:21
152:23	<b>spaces</b> 153:7	129:19 170:12	<b>spent</b> 41:22
somewhat 45:3	spaying 104:7	170:19 173:12	80:1,6 81:17
130:11	<b>speak</b> 16:18	181:23	166:10
<b>son</b> 71:14	38:9 71:22	speaking 89:10	spinning 28:11
170:21 171:9	85:24 98:3	105:19 135:16	spiraled 105:1
171:13	122:18 130:4	137:7 160:11	<b>spoke</b> 91:12
soon 37:3 49:7	130:24 133:14	171:7 172:12	135:5
90:9 140:20	135:8 136:25		

1.004		40.00.07	
spoken 168:4	<b>start</b> 6:25	staten 10:23,25	<b>stock</b> 17:17
spread 8:20	55:10,14 86:13	13:17 68:6	<b>stolen</b> 143:22
springer 95:13	102:23 106:14	78:18 100:23	stop 17:2,24,25
<b>spur</b> 65:1	136:4,16 159:8	106:24 114:12	18:7 59:23
112:20	159:14 173:24	114:14,19	94:14 117:23
<b>spurred</b> 111:25	181:5	149:1	118:1 138:24
<b>sr</b> 123:14	started 13:3	states 67:1	154:22,24
st 134:4 154:6	86:6,13 87:22	92:23 112:1	171:10 172:25
stability 52:4	114:4,6	179:18	174:23 175:2
94:7	starting 114:4	statistic 85:16	<b>stops</b> 70:5
stabilized	<b>starts</b> 112:4	statistical	117:6 118:4
86:22 110:23	146:18	54:13 60:14	138:19 155:8
111:11 181:1	<b>state</b> 3:3 15:19	statistically	155:15 171:6,8
<b>stable</b> 86:25	17:24 19:19	54:7	171:11 172:13
<b>stack</b> 99:11	22:4,5,12 24:6	<b>status</b> 104:14	174:8 175:3
<b>staff</b> 14:22 21:1	29:24,25 31:7	141:17 169:23	storage 100:2
44:25 46:5	31:8,11,11	170:7	storefront
83:3 88:20	32:15 34:20	<b>stay</b> 77:6	135:13
91:23 96:19	39:3,17 41:6	152:19	storefronts
97:19 105:13	42:4 53:23	staying 88:11	135:11
108:22 113:8	79:1,9 102:16	steadily 92:24	<b>stores</b> 180:4
120:2 140:5	103:7 122:24	<b>steady</b> 131:22	stories 80:21
153:17 162:1	171:20 183:21	<b>step</b> 34:3 73:23	<b>story</b> 87:23
staffing 91:15	<b>stated</b> 90:13	161:1	strain 80:25
112:16	91:21 95:13	stephanie 3:11	streamlining
<b>stage</b> 19:3	98:7 130:19	6:14 25:2 69:8	81:9
<b>stages</b> 112:19	statement 53:2	130:2	<b>street</b> 59:24
<b>stand</b> 38:6 73:8	84:11 96:15	stephanie's	163:6,22
85:2 89:6	97:19 111:3,4	11:3	164:11 170:22
standing 93:23	111:7 115:20	<b>steps</b> 80:14	180:13
<b>stands</b> 138:1	115:23 154:19	stewardship	<b>streets</b> 134:20
stanwicz 4:6	statements	55:6	144:14
6:15	52:16,24 53:4	<b>stick</b> 101:7	strengthen
<b>star</b> 72:17	57:20 108:14	146:4	90:18
	111:2		

strengthened	<b>stuff</b> 44:3 100:4	sufficient 117:8	supported
142:13	132:24	sufficiently	24:17
stress 102:22	subject 63:25	102:12	supporting
103:18	79:23	suggest 47:2	105:16 137:18
	submit 55:7	91:10	
stretching 27:25 109:11	115:24 116:1		supports 17:3
strides 87:7	133:7 144:15	suggesting 142:12	<b>supposed</b> 91:17 154:20 180:23
stringer 102:8	145:1,8,18	suggestion	180:24
stringer 102.8 strong 65:12	153:13 157:7	89:14 90:16	
72:23 95:7	168:24 179:4	108:7 144:18	supposedly 117:7
stronger 35:24	submitted 15:4	170:2	
stronger 33.24 strongly 18:22	44:22 51:24		<b>supreme</b> 92:23 <b>sure</b> 7:1 8:16
52:2 91:22	submitting	<b>suggestions</b> 7:7	10:3 19:5
113:10 121:25	70:22	63:12 89:13	21:21 24:3
structural	subsidize 104:7	91:25 116:25	37:22 39:16
91:14,18 92:4	substance	162:23	41:23 42:4,13
102:10	52:21	summarize	58:3,9,13
structure 55:9	subtle 92:10	44:23	67:15 74:17
88:25 109:19	subway 59:25	summary 14:21	97:2 98:14
struggle 18:12	subway 39.23 subways 155:3	summation summation	99:4 133:17
studgie 18.12 stubborn 25:6	succeeded	83:6	153:20 157:15
25:14	120:16	summer 34:11	159:9,19
student 20:14	succeeding	sunshine 53:14	162:24
20:15 154:6	112:9	super 9:8,12	surely 69:1
students 20:17	success 28:1	support 18:22	surface 87:8
164:14 165:8	40:5 74:9	21:1 24:2,20	surprise 163:13
studies 121:19	81:23 83:11	25:5,9,15	survey 54:4,5
127:1 158:14	successful	35:22 37:1	54:13 58:5,25
study 16:4,4	31:14 32:15,17	42:7 45:16	59:3,4,6 60:13
25:5,6 55:7,12	38:25 115:13	66:3 98:5,18	60:22,23
63:12 74:5	120:11	99:9 111:1	surveys 58:22
90:10 94:24	successfully	115:13 144:12	60:25 61:2
studying 19:1	41:8	144:24 159:11	susan 4:7 176:1
165:9	succinct 160:7	174:7	176:2,2,3,4,7
			176:2,2,3,1,7

[susan - terms] Page 60

176:23 177:1	tactics 174:10	talked 24:7	tech 87:22
179:2	tajiddin 4:8	38:18	technology
sustain 81:3	140:16 141:4	talking 32:21	40:21,23 41:6
sweep 180:12	145:8,11,13,20	119:1,3 143:23	41:9 42:20,25
sweepings	145:22	talks 107:22	43:4,9 45:17
144:11	take 7:21 18:6	<b>tandem</b> 71:15	<b>teeth</b> 30:25
<b>sworn</b> 183:5	23:7,10,13	target 61:24	television 82:2
sylvia 2:23	38:6 39:11	targeted 30:9	tell 7:23 10:14
149:25	47:25 50:1	57:15 58:3,9	28:11 29:15
synonymous	53:7 66:19	targets 83:16	34:22 54:9
160:12	68:1 71:7,8	task 7:25 66:16	59:11,12,15,23
synthesizing	91:11 98:20	67:14 81:5	61:16 87:19
89:1	107:18 108:14	82:10	114:22 117:4
<b>system</b> 43:20	117:6 135:20	tasked 32:8	123:16 148:12
43:21 72:3	143:8 157:10	tasks 27:21	148:22
73:23,25 75:5	169:21 173:4,4	tax 53:18 55:15	telling 61:20
82:8 87:1 95:7	173:5 181:9	141:11,12,12	169:24
98:10 99:12,13	<b>taken</b> 10:6	141:18,18	ten 67:23 79:17
107:2 116:21	23:14 40:22	taxes 142:1,3	146:10,20
119:7 120:14	52:10 80:14	181:7	163:22 168:17
120:22 121:8	88:3 92:1	taxpayer 39:12	tenant 112:3
121:14,19	164:3 183:3,12	41:20,22 58:24	146:9 159:13
122:1 125:15	184:9	taxpayers	tenants 111:18
126:16,21	takes 16:6 64:6	121:9	112:13
136:5	64:7,8 69:25	<b>taylor</b> 4:9,10	<b>term</b> 12:6
systems 65:20	134:17 136:11	133:9,10,13	33:10 54:19
81:7 83:8	175:8	136:8,17	55:13 65:16
t	talents 90:5	162:13,13,16	127:24 130:7,9
t 5:1,1 128:22	talk 24:9 37:19	162:19,20	130:13 139:2
128:22	37:20 60:1	164:24 165:1,5	152:14
<b>t.l.</b> 71:1	108:13 109:6	165:7,14	terms 7:21 19:9
table 43:14	110:1 121:21	<b>tcrb</b> 108:6	21:5 47:24
118:16	150:11 151:20	team 12:14	80:9 81:10
tackle 12:8	172:24	156:9	99:21 131:1,14
12.0			131:25 134:22

[test - thing] Page 61

tested       74:11       21:13,14,23       88:14 97:16,21       158         testified       68:2       22:19 23:1,21       97:23 98:1,2       159         71:13 74:18,20       24:13,14,15       100:7,8 101:7       162	2:5,6,12,14 3:24,24 2:15 162:8,9 2:10 165:6 3:13,14,16 3:17,21 5:3,4 168:19
testified       68:2       22:19 23:1,21       97:23 98:1,2       159         71:13 74:18,20       24:13,14,15       100:7,8 101:7       162	2:15 162:8,9 2:10 165:6 3:13,14,16 3:17,21
71:13 74:18,20   24:13,14,15   100:7,8 101:7   162	2:10 165:6 5:13,14,16 5:17,21
	5:13,14,16 5:17,21
117:11 123:3   25:1,1,18,19,21   101:13,14,20   165	5:17,21
	•
	5:3.4 168:19
testify 44:20   26:17,20,25   105:12,22,23   166	,. 100.15
63:10 69:9,11 27:1,9,15 105:24 106:4,9 169	:10,11,24
69:13,18,23 33:19 34:5,10 110:2,6,7,12,14 170	0:7,9,10
71:15 84:4 34:19,20,21 113:11,13 172	2:16,17,18
85:23 101:6 35:8,9,9,10,14 115:14,16,17 172	2:18 173:8
120:9 122:2 37:6,10,11,13 116:4,5,13 175	5:16,19,20
<b>testifying</b> 79:9   37:18,23,25   119:12,13,17   175	5:21,22,25
86:2 124:5 38:1,2,4 42:15 119:21,24 176	5:24,25
183:5 43:11,12 44:6 122:1,6,8 178	3:25 179:2,4
<b>testimonies</b> 44:9,10,11,18 123:7,21 124:2 179	9:6,10
105:16 44:19 49:8,9 124:17,20,21 181	:11,13,14
<b>testimony</b> 49:11,20 50:8 125:1 127:18 181	:15
12:23 20:7 50:23,24,25 127:19 128:23 <b>thanl</b>	ks 56:5,8,8
38:13 43:12 51:2,3,13,18 129:10,12 130	):1 160:9
44:22 47:10 55:19,20,24,25 130:1,3 133:1 165	5:21
51:24 66:25 56:10,11,20 133:4,7,13,16 <b>thea</b>	1:19 183:2
67:1 68:7 78:5   58:14 60:17,18   135:25 136:1   183	3:19
78:15 84:11 62:16,18 63:1 136:17,18 <b>theor</b>	<b>y</b> 74:21
119:20 120:17   63:3,9 66:21   140:5,18,23,23   75:3	21
122:16,23,23 66:24 68:20 140:24 141:5 <b>thin</b>	181:2
141:8 157:7 69:3,5,24 145:12,13,16 <b>thing</b>	13:3 41:4
158:16 166:5 70:14,17,21,23 145:17,21 41::	5 69:20
166:11 173:8 70:24 74:12,13 146:3,6,7 82:	21 85:4
thank 7:13 8:16 74:14,25 77:18 147:18 148:17 107	':6 108:24
8:25 9:4 10:4 77:18,23 78:4 149:13,15,18 109	122:22
11:2,10,19 78:15,16,22,23 149:18 151:4,5 134	:1,8,8
12:12,13,16 83:19,20,22 151:9,11,13 150	):22 158:4,7
13:4,5 14:1 84:13 85:11,14 153:9,18,19 173	3:20 174:13
15:13,13,15,15 85:16,17,23 156:20,21 174	:15,23

[thing - today] Page 62

	I	I	
179:17	131:25 132:3	threaten	83:19 86:5
<b>things</b> 15:24	132:10 133:21	175:10	90:10 94:14
18:11 34:16	137:5 138:18	three 45:10,14	95:21 96:22
61:18 63:24	150:8 153:3	64:17 75:13	97:22 100:13
78:14 84:16	157:23 161:23	88:24 90:1	100:14,16
88:3,4 93:15	165:24 172:2	94:20 100:17	101:17 104:23
106:10 109:6	172:15 175:9	101:3,7 114:7	105:10,16
110:1 114:24	thinking 21:17	146:4 152:19	106:7 118:8
124:13 125:12	59:8 93:19	153:7 166:12	120:18 135:21
145:4 146:14	<b>third</b> 10:11	168:20 169:9	145:6,7 151:10
146:23 157:2	30:16 33:10	169:18	154:23 155:18
174:22 175:2	38:13 41:11	threshold	160:7 163:14
179:22 181:4	54:2 65:4	30:14 57:25	163:18 164:23
think 19:22,24	121:17,23	threw 20:7	165:22,23
20:2,4 35:13	thirdly 90:7	<b>thrive</b> 179:20	166:10 168:20
37:7 49:24	thorough	thriving 90:6	169:6,9 170:7
50:20 51:7	177:17	167:22	171:14,25
57:12 58:5	thoroughly	<b>throw</b> 109:25	179:1 181:16
59:16,19 60:9	96:22 98:11	thursday	timeframe 68:4
61:18,19,21	thought 51:9	140:22	timeframes
62:23 68:23	61:25 76:8	<b>tide</b> 36:22	64:11
69:8 74:23	78:11 130:10	<b>tides</b> 93:13	timeline 119:4
75:13 76:10	147:15 149:16	time 7:24 8:12	171:5 177:18
78:5 81:18,18	thoughtful 47:5	9:1 10:6,11,12	timelines 63:22
84:23,24,25	56:4 178:17	10:13,20 13:7	timely 82:22
85:2,3 95:24	thoughts 10:1	16:6 39:23	<b>times</b> 14:7
97:14 99:25	13:1 71:20	40:13 44:23	22:11 25:25
101:2 106:21	76:24 139:19	46:10 47:2	101:3
107:12,17	thousand 18:15	48:20,25 55:10	<b>tinesha</b> 149:24
108:2,11	146:19	59:12,16,16	<b>tiny</b> 45:6
109:16,24	thousands	62:19 63:12,16	<b>tiptoe</b> 93:12
114:13 115:12	79:13 89:1	64:6,7,8,12,23	today 6:8 12:23
125:11,17	127:25	66:21 67:19,24	14:3,4 34:16
126:14 127:7	threat 102:4	68:17 70:2,11	35:14,20 44:20
130:8 131:14		71:7,9 80:19	63:10 66:21

[today - try] Page 63

	23 49:2,10   transcrip	-	
	20 50:12,16   184:3,5		16:23
	24 51:3 transcrip	-	
110:15 113:12   tools	18:10 183:7		163:11
118:1 122:16 83:1	transfer	143:18   treatment	
150:6 154:11 <b>top</b> 1	17:14 37:4   <b>transfer</b> i	red 118:11	
157:3 176:25 76:1	50:3	tremendou	<b>1</b> S
together topic	38:17 transferi	<b>ring</b> 80:14,24	95:23
106:17 115:11 144:	:16 143:19	168:5 <b>trending</b>	40:17
123:9 137:11 <b>torres</b>	s 95:12 transform	med triage 81:	:1
139:2 141:21 <b>total</b>	29:8 80:2 39:3 44	4:1 <b>trickle</b> 14	7:7
146:14 149:9 81:1	19 82:6 transgre	ession trickled 1	67:10
149:11 84:1	137:21	trickling	
told 62:12 totally	y 25:9,14 translate	ed 146:25	
69:12 78:17,20 <b>touch</b>	123:4 168:18	<b>tried</b> 29:2	21
123:15 134:16 <b>touch</b>	es 155:12 translati	ing 58:8 92:2	25
150:6 160:18 <b>tour</b>	14:5 166:19	94:1 107	:13
160:21,23 <b>touris</b>	sm 152:4 translati	true 6:12	32:15
161:16 172:6 <b>towar</b>	<b>ds</b> 30:9 166:22	167:13 32:16 94	:7
tomorrow track	41:4,5 167:17	168:1,5 98:11 12	8:17
100:23 175:18 43:2	21 83:7 168:8,2	22 147:3,4 1	83:9
tone 73:14 85:2	25 transpar	rency 184:5	
tonight 6:5,6 tracki	ing 31:1 41:18 5	53:13 <b>truly</b> 16:3	3
9:3 13:6,11 <b>tradit</b>	cionally 65:13 9	91:2,3 89:22 98	:17
15:1,9 83:24 36:1	91:11,1	18,22 146:18 1	78:21
89:12 100:19 <b>trage</b>	<b>dy</b> 172:22 94:3 10	03:20 <b>trump</b> 32	::23
120:10 <b>trail</b>	44:1 109:9 1	118:15 <b>trust</b> 72:9	9,18
took 27:21 traine	ed 164:16 134:23	135:23 73:13 96	:6,8
63:11 64:13 <b>traini</b>	ng 24:22   155:12	125:16 1	38:15
123:8 170:22 <b>trajec</b>	etory 96:2 transpar	rent truth 175	5:11
171:14,17 <b>transa</b>	actions 65:19 8	87:1 <b>truthful</b> 3	33:24
177:22	:17,20 transpor	rtation try 15:17	57:10
tool 61:12 transc	criber 33:4 65	5:11 57:11 85	:25
<b>toole</b> 4:11 5:7 184:	:1 traumati	ized 125:20,2	1
44:14,18 47:19	103:12	132:19	

## [trying - unlawful]

	1		
trying 38:8	<b>type</b> 68:19	understand	126:5,8 128:19
58:21 65:25	99:21 108:2	11:20 23:5	129:21 136:25
73:7 84:14	126:24 127:12	28:9 33:15,24	141:1 145:19
85:4 107:18	typewriting	53:16 75:1	149:3 159:22
108:14 153:5	183:7	93:2 153:1	160:2 162:14
156:14 171:11	u	understanding	165:17 170:9
172:16 173:5	ultimately 16:8	121:8	170:13 172:17
176:18 181:5	52:7 97:13	understands	175:22 176:5
turn 12:14	<b>umbrage</b> 23:13	28:2 43:16	179:5 181:15
59:24	unacceptably	72:2	<b>union</b> 2:12
<b>turned</b> 117:17	118:3	understood	62:23 63:9,13
<b>turning</b> 78:10	uncanny 43:24	121:21	63:19 65:12
turnout 73:2	unconditional	undertaken	66:3 116:16
73:22 74:19,24	104:17	29:21	177:2
75:22 120:20	unconstitutio	underutilizati	unions 65:6
121:3	118:4	87:4	68:7
<b>tv</b> 151:9	uncontrolled	<b>undo</b> 176:19	uniquely 27:10
<b>twice</b> 10:14	163:11	unethical	<b>unit</b> 108:18
13:7 61:14	undemocratic	174:10	109:18
148:23	154:14	unfamiliarity	<b>united</b> 92:23
<b>two</b> 33:6 44:24	under 27:16	72:17	<b>units</b> 16:7
46:6 52:3	35:25 41:6	unfortunately	17:19,20,21
76:19 89:12,13	46:24 48:6,18	111:21 161:10	18:16,16 45:18
91:25 92:1	64:10 73:25	164:19	110:22
103:24 107:3	99:1 103:7,19	unfriendly 36:1	universities
108:21,23	106:5 115:12	unidentified	18:3
109:24 114:15	142:18 154:23	6:18,21 11:23	university
117:20 120:23	underlying	16:23,25 23:1	16:14 17:4
132:14 133:2	32:24	23:17 34:24,25	20:13 154:6
146:11 150:16	undermines	35:4 38:4	158:11 164:12
152:2,19,25	108:10 178:11	50:25 70:16	<b>unjust</b> 93:24
156:2,7 162:21	178:19	71:2,7 74:14	94:25
163:5 172:9,23	underserved	77:12,25 78:23	unlawful
174:4,22	36:18	87:17 98:15	143:13
178:15	50.10	122:11 125:4	

7	1 54 10	1 1 100 7	42.10.44.0.12
unpopular	used 54:18	vendor's 180:5	43:10 44:8,12
112:22	57:22 59:20	<b>vendors</b> 80:18	47:16 51:1,4,7
unprecedented	93:6 142:17	80:21 141:21	51:11,13 55:25
102:14 104:1	152:12,21	160:15,19	56:11,16,24
<b>unsafe</b> 113:9	users 168:4	161:1,2,7,13	60:19 62:21
unshackle	uses 103:9	180:7	63:1,4 66:22
82:16	<b>using</b> 18:10	venerable	69:4 70:7,17
unsound 94:25	127:6 154:14	16:15	70:21,25 71:3
unstable 91:14	154:17,17	venture 71:12	71:8 74:13,15
upcoming	usually 98:20	<b>verge</b> 111:24	75:19 76:2
72:16 82:12	111:20	verified 20:24	77:20,23 78:2
<b>updates</b> 144:12	utilization	versa 31:8	78:20,25 79:4
upfront 112:4	18:25	version 107:8	83:20 85:12,18
<b>uphold</b> 90:14	v	versus 82:6	85:21 87:18
<b>upper</b> 15:23	valid 62:3	<b>vested</b> 104:13	88:10,17 95:20
106:13	validate 53:2	<b>vet</b> 72:19 99:4	96:12,14,18,21
uproar 48:3	value 83:7 90:4	103:4	96:25 97:17,23
<b>upset</b> 97:2	values 72:8	veteran 180:19	100:8,12 101:1
<b>upward</b> 40:18	79:23 89:19	veterinary	101:13,15,19
upzoning 19:25	90:2,4,12,14	102:6 103:10	104:22 105:6
<b>urban</b> 113:23	vanished 181:2	<b>veto</b> 66:16	105:12,22
121:20	vantage 100:5	<b>vetoes</b> 118:20	106:1,4 110:4
<b>urge</b> 93:11	<b>varied</b> 167:18	viability 72:24	110:7,12
119:10 178:19	variety 74:7	vibrant 36:10	113:13 115:16
<b>urged</b> 65:16	various 83:8	vice 6:2,4,19,22	115:18,24
urging 18:1	131:3 143:3	7:23 10:5,13	116:3,5,10,12
19:7 155:9	162:23 163:24	10:19,22 11:3	119:13,18,21
use 16:9 27:4	vary 53:22	11:20,24 12:16	122:4 123:21
36:25 40:20	vary 33.22 vast 27:19	12:20 13:5,21	123:23 124:22
42:25 54:21	48:13 110:24	13:23 16:18,21	125:1,5,7
57:18 90:11	vehicle 170:24	19:17 25:19,22	127:19,21
92:15 109:20	vending 141:22	26:9,18 31:8	128:24 129:12
121:14 144:9	vending 141.22 vendor 160:8,9	33:20 34:6,13	129:16,20,23
151:21 155:9	160:17 161:14	35:2,6 37:11	132:14,21,25
159:10,11	180:17,21	38:5 42:16	133:2,5,12

[vice - want] Page 66

136:1,10,19,22	views 44:24	volunteer	votings 75:8
139:11,14,17	52:20	159:11	voucher 52:13
140:4,19,23	vigilance 90:7	volunteered	W
141:2,5 145:5	village 9:16	47:2	
145:10,12,14	11:7,7 28:7	<b>vote</b> 33:18	wait 25:15
145:17,21,24	35:11 54:11	34:12 35:19	77:25,25 80:21
146:3,6 149:20	villages 36:20	73:13 78:11	waited 64:17
150:3 151:5,12	vincent 154:6	115:8 123:2	waiting 166:12
151:18 153:9	violated 138:3	130:22,24	170:23
153:12,16,19	violating	154:12,21	walked 102:22
153:25 154:3	138:22	156:1,2 172:4	150:19
156:21 157:15	violence 172:24	<b>voted</b> 58:23	walking 163:21
157:19 158:24	173:1	90:19 91:7	want 8:15,20
159:17,23	virtually 7:16	117:13	11:12,15 20:10
160:4 161:9,20	27:23	<b>voter</b> 32:24	22:21,22 23:19 23:24 25:11
162:10,15,18	visibility	73:1,2,17	
164:23,25	164:12	74:24 75:22	26:20,25 27:1 27:5 37:15,17
165:3,6,13,15	<b>visibly</b> 147:12	121:18 125:16	37:23 38:6
165:19 166:2,6	<b>vision</b> 39:24	<b>voter's</b> 121:22	39:15 45:1
168:19,24	104:14	<b>voters</b> 14:17	49:13 51:11
169:2,5,8,18	visionary 89:21	26:22 32:25	53:21 54:20
170:10,14	visions 95:23	33:3,14 72:15	56:11 58:17
172:18 175:21	<b>vital</b> 49:19 96:5	72:18 73:5,7	60:21 69:18
175:23,25	104:18	73:11,21 74:6	70:8 74:22
176:8,14,16,22	<b>voice</b> 11:16	89:4,18 90:11	76:6 85:22
178:25 179:3,6	16:21,25 43:13	90:12 96:6	86:3 90:13
179:12 181:14	144:24 178:22	120:1,5,19,25	93:17 94:3,16
181:17,21,24	voiceless 11:16	121:22	96:1,3 97:1
<b>video</b> 168:9	<b>voices</b> 8:23,23	<b>votes</b> 138:25	98:1 100:16
176:19	11:15 68:9,24	<b>voting</b> 73:20	106:14 109:6
videoconfere	69:2,16 72:22	74:5,19,19	116:25 122:16
2:14,25 3:8,12	98:4 101:23	75:2,5,12,21	122:22 123:2,3
3:15 4:4,7,14	136:11 154:19	78:7,14 90:14	123:7 135:17
<b>view</b> 102:7	<b>volumes</b> 177:18	120:3,12	136:16 148:1
		130:24 145:2	150:20 152:18
			120.20122.10

[want - woman] Page 67

152:20 154:12	142:2,19	177:10 181:12	<b>whoop</b> 181:2
154:13 156:24	149:17 154:18	weekly 32:7	<b>wide</b> 167:18
158:16,16,18	164:1,15	115:4	widely 167:1
159:5 165:1	171:13,16	weeks 38:14	widespread
172:20,24	174:9 180:21	152:19 155:23	121:7 125:17
173:7,15 174:2	181:8	156:2	129:9
174:3,6	<b>ways</b> 10:20	weight 96:6	<b>wife</b> 114:3
<b>wanted</b> 18:19	13:10 14:13	weightier 27:22	williams 4:13
51:16 56:15	18:12,13 19:4	welcome 13:1	170:14,15,15
69:10 74:16,17	131:4 142:6	26:16 44:17	170:17,20,21
75:25 76:24	163:24 180:20	58:19 62:20	170:21 173:21
84:10 99:9	we've 7:5,5,17	welfare 101:25	173:21,23
130:4,10,17	7:18 8:7 9:10	102:2,13	willing 60:1
149:13 151:22	9:11 10:14	104:10,12	willingness
153:11	12:9 24:2	142:23 143:24	82:24
wanting 88:8	25:25 51:15	went 38:13	<b>win</b> 39:11,11
wants 40:20	57:14 78:1	59:21 60:8	39:13,13
<b>war</b> 177:5	84:17 87:24	69:8 80:10,10	<b>winds</b> 164:8
warning 92:5	88:3 101:7	81:19 107:23	<b>winner</b> 121:14
95:4	125:13 174:18	117:19 148:9	<b>winners</b> 76:19
warnings 89:13	weak 118:8	148:23 155:15	121:17
92:1	weaken 119:8	west 15:22,23	wise 55:5
waste 107:13	weakening	16:13 17:25	<b>wisely</b> 59:20
<b>watch</b> 36:3	118:8	106:13	wish 26:21
watts 87:23	wealth 26:12	westchester	58:12 124:11
way 6:9,15,16	39:12 72:25	23:9	<b>wishes</b> 122:15
8:22 16:4	<b>web</b> 28:11	wet 105:4	122:25 124:6,7
20:23 43:5	webpage 168:3	whichever 62:6	withdrawal
49:3 53:24	website 15:3	94:15	55:4
66:7 68:13	168:7	white 23:8 80:8	witness 183:4
80:5 118:22	websites 143:9	144:6	witnesses 148:8
119:2 123:8	<b>weed</b> 180:4	<b>who've</b> 165:22	wives 98:12
127:9,12	week 12:5	whoever's	<b>woman</b> 15:9
134:15 137:13	38:14 40:16	23:19	106:5 144:6
138:22 139:8	136:15 156:7		

[women - years] Page 68

<b>women</b> 36:2	166:9	76:8,14,16	y
37:4 40:6	worked 41:7	77:3,14,24	y'all 149:18
79:19 80:3	127:3 136:15	78:16,22 79:7	151:3
81:20 120:1,5	<b>workers</b> 102:19	writing 15:5	<b>yeah</b> 16:23,23
135:16 144:3,5	138:8	86:1 105:14	17:2 19:17
<b>women's</b> 134:4	workforce	144:16 145:3	66:24 75:3
<b>won</b> 35:16 74:4	22:16 30:20,22	153:13 159:20	77:22 84:13
75:11,14 175:8	working 37:22	179:4	104:24 105:8
<b>wonder</b> 78:20	65:5 77:9	written 29:3	116:11 123:10
wonderful	92:23 115:2,6	44:22 47:10	123:17 129:3
10:25 34:11	125:19	66:25 96:15	146:2 157:13
46:3 77:18	workings 66:13	97:19 100:9,9	161:14 176:5
101:19 160:1	<b>works</b> 10:3	101:6 110:9	176:16 181:16
181:12	57:19 58:7	115:20,23	year 12:11 22:5
wondering	115:10 119:2	119:17,20	22:7,9 33:10
21:17 135:10	123:1	122:23,23	40:2,3,4,7 53:3
151:25	<b>world</b> 7:12	124:23 132:22	53:19 58:25
<b>word</b> 8:20	27:13 88:9	139:12 145:6	61:14 67:23
134:17	148:9	153:13 165:4	79:24 80:22
words 141:13	worse 36:5	165:16 168:6	81:17 84:18,18
143:24 144:6	61:25 94:18	168:10,16	89:6 111:18
167:9	worsen 164:20	<b>wrong</b> 67:2	154:12,13
work 9:18,24	worship 98:24	92:9 138:6	159:10 177:22
10:16 30:25	worth 79:21	www.nyc.gov	year's 52:5
38:3 43:18	<b>worthy</b> 90:10	15:4	years 7:3 26:13
44:13 48:5	<b>wow</b> 10:18	X	33:6 41:6 46:2
50:21 52:21	<b>wrap</b> 95:21,22	<b>x</b> 1:12 122:8,13	46:13 54:6,14
55:22 56:20	105:13 132:16	123:17 124:1,3	58:6,22 68:1
67:11,12 71:18	164:25	124:7,18,21,24	71:18,25 79:17
71:18 87:25	<b>wright</b> 4:15,16	179:14 180:3	87:7,24 89:7
88:9 93:2,7	5:5,10 35:1,3,6	<b>xavier</b> 3:5	92:24 103:22
100:21 107:12	35:8,15 37:25	122:7,9,14	111:16 113:1
114:22 123:5	38:10 71:1,4,5	122.1,7,17	114:7,15
148:5,5,11	71:10,12 74:22		117:20,22
161:15 165:9	75:3,6,23 76:3		120:5 122:1
			120.5 122.1

[years - zoom] Page 69

127:25 130:19	157:12 158:9	
136:2 142:2	166:16,20	
154:9 158:10	167:1,8,11	
164:20 180:1	168:2,7,15	
yesterday	174:20 177:2,3	
150:5	179:19 183:21	
<b>york</b> 1:13 3:3	york's 110:18	
3:16 6:3,12	yorker 170:1	
22:11,12,12,16	yorkers 7:4	
23:7,9 24:5	9:18,19,23,25	
27:12 28:17,17	9:25 10:4	
28:18,20 29:8	14:10 54:18	
29:10,14,24	55:10 56:22	
30:6 31:10	59:19,22 60:1	
33:3,9,25	62:4 72:12	
38:20 39:3	81:11,13,15	
40:3,20,24	89:23 90:19,24	
41:16,19 42:8	94:3,5 95:2,16	
42:13 43:6	95:24,25 96:1	
44:21 45:12	105:20 113:4	
58:25 63:14	118:22 155:7	
71:21 73:20	155:10 156:8	
76:23 77:2	156:16 167:21	
79:1,9,20	172:6,14,15	
83:17 87:25	<b>young</b> 126:1	
88:21 89:16,20	134:14 150:17	
90:6,11 93:7	159:25	
95:8 98:6	younger 88:8	
102:1 110:23	134:13 154:7	
111:16 112:11	<b>youth</b> 151:7	
116:15 119:3	Z	
120:1,5,12	<b>zero</b> 126:10	
121:9 122:3	<b>zip</b> 20:24	
127:2 128:8	<b>zoom</b> 6:23	
133:21 152:11	12:24 34:6	
	12.27 37.0	